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financial highlights growth on 2006*

10.9% 135.2% 20.3%

Group sales Underlying Group Group profit before tax
(including VAT) profit before tax'

11.6% 18.5% 11.7%
Underlying diluted Diluted earnings Dividend per share
earnings per share' per share

2007 2006 2006

On a continuing operations basis 52 weeks 60 weeks 52 weeks
Group sales (£m) (including value added tax) 46,611 43137 42,016
Group revenue (£m) (excluding value added tax) 42,641 39,454 38,443
Underlying Group profit before taxt (£m) 2,545 2,277 2,248
Group profit before tax (£m) 2,653 2,235 2,206
Underlying diluted earnings per sharet (p) 22.36 20.30 20.04
Diluted earnings per share (p) 23.31 19.92 19.67
Dividend per share (p) 9.64 8.63 -
Group enterprise value (£m)

(market capitalisation plus net debt) 40,469 30,841 -
Return on capital employed 12.6%* 12.7% 12.5%

T Adjusted for IAS 32, IAS 39, the net difference between the IAS 19 income statement charge and ‘normal’ cash
contributions for pensions, the Pensions Adjustment — Finance Act 2006 and impairment of the Gerrards Cross site.

* Restated for the year ended 25 February 2006 including 52 weeks for the UK and ROl and a comparable
12 months (March — February) for the majority of the remaining International businesses.

**|ncluding the one-off gain from Pensions A-Day, ROCE was 13.6%.



Operating and financial review

Group summary

2007 2006°  Change

£m £m %
Group sales
(including value added tax) 46,611 43,137 8.1
Underlying profit
before taxt 2,545 2,277 11.8
Group profit before
taxation 2,653 2,235 18.7
Underlying diluted
earnings per share (p) 22.36 20.30 101
Diluted earnings
per share (p) 23.31 19.92 17.0
Dividend per share (p) 9.64 8.63 11.7
UK performance

2007 2006¢  Change

£m £m %
Sales
(including value added tax) 35,580 32,657 9.0
Operating profit 2,083 1,788 16.5
Trading profit* 1,914 1,752 9.2
Trading margint 5.9% 5.8%

Rest of Europe performance

2007 20062  Change

£m £m %
Sales
(including value added tax) 6,324 5,820 8.7
Operating profit 324 263 23.2
Trading profit* 318 271 17.3
Trading margint 5.7% 5.3%

Asia performance

2007 20062  Change

£m £m %
Sales
(including value added tax) 4,707 4,660 1.0
Operating profit 241 229 5.2
Trading profit* 246 238 3.4
Trading margint 5.6% 5.4%

t Adjusted for IAS 32, IAS 39, the net difference between
the IAS 19 income statement charge and ‘normal’ cash
contributions for pensions, the Pensions Adjustment Finance
Act 2006 and impairment of the Gerrards Cross site.

* Trading Profit is an adjusted measure of operating profit
excluding property-related items and replaces the IAS 19 income
statement charge with ‘normal’ cash contributions for pensions.

 Trading Margin is calculated using sales excluding value
added tax.

o Results for the year ended 25 February 2006 include 52 weeks
for the UK and the Republic of Ireland and 14 months for the
majority of the remaining International businesses.

This Operating and Financial Review (OFR)
analyses the performance of the Tesco Group

43,137

23,101 28,280
26,876 33,557
29,511
32,657
EE 46611

41,819

in the financial year ended 24 February 2007.
It also explains other aspects of the Group’s
results and operations, including strategy
and risk management.

Long-term strategy

Tesco has a well-established and consistent
strategy for growth, which has allowed us to
strengthen our core UK business and drive
expansion into new markets. Our four part

03 04 05 06* 07
strategy to diversify the business was laid down SALES PERFORMANCE
in 1997 and has been the foundation of Tesco’s o
success in recent years. The new businesses : erour

UK

which have been created and developed over
the last decade as part of this strategy now have
scale, they are competitive and profitable —

in fact, they make more profit than the entire
Group did in 1997.

*Including 60 weeks
International

The objectives of the strategy are:
e to grow the core UK business;
e to become a successful international retailer;
* to be as strong in non-food as in food; and

¢ to develop retailing services — such as Tesco

e
N <
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~
Personal Finance, Telecoms and tesco.com.
In 2006/07, Tesco has again delivered a strong
performance, with all four parts of the strategy
~ wn
contributing. We have sustained good growth < &
03

in the UK and coped well with the challenges 04 05 06 07
of recovering competitors, rising costs and a UK SALES GROWTH %
cautious consumer background. In our international
operations we have also made good progress,
completing our largest ever programme of new
store openings and weathered difficult conditions
in some of our largest markets. In non-food,
more customers are choosing to shop with us
even in a period of more cautious consumer
spending and we have launched Tesco Direct,
which extends our reach in selling a broad range
of products on the internet and via catalogue.
Finally, our retailing services have delivered
another good year, with tesco.com sustaining

its rapid growth, Tesco Personal Finance making
progress in challenging markets and Telecoms
continuing to build its customer base strongly.

W ToTAL
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Operating and financial review continued

Group performance

These results represent very good progress across
the Group and have been achieved by investing
to improve the shopping experience for
customers in our businesses around the world.
We have been able to deliver another solid sales
performance, and through good cost control and
productivity improvements we have grown profits
faster than revenue — and thereby improved
returns for shareholders. These improvements
have been achieved whilst continuing to invest in
the long term —in the people, assets, processes
and systems, which will enable Tesco to sustain
its success in the future.

Group These results are for the 52 weeks ended
24 February 2007, compared with the equivalent
52-week period for the UK and the Republic of
Ireland combined with the 60-week period to
the end of February 2006 for the majority of

the international businesses. Where appropriate,
and for ease of comparison, total Group and
segmental results are also reported against a

comparable 52-week period to 25 February 2006.

Group sales, including VAT, increased by 8.1%
to £46.6bn (last year £43.1bn) and by 10.9%
on a comparable 52-week basis. At constant
exchange rates, sales increased by 7.9% and
10.8% respectively.

Last April, with our Preliminary Results for
2005/06, and following our transition to IFRS,
we introduced an underlying profit measure,
which excludes the impact of the volatile non-
cash elements of IAS 19, IAS 32 and IAS 39
(principally pension costs and the marking to
market of financial instruments). Underlying
profit rose to £2,545m in the year, an increase
of 13.2% on a comparable 52-week basis. This
includes, as usual, property profits but excludes
both the gain in the year from the Finance Act
2006 pensions adjustment (Pensions A-Day)
and the impairment charge on our Gerrards
Cross site.

With our Interim Results for 2006/07, we also
began reporting segmental trading profit, which
excludes property profits and, as our underlying
profit measure does, also excludes the non-cash
element of the IAS 19 pension charge. In the
current year this measure also excludes the
Pensions A-Day gain and the impairment
charge on Gerrards Cross. Group trading profits
were £2,478m, up 11.1% on last year on a
comparable basis.

Group operating profit rose by 17.7% to
£2,648m. Total net Group property profits were
£139m, comprising £98m in the UK, a £6m loss
in Asia and a £47m profit within Joint Ventures
and Associates.

Comparable Basis  Statutory Basis

52 weeks vs 52 weeks vs

52 weeks 60 weeks

Actual rates Actual rates Constant Actual rates

Group sales (inc. VAT) £46,611m 10.9% 10.8% 8.1%
Group profit before tax £2,653m 20.3% 19.9% 18.7%
Group operating profit £2,648m 17.7% 17.4% 16.1%
Group underlying profit £2,545m 13.2% 12.9% 11.8%
Group trading profit £2,478m 11.1% 10.8% 9.6%
Trading margin 5.8% - - -




International On a comparable 52 week basis, total international sales grew by 17.9% at actual
exchange rates to £11.0bn and by 17.4% at constant exchange rates. Like-for-like sales in International
grew by 2.0% in the year, with net new space contributing the remaining 15.4%.

International contributed £564m to trading profit, up 18.0% on last year on a comparable basis, with
stable trading margins at 5.7%. At constant exchange rates, international trading profit grew by 16.5%.
Before integration costs and initial operating losses, trading profit rose by 20.9% and margins
increased slightly.

Comparable Basis ~ Statutory Basis

52 weeks vs 52 weeks vs

52 weeks 60 weeks

Actual rates Actual rates Constant Actual rates

International sales (inc. VAT) £11,031m 17.9% 17.4% 5.3%
International trading profit £564m 18.0% 16.5% 10.8%

Trading margin 5.7% - - -

In Asia, sales grew by 16.8% at actual exchange rates on a comparable 52 week basis to £4.7bn
(last year £4.0bn). At constant rates, sales grew by 13.5%. After charging £0.3m of integration costs
and initial operating losses on the Makro stores acquired in Malaysia, Asia trading profit increased by
18.8% to £246m at actual rates (last year £207m) on a comparable basis and by 14.5% at constant
rates. Before integration costs and initial operating losses, trading profit increased by 14.7%. Trading
margins rose in Asia to 5.6%, driven by strong performances in Korea, Thailand and Malaysia.

Comparable Basis ~ Statutory Basis

52 weeks vs 52 weeks vs

52 weeks 60 weeks

Actual rates Actual rates Constant Actual rates

Asia sales (inc. VAT) £4,707m 16.8% 13.5% 1.0%
Asia trading profit £246m 18.8% 14.5% 3.4%

Trading margin 5.6% - - -

In the Rest of Europe, sales rose by 18.7% to £6.3bn (last year £5.3bn) on a comparable basis.

At constant rates, sales grew by 20.3%. Trading profit increased by 17.3% at actual rates to £318m

(last year £271m) and by 18.0% at constant rates. Trading margins reduced slightly, after charging
£14.0m of integration costs and initial operating losses on the stores acquired from Carrefour and

Edeka in the Czech Republic and Casino in Poland, and with improvements in most of Central Europe,
Ireland and Turkey being offset by the continuing effects of a weak economy in Hungary. Before charging
integration costs, trading profit grew by 22.5% and margins rose.

Comparable Basis  Statutory Basis

52 weeks vs 52 weeks vs

52 weeks 60 weeks

Actual rates Actual rates Constant Actual rates

Rest of Europe sales (inc. VAT) £6,324m 18.7% 20.3% 8.7%
Rest of Europe trading profit £318m 17.3% 18.0% 17.3%

Trading margin 5.7% - - -

UK UK sales increased by 9.0% to £35.6bn (last year £32.7bn), with like-for-like growth of 5.6%
(including volume of 5.0%) and 3.4% from net new stores. Excluding petrol, like-for-like sales grew by
5.6%. In our stores, we saw modest inflation of 0.2%, as our continued investment in lowering prices
for customers was more than offset by the strength of seasonal fresh food prices.

Fourth quarter like-for-like sales growth, excluding petrol, was 5.8%. This compared with growth of 5.6%
in the third quarter. Including petrol, like-for-like sales grew by 4.9%. Total sales grew by 8.2% in the
quarter, including 3.3% from net new stores. In the final seven weeks of the financial year, like-for-like

growth excluding petrol, was 5.8%, with 4.0% coming from net new stores (which includes Tesco Direct).

273
411

03 04 05 06 07

NUMBER OF INTERNATIONAL
HYPERMARKETS
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Operating and financial review continued

Increased productivity and good expense controls have
enabled us to absorb significant external cost increases in

the year, arising mainly from higher oil-related costs and
increases in local business taxes. Start-up costs totalling £42m
for Tesco Direct and establishing our operations in the United
States were charged to the UK. Although the combined
start-up losses were a little below our previous guidance of
£50m, we expect these to increase during the current year,
particularly in the US, as we recruit store and depot staff
ahead of our planned launch later this year (see page 12).

Despite absorbing these additional costs, UK trading profit
rose 9.2%, with trading margins at 5.9%, similar to last year.

2006/7 Growth
UK sales (inc. VAT) £35,580m 9.0%
UK trading profit £1,914m 9.2%
Trading margin 5.9% -

Joint Ventures and Associates Our share of profit (net of tax
and interest) for the year was £106m compared to £82m last
year. Tesco Personal Finance (TPF) profit was £130m, of which
our share was £65m, down on last year after absorbing higher
provisions for bad and doubtful debts. Profits from property
joint ventures rose significantly, due to the sale of two stores
(in which we remain tenants) to third parties, realising £47m
of property profits from two of our joint venture companies
during the year.

In September, we sold our 38.5% equity stake in GroceryWorks,
an internet grocery retailing business in the United States (US),
to Safeway Inc., which resulted in a profit of £22m.

Exceptional items Pensions adjustment (Pensions A-Day):
In April 2006, a Finance Act revision was agreed. This change,
known as Pensions A-Day, enabled members of our UK defined
benefit scheme to gain additional pension flexibility, altering
our pension scheme assumptions and resulting in a reduction
of the future liability by £250 million pre-tax. Changes in
pension assumptions for the Republic of Ireland pension
scheme produced a smaller gain of £8m, bringing the total
exceptional gain to £258m, recognised in the Income
Statement. Gerrards Cross: we are facing continuing
uncertainty in respect of our Gerrards Cross site as a result

of the complex legal situation following the tunnel collapse.
No decision has yet been taken about the future for this site.
However, at year end we have written off the carrying value of
our existing asset there (an impairment charge of £35m). We
are notyet in a position to assess any recoveries or liabilities
in respect of ongoing claims.

Finance costs and tax Net finance costs were £126m

(last year £127m), giving interest cover of 21 times (last year
18 times). Total Group tax has been charged at an effective
rate of 29.1% (last year 29.0%,.

Underlying diluted earnings per share increased by 11.6%
on a comparable basis, to 22.36p (last year — 20.04p).

Dividend The Board has proposed a final dividend of 6.83p
per share (last year 6.10p). This represents an increase of
12.0%. As announced with our Preliminary Results last year,

we have now built dividend cover to comfortable levels and this
increase in dividend is again in line with growth in underlying
diluted earnings per share, which includes net property profits.
We intend to continue to grow future dividends broadly in line
with underlying diluted earnings per share growth.

The final dividend will be paid on 6 July 2007 to shareholders
on the Register of Members as at the close of business on

27 April 2007 (the dividend record date). Shareholders now
have the opportunity to elect to reinvest their cash dividend
and purchase existing Tesco shares in the Company through a
Dividend Reinvestment Plan. This scheme replaced the scrip
dividend at the last Interim Results and was introduced to
reduce dilution of issued shares and improve earnings per share.

Cash flow and Balance Sheet Group capital expenditure
(excluding acquisitions) rose as planned, to £3.0bn during

the year (last year £2.8bn). UK capital expenditure was £1.9bn
(last year £1.8bn), including £687m on new stores and £295m
on extensions and refits. Total international capital expenditure
rose slightly to £1.1bn (last year £1.0bn); comprising £0.4bn

in Asia and £0.7bn in Europe.

The UK total includes £89m of capital invested in establishing
our operations in the United States. We expect US investment
to move to around the £250m level this year, in line with the
guidance we issued when we announced our entry to the
market last year. We expect Group capital expenditure this
year to be around £3.5bn.

Cash flow from operating activities, including an improvement
of £11m within working capital, totalled £3.5bn. Overall, the
Group had a net cash outflow of £265m during the year,
leaving net borrowings of £5.0bn at the year-end, £0.5bn
higher than last year. Gearing was 48%.

Return on capital employed In April last year, we renewed
our commitment to increasing our post-tax return on capital
employed (ROCE), having exceeded our 2004 aspiration two
years early. We set a new target to improve ROCE by a further
200 basis points. The strong performance of the business
delivered slightly higher ROCE in 2006/07 — at 12.6% (last
year 12.5%), (Including the one-off benefit from Pensions
A-Day, ROCE was 13.6%). This represents good progress
and was achieved despite carrying the extra start-up costs
and investment in the US and Tesco Direct as well as the
integration costs and capital employed in our International
acquisitions and increased stake in Hymall. This means that
ROCE is on track to meet our new target.



Total Shareholder Return Total shareholder return (TSR),
which is measured as the percentage increase in the share
price, plus the dividend paid, has increased by 36% in
2006/07, its largest value increase for ten years — and the
fastest percentage growth rate for three years.

Over the last three years, TSR has grown 87% compared
with the FTSE100 average of 58%. Over five years, the
increase has been 102% compared to the increase in the
average for FTSE100 companies of just 50%.

Releasing value from property

As announced last April, we plan to release cash from property
through a sequence of joint ventures and other transactions,
both in the UK and internationally and return significant value
to shareholders, either through enhanced dividends (through
the growth in underlying earnings per share, which includes
property profits) or share buy-backs. The first of these deals,
with the British Airways Pension Fund, which formed part of
our plan to release some £5bn of funds from property over five
years, was completed during the second half. A second, larger
joint venture transaction was completed with The British Land
Company PLC after the year end.

Combined, these two transactions involved the divestment

to these joint ventures of some 5% of our UK store space.
They realised £1,015m in net proceeds and were completed at
very attractive initial yields below 4.5%, whilst also delivering
significant property profits from which dividends are paid to
shareholders. The average premium to bookvalue on these
transactions has been nearly 100%. Some of the proceeds
have already been used to fund our share buy-back
programme. Importantly, these joint ventures also provide

us with the right platform to run our business for customers.

The net bookvalue of our fixed assets is £17bn — most of it
in freehold stores — even after these divestments. We estimate
current market value to be around 65% higher than this.

Given the store of value embedded in our property and the
strength of our covenant we have decided to divest more
freehold property assets than the £5bn we announced last
April. This is consistent with our commitment to retain the
strong asset-backing to our balance sheet and the freehold
element of our property base will be maintained above 70%.

At least £1.5bn of our originally planned £5bn of proceeds
were to be used to buy Tesco shares in the market, initially to
offset future dilution to earnings per share and almost £470m
has already been spent in this way. In light of our enlarged
programme of property divestment, we now plan to return

a total of at least £3bn of the proceeds to shareholders.

Pensions The provision of Tesco’s award-winning UK defined
benefit pension scheme for our staff remains an important
priority. It goes to the heart of ourvalues and helps us attract
and retain the best people. We manage and fund our scheme
on an actuarial valuation basis and, as at December 2006, the
scheme was estimated to be fully funded, largely as a result
of improved asset performance.

IFRS requires that we value pension scheme liabilities using a
high quality corporate bond yield and calculate the operating

charge in the Income Statement as if invested purely in bonds.

At February 2007, the IAS 19 pension deficit was just under
£670m on a post-tax basis, a significant reduction on last
year, reflecting Pensions A-Day. The A-Day change enabled
members of our UK defined benefit scheme to gain additional
pension flexibility, altering our pension scheme assumptions
and resulting in a reduction of the future liability by £250m
pre-tax (see pensions adjustment on page 6).
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Operating and financial review continued

Key Performance Indicators (KPlIs)

We operate a balanced scorecard approach to managing the business that is known internally within the Group as our Steering
Wheel. This unites the Group’s resources around our customers, people, operations, finance and the community. This enables the
business to be operated and monitored on a balanced basis with due regard for all stakeholders. Some of the KPIs below are
tracked through our Steering Wheel and others are tracked as a monitor of investor return.

2007* 2006*
Sales growth
Change in Group sales over the year (including value added tax) 10.9% 13.2%
UK sales growth 9.0% 10.7%
International sales growth 17.9% 23.0%
International sales growth (at constant exchange rates) 17.4% 15.5%
Profit before tax £2,653m £2,206m
Underlying profit before tax £2,545m £2,248m
Trading margin
UK trading margin 5.9% 5.8%
International trading margin 5.7% 5.7%
Trading margin is calculated from the operating profit expressed as a percentage of Group revenue (sales excluding
value added tax). It is a measure of profit generation from sales and is a comparable performance measure with
other companies. This is how much we made from trade in our stores, taking account of the cost of the products
sold, wages and salaries, expenses associated with running the stores, depots and head office, and the cost of
depreciation of the assets used to generate the profits.
Net cash (outflow)/inflow £(265)m £165m
Net cash inflow is the cash received less cash spent during the financial period, after financing activities.
Capital expenditure £3.0bn £2.8bn
This is the cash invested in purchasing fixed assets.
UK £1.9bn £1.8bn
International £1.1bn £1.0bn
Net borrowings and gearing
Net borrowings £5.0bn £4.5bn
Gearing 48% 48%
Return on Capital Employed (ROCE) 12.6%% 12.5%
ROCE is calculated as profit before interest less tax divided by the average of net assets plus net debt plus
dividend creditor less net assets held for sale. ROCE is a relative profit measurement that not only incorporates
the funds shareholders have invested, but also funds invested by banks and other lenders, and therefore shows the
productivity of the assets of the Group.
Underlying diluted earnings per share 22.36p 20.04p

Underlying diluted earnings per share is the calculation of profit after tax and minority interest divided by the
diluted weighted average number of shares in issue during the year. It is the amount which could be paid out on each
share if the Company decided to distribute all its profits as dividends instead of retaining some for future expansion.

*On a 52-week comparable basis.
 Including the one-off gain from Pensions A-Day, ROCE was 13.6%.
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2007 2006
Total shareholder return 36.0% 45.8%
Total shareholder return is the notional return from a share and is measured as the percentage change in the share
price, plus the dividend paid. This is measured over the last five years.
Full year dividend per share 9.64p 8.63p

The growth of the dividend per share from one period to the next is important to shareholders since this represents
their actual cash return, and is usually paid twice a year.

We monitor a wide range of KPIs, both financial and non-financial. Across the Group, KPIs are set locally, with oversight from the
Executive Directors, to ensure they are tailored to drive the priorities of each business. Each business operates a Steering Wheel, our
balanced scorecard. During the last year we have made good progress with rolling-out our Corporate Responsibility management
system to our International operations. We report quarterly on social, ethical and environmental matters alongside their Customer,
Operations, Finance and People KPIs. More detail on each country follows in the ‘Operations, resources and relationships’ section.

The following are some KPIs for the UK and Group operations.

2007 2006
UK market share
Grocery market share* 21.0% 20.2%
Non-food market share 8.0% 7.0%
*This is measured as the share of all spend by all shoppers through Taylor Nelson Sofres Superpanel (Total Till Roll) data.
Supplier viewpoint measure 94% 94%
We aim to monitor supplier relations through the Supplier Viewpoint Survey. The target is for over 90% of suppliers
to view Tesco as being trustworthy, reliable, consistent, clear, helpful and fair.
Employee retention 84% 83%
This measure shows the percentage of employees who have stayed with the business for longer than one year.
It is one measure that we use to monitor employee loyalty and satisfaction and we aim to exceed 80% retention
of experienced staff.
Energy consumption 12.5% 5.5%

For 2006/07 our target was to reduce energy consumption by 12% (2005/06 — 5%).
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Operating and financial review continued

Operations, resources and relationships

We have continued to make good progress with all four parts
of our strategy:

¢ grow the core UK business

* become a successful international retailer
¢ be as strong in non-food as in food, and
¢ develop retailing services

We have done this by keeping our focus on trying to improve
what we do for customers. We try to make their shopping
experience as easy as possible, lower prices where we can to
help them spend less, give them more choice about how they
shop — in small stores, large stores or on-line, and seek to bring
simplicity and value to sometimes complicated markets.

International Despite challenging economic conditions and
political uncertainty in some of our markets, our international
businesses delivered another good performance. Sales growth
has been strong — with like-for-like growth in all but one of our
markets (Hungary being the exception) and profits have again
moved ahead well. Margins continue to improve, despite
absorbing significant integration costs from the in-market
acquisitions we have completed in the year — in the Czech
Republic, Poland and Malaysia.

We are building-out our store networks more rapidly in existing
markets — through a combination of strong organic growth and
acquisitions. 484 stores, with 8.2m sq ft of selling area, were
opened during the year, including 76 hypermarkets. This is
four times the amount of new space opened in the UK. In Rest
of Europe we opened over 4.7m sq ft of space and in Asia
3.5m sq ft.

These numbers included the acquisition of:

¢ 11 Carrefour stores in the Czech Republic in May 2006 as
part of the asset swap deal announced in September 2005,
plus 27 small stores from Edeka in April, which together
added 1.2m sq ft — or 45% to our space there.

* 146 Leader Price stores in Poland in December, which
added a total of 1.4m sq ft — the equivalent of 29% of
the existing sales area.

¢ Eight large Makro stores in Malaysia in January, which
added 0.9m sq ft of sales area, nearly doubling our
space in the market.
We are keen to participate further in the process of

consolidation which is now taking place in many International
markets but we are selective purchasers of assets or businesses.

At the end of February, our international operations were
trading from 1,275 stores, including 411 hypermarkets, with a
total of 40.4m sq ft of selling space. Nearly 60% of Group sales
area is now in International. Excluding the United States, we
expect to open 442 new stores in our International markets
during the current year, adding 7.6m sq ft of selling area.

Returns — CROI* All our established markets are now

profitable and with growing local scale, increasing store

maturity and the benefits of investment in central distribution

now flowing, returns from our International operations are

continuing to rise. On a constant currency basis, cash return

on investment (CROI*) for International has increased again

—to 11.5% with our lead markets overall maintaining

significantly higher levels.

Asia

* |n China we trade from 47 hypermarkets, mainly in

Shanghai, and the first stores in China’s other large
regional markets — Guangzhou, Shenzhen and Beijing
(our first Tesco-fascia store) have opened well. Our new
range of over 1,000 Tesco own brand lines have been
well-received by customers. Hymall’s sales have continued
to grow strongly — up overall by 19% in the year, with
strengthening like-for-like sales as the year progressed.
As a result of carrying higher overheads as we invest to
equip the business to grow faster, it made a small loss
after tax and interest, of which our share was £6m.

* |n a still subdued retail market in Japan we made progress,
with modest overall sales growth and a stronger like-for-like
performance. Our focus in the year has been on refining
and developing the trial Express-type stores into a
profitable, expandable format and implementing our
‘Tesco in a Box’ suite of operating systems successfully.
We now plan to push on with a much larger opening
programme of up to 35 new stores this year.

* |n Korea, Homeplus continued to do well, with solid sales
and very strong profit growth in more challenging market
conditions than in recent years. During the year we opened
29 new stores and, including extensions, almost 1m sq ft
of space. Most of our new selling area came from large
hypermarkets, but our development programme is now
broadly-based with nearly 20% coming from store
extensions, 21% from compact hypermarkets and the
remainder from the roll-out of our successful Express
convenience format, which now has almost 40 stores
trading. We have a strong forward pipeline of new space,
including plans to double the size of the Express business.

* Cash return on investment (CROI) is measured as earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation and amortisation, expressed as a percentage of net invested capital.
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¢ Tesco Malaysia has made excellent progress, moving
strongly through to profitability in the year, delivering
anotheryear of very strong (over 50%) sales growth, and
achieving a near-doubling of space helped by the Makro
acquisition, which completed in January. Substantial refits
to the Makro stores have now begun, taking eight to nine
weeks per store to complete and involving significant
changes to layouts and ranges. We are developing a
good market position in Malaysia with a strong new store
programme in place for this year which will add a further
22% of space to our network.

e Political uncertainty in Thailand during the second half of
the year produced a difficult business climate. Nevertheless,
Tesco Lotus, which has a strong market position, again
performed well, delivering good growth in sales and profit.
The successful development and roll-out of new small
formats continues and to date, we have 370 stores trading
across four formats, including 75 hypermarkets (of which
17 are Value stores). We also have 266 Express stores
and 29 supermarkets which are proving very popular
with customers.

Europe Our rate of expansion in European markets stepped up
significantly in the year with 4.7m sq ft of new space added —
representing almost 30% growth. Successful regional initiatives
to strengthen our business — from pan-European purchasing
of own brand products and fresh produce to the introduction
of the Cherokee clothing range — have contributed to further
improvements in our competitiveness. Customer numbers

are up significantly and this is driving substantial market

share gains.

¢ In the Czech Republic, our business has grown by almost
two-thirds in the year and is now one of the leaders in the
market. We again delivered strong profit growth despite
competitive market conditions and the challenges of
integrating the Carrefour and Edeka acquisitions.
Conversion of the 11 Carrefour stores is almost complete,
we have a strong organic store opening programme which
will add some 13% to our space in the current year and we
have begun remodelling our department stores — with the
first, at Brno, performing well.

e We continued to make progress in Hungary but although
overall sales grew, profit performance was below budget.
The effects of Government austerity measures last August
on an already difficult economic and retail environment
have been severe. Consumer spending levels are
significantly down, with non-food categories particularly
affected. Despite these challenges we have a strong
market position which we have continued to strengthen
by lowering prices, expanding our store network and
developing our infrastructure. We opened 14 new stores
in 2006/07, including 10 hypermarkets, and we plan
to add 15% to our total space in the current year.

e Against the background of an improving economy and a
consolidating retail industry in Poland, we are making very
good progress, with rising sales, profits and returns. Sales
growth has continued to be strong, driven by sustained
improvement in existing store performance and a growing
contribution from new space. The development of our
1k (around 10,000 sgft), 2k and 3k store formats as part
of an enlarged opening programme is going well. The
acquisition of the Leader Price stores from Casino, which
was announced last July and completed in December has
accelerated our 1k format expansion and contributed to a
37% overall space increase in Poland. Leader Price stores
are being converted rapidly to Tesco with, on average,
25% sales uplifts.

e Tesco Ireland delivered another excellent performance with
improved profits and another year of strong sales growth
in existing stores. Our new store opening programme
will be substantially bigger this year — with 240,000 sq ft,
representing growth of over 10%. The new 740,000 sq ft
distribution centre at Donabate, in north Dublin, opens this
month. Our competitive position is also strong and we're
investing more for customers — for example, our largest
ever programme of price cuts in Ireland, which started last
spring, has been well-received.

¢ In Slovakia the success of our compact hypermarket format
and a strong economy have underpinned pleasing growth
in sales, profits and returns. We now have 25 such stores,
representing approaching half of our total space, with more
planned. We introduced our 1k format this year — opening
the first store at Vrable and we now have six trading with
nine more planned this year. Our organic expansion will
add around 15% to our space this year.
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Operating and financial review continued

¢ QurKipa business in Turkey, continues to grow strongly
and profitably and now has the capability and resources to
become a national business. We now have 15 hypermarkets
trading, with the majority now outside our base in lzmir,
including our first store in Thrace, with 24 more planned
for the current year. The early introduction of Express in
Turkey has also gone well, with 15 stores now trading,
including three in Antalya. We have invested in creating
the infrastructure for a business of scale — initially in
management and systems — and also in supply chain,
with our first major distribution centre (at Yasibasi)
covering 400,000 sq ft, planned to open this month.

United States We are on track to open our first stores —

under the Fresh & Easy Neighborhood Market banner — on
the west coast of the United States, as planned, later this year.
Our El Segundo office is now staffed by over 150 people and
the construction of our Riverside distribution centre on the
eastern edge of Los Angeles (LA) is on schedule. Site
acquisition for our 10,000 square foot convenience format
stores is also going well and we expect to be able to open

a significant number (at launch) across the LA, Phoenix,

Las Vegas and San Diego markets.

Recruitment and training of staff for the stores will begin soon
which, combined with the other pre-launch costs and initial
trading losses, will involve a planned rise in estimated US
start-up costs to around £65m in the current financial year.
Thereafter, as previously announced, we expect initial trading
losses to diminish and the business to move into profitability
during its third financial year of operation. Our intention
remains to commit some £250m of capital per annum to
the US going forward, although given the phasing of our
investment and the higher leasehold element of the early
stores, capital invested last year was lower — at £89m. We will
begin formal reporting of US performance separately within
our International operations from opening.

Core UK Tesco made further good progress in the UK; coping
well with recovering competitors by delivering an improved
shopping trip for customers. UK sales grew by 9.0% in the year,
including a like-for-like increase of 5.6%. Both customer
numbers and spend per visit increased.

We have continued to invest in the things that matter for
customers and although we can still get better, we have made
real improvements to the shopping trip:

e Qur Price Check survey, which compares 10,000 prices
against our leading competitors weekly, shows that our
price position has improved again during the year (for
more information see www.tesco.com). In a market to
which food price inflation has returned for the first time in
several years, driven by the higher energy costs and strong
seasonal food prices, Tesco has invested more than ever
in helping to keep prices as low as possible for customers.

e The implementation of new checkout technology across
our stores means that we can now monitor and manage
the checkout service customers receive much more
precisely — by customer, by store and by the hour. As a
result, nearly 350,000 more customers a week receive
our ‘one-in-front’ checkout queue promise.

* On-shelf availability, which we measure using our in-store
picking of tesco.com orders, has also improved again and
more customers are able to buy everything they want when
they shop at Tesco. Although there is still scope to get better
— particularly during evenings and on Sundays — the most
marked improvement has been achieved in fresh foods,
which has seen a fifth consecutive year of higher availability.

e We've also introduced significant changes to our ranges in
response to customer demand. For example, we are selling
a much larger Organics range which is now fully integrated
into ranges across our stores —with sales up almost
40%; we have introduced over 1,000 new premium lines,
including a faster pace of new product launches for Finest.

e All of our eligible own-brand products now carry our
GDA nutritional signpost labels. We have created a system
that is easy to understand and practical to use and recent
sales data suggests we have made a genuine impact on
customer behaviour, which in turn has helped us to
improve and reformulate many Tesco products.

Step-Change We delivered efficiency savings ahead of plan
in the year —with £350m achieved through the Step-Change
programme, which brings together many initiatives to make
what we do better for customers, simpler for staff and cheaper
for Tesco. Most of these savings are reinvested to improve our
offer for customers. We aim to make similar incremental
savings in the current year.
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New Space We opened a total of just over 2m sq ft of new
sales area, adding a net 7.3% to our UK sales area during
the year in all formats, of which 800,000 sq ft was in store
extensions, principally for Extra. We opened another 30 Extra
hypermarkets, bringing the total to 147, most of them
developed through extensions to existing stores. Extra

now represents 37% of our total sales area.

In total, a further 2.1m sq ft is planned to open in the current
year, of which store extensions will represent over 30%, and
a significant proportion of this will be allocated to non-food.
85 new Express stores opened during the year, bringing the
overall total to 735 and a similar programme is planned for
the current year.

Non-food Despite a less helpful consumer environment in the
UK, our general merchandise business has again made very
good progress, with sales growing significantly faster than in
our core operations and the proportion of our sales represented
by non-food rose to 25% (excluding petrol). With our relatively
low market shares in many general merchandise categories,
the growing popularity of our offer for customers and the

scope to expand our stores or sell more though direct channels,
these areas provide exciting growth opportunities for Tesco.

Group non-food sales have grown to £10.4bn, including
£2.9bn in International. Sales growth, in the UK alone, was
11.6% in the year, with total non-food sales increasing to
£7.6bn (included in reported UK sales). Volume growth was
again even higher, driven by our ability to pass on lower prices
to customers, funded by our growing scale and supply chain
efficiency and the benefits of more direct sourcing in Asia.

We have seen strong growth in most large non-food
categories, including product groups which have seen flat or
reduced overall consumer spending. Most, but not all of our
established categories, which benefit less from new space,
grew strongly. Those which did well included health & beauty
where sales increased by 9% and news and magazines,

also up 9%. Although we increased market share, sales in
entertainment (DVDs, CDs etc) were weak as a result of the
growth of internet downloading and deflation.

Our newer categories saw strong growth. Clothing sales again
grew well — up by 16% — in a subdued market, partly affected
by unseasonal weather and we made strong market share
gains by volume and value. Some product groups, which we
have been able to allocate more space to in our larger Extra
stores, did particularly well. For example, toys and sports goods
were up 30%, consumer electronics sales rose by 35%,
stationery and DIY both up by 23%.

ANV DSNILVYd3dO
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Tesco Direct Last September, we announced plans to expand
our non-food offer substantially and make it more accessible
for customers through tesco.com and our catalogue. We started
Tesco Direct in a low key way — with initially 8,000 products
offered on-line and 1,500 by catalogue, including new
categories such as furniture. We have now launched a more
comprehensive offer —with 11,000 items on our website, 7,000
of which are in our catalogue and begun the roll-out of several
of our innovative options for customers to order and collect. As
well as wider ranges, Tesco Direct provides customers with the
choice of ordering on-line, by phone or in selected stores and
market-leading delivery options, including two-hour slots for
home delivery, the option to pick-up from some stores (soon
to be 200) and very short lead times on furniture orders. The
customer response so far has been very encouraging.

Homeplus The performance of our Homeplus trial non-food
stores —we now have six units trading — has been pleasing. Our
most recent trial store in Chelmsford, trading from 50,000 sq ft,
has traded well. It stocks a general merchandise range similar
to the assortment offered in larger Extra hypermarkets and is
also able to provide more space than the earlier trial stores for
promotions and seasonal events. A further store is planned

but no decision has yet been taken on further expansion for
this format.

Retailing services Our efforts to bring simplicity and value to
sometimes complicated markets are behind the success of our
retailing services businesses. Also underpinning this element
of our strategy is a strong economic model, based around
leveraging existing assets — either our own or a partner’s — so
that we can simultaneously price our services competitively
for customers and also achieve high returns for shareholders.

* Tesco Personal Finance (TPF) has delivered a creditable
performance in a difficult financial services market as
a consequence of making higher provisions for bad and
doubtful debt. Profit, net of interest and tax, is £130m
(last year £139m) of which Tesco’s share is £65m. Market
conditions in two of TPF’s core markets — credit cards and
motor insurance — remain difficult, but a strong programme
of new product launches is planned for the current year.

e tesco.com sales continued to grow strongly — up by 29.2%
in the year to £1,226m. Profit, before the start-up costs
associated with Tesco Direct also rose strongly — by 48.5%
to £83.4m. The grocery and wine business now has over
850,000 regular customers and more than 250,000 orders
a week.
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Operating and financial review continued

¢ Telecoms moved into profit during the year and continued
to build its customer base successfully through a combination
of simple, great value tariffs, good service and innovative
new products. Tesco Mobile, our joint-venture with O2,
was the fastest-growing pay-as-you-go networkin the UK
in 2006, taking almost a 30% share of new business — and
ended the year with 1.4m customers. It was also recognised
in industry surveys* as number one network for overall
customer satisfaction. Strong sales of handsets in the year
means that Tesco overall is now the UK’s largest retailer
of branded pay-as-you-go mobile phones.

Resources and Relationships

Customers Our customers have told us what they want from
an ‘Every little helps’ shopping trip and this year 46,000
shared their ideas on how to improve the shopping trip for
all customers. Clubcard also helps us to understand what
our customers want, whilst allowing us to thank them for
shopping with us — this year we gave away over £340m

in Clubcard vouchers.

We don’t always get it right but we try to make their shopping
trip as easy as possible, reduce prices where we can to help
them spend less and give them the convenience of shopping
when and where they want — in small stores, large stores or
on-line.

Employees With over 400,000 staff in 13 countries, we play
an important role in creating employment, fostering skills and
generating economic development. Our people are our most
important asset. Looking after our staff so that they can look
after our customers is one of the core values of the business.
We are committed to providing market-leading working
conditions for our staff and we encourage our suppliers to

do the same.

In the UK, we offer our staff a market-leading package of pay
and benefits:

Employee Share Schemes Through share ownership and share
incentive schemes, over 165,000 of our people have a personal
stake in Tesco. Staff were awarded shares worth a record £77m
last May under our Shares in Success scheme. 50,000 staff
were able to benefit when Save As You Earn schemes matured
in February, giving them access to shares worth £148m.

Training and Development We are committed to developing
our people to bring out the best in everyone and do what we
can to enable all our people to reach their potential. All our
staff have access to training programmes and personal
development planning to ensure that they have the right
skills to do their job.

*TNS Prognostics Mobile Satisfaction Survey, Q4 2006.

Diversity We try to ensure that at all times and in every
aspect of employment, including recruitment, training,

and development, everyone receives the same treatment,
regardless of factors such as gender, age, colour, creed, race,
ethnic origin, disability, marital status, religion or belief, trade
union membership or sexual preference and orientation.

Suppliers To be a successful, sustainable business we have
to ensure that our drive to bring cheaper prices is achieved
without compromising our standards, reducing quality,
damaging the environment or harming the suppliers and
workers who produce the goods we sell. So we take a
partnership approach to working with suppliers — sharing
our knowledge and listening to suppliers’ feedback. This
includes providing technical expertise, advice and insight
into customer trends and making regular payment, on time.

We are one of four signatories to the UK Government’s
statutory Supermarkets Code of Practice. Since the Code’s
introduction we have run tailored training for all Tesco buyers
to promote understanding and compliance. If problems do
arise in supplier relationships we aim to air and resolve

them through constructive discussion. To aid this process

we appointed a Code Compliance Officer to hear formal
complaints, confidentially if requested, and we hope that

our annual Supplier Viewpoint Survey encourages suppliers to
give us more feedback on our relationships. Our target is for
feedback to show that at least 90% of our suppliers view Tesco
as being trustworthy, reliable, consistent, clear, helpful and fair.

We carry out ethical audits and target ourselves to cover 100%
of our high risk own brand suppliers and ensure all commercial
teams have received training on supply chain labour standards.

Corporate Responsibility As a responsible Company,

Tesco works hard to bring real benefits to the communities we
serve, the environment and the economy. This is recognised
through our inclusion in the FTSE4Good and Dow Jones
Sustainability indices.

Our fundraising efforts have again delivered great results. Each
year we contribute the equivalent of at least 1% of our pre-tax
profits to charities and good causes and a total of £43m was
given during 2006/07 in donations, staff time and gifts in kind.
Our Charity of the Year was Whizz-kids, for which staff and
customers raised £3.4m.
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Community, environment and corporate responsibility

People tell us they want us to use our size and reach to be a
force for good in society. To help us meet this challenge we
decided in 2006 to introduce a new Community Plan. This
is part of our Steering Wheel, setting out objectives that
the business will deliver. It will ensure we provide the right
resources, energy and focus to meet the expectations of
our customers and other stakeholders in this area.

We have made significant progress this year on the Community
Plan and on our key objectives of being a good neighbour in
the communities we serve and being fair, responsible and
honest, particularly on the environment. This has been
recognised through our continued inclusion in FTSE4Good

and Dow Jones Sustainability indices.

Environment

¢ \We have committed to reduce the amount of packaging
on both branded and Tesco own label products by 25%
by 2010. We will also label all our packaging according to
whether it can be re-used, recycled or composted — and
if it cannot, we will label that too. The first labelled products
will be on our shelves by 2008.

¢ In the UK, Tesco has achieved an absolute reduction in
energy use in our buildings, despite growing sales by 9%
and sales area by over 7%. We have achieved this by
making energy reduction a top priority throughout our
business — from the boardroom through to our staff
working in our stores.

¢ \We are beginning the search for a universally accepted
and commonly understood measure of the carbon
footprint of our products covering their lifecycle from
manufacture through to use. This will enable us to label all
our products so that customers can compare their carbon
footprint as easily as they can currently compare prices or
nutritional profiles.

e Qur Green Clubcard scheme — rewarding customers with
extra Clubcard points for environmentally friendly behaviour
—is helping us to meet our target of reducing carrier bags
by 25% by 2008. Over 400m bags have already been saved
since the scheme launched in August 2006.

¢ \We are also encouraging customers to make a difference
by making green products more affordable. For example,
we have halved the price of energy-efficient light bulbs
making them even more cost-effective than traditional light
bulbs over their life-span.

e The rapid growth in sales of organic food is testimony to
the fact that people will make greener choices if we give
them the right information, opportunity and incentive. The
competitive pricing of organic products means that, for
many, they are no longer luxury items. We now sell them

alongside the standard ranges, on the same shelves,
instead of in a separate section. We have improved the
range and this has helped to generate 40% year-on-year
growth in sales.

Health

e We are well on ourway to our target of encouraging two
million people to be physically active in events organised
or sponsored by Tesco in the build up to the London 2012
Olympics. For example, over 240,000 people took part in
the Tesco Great School Run, setting a Guinness World
Record in the process, and 750,000 women took part in
the Cancer Research Race for Life in 2006/07, which has
been supported by Tesco for the last five years.

e We are the first supermarket to complete front of pack
nutritional labelling on all of our 6,600 eligible own-brand
products.

Community and Charities

e \We were pleased to be one of the first retailers to enter
into Local Employment Partnerships, a new Government
initiative announced in the recent Budget, whereby we will
increase the prospects for unemployed people to get an
interesting job and an opportunity to get on. This builds
on our groundbreaking Tesco Regeneration Partnerships
which have revitalised the prospects and opportunities
for almost 4,000 people including long term unemployed,
single parents, disabled and redundant workers, through
our unique job guarantee for everyone who completes
our training.

e Our Community Conference in partnership with the British
Red Cross and the Work Foundation brought together
voluntary groups, charities, businesses and Government
to explore the role of business in local communities.

e We have raised £3.4m for our 2006 Charity of the Year,
Whizz Kidz, which provides disabled children with their own
customised mobility equipment. This is more than double
our original £1.5m target, and is the highest amount raised
in any Charity of the Year partnership to date.

e Our 2007 Charity of the Year is the British Red Cross.
As well as aiming to raise £2m, we are also working with
them to develop a volunteering scheme for our staff,
giving them paid time off to make a positive contribution
to local communities.

* We are helping schools through our Computers for Schools,
and Sports for Schools and Clubs schemes. We have now
given away over £108m in computer equipment since
Computers for Schools launched in 1992, and in 2006/07
gave away over £7.5m worth of equipment and lessons
through Schools for Sports and Clubs.
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Operating and financial review continued

Suppliers & Farmers

* \We are committed to increasing the number of local
products in store. Regional roadshows in Cornwall, the
Isle of Wight, the North-West and Wales attracted over
300 small suppliers and we have already launched 58
new lines in our South West stores as a result of the
roadshow in Cornwall.

¢ \We will help dairy farmers by offering direct contracts to
named farmers, raising the price they receive to around 22
pence per litre, and sourcing more for our ‘Localchoice’ milk
from local farms — this will be sold for slightly more per litre
than standard milk so that these smaller producers can
make returns more in line with the proportionately higher
costs of their business.

Risks and uncertainties

Introduction Risk s an accepted part of doing business. The
real challenge for any business is to identify the principal risks
and to develop and monitor appropriate controls. A successful
risk management process balances risks and rewards and relies
on a sound judgement of their likelihood and consequence.

The Tesco Board has overall responsibility for risk management
and internal control within the context of achieving the Group’s
objectives. Our process for identifying and managing risks is set
out in more detail on page 24 of the Corporate Governance
Statement in this Annual Report. The key risks and mitigating
factors are set out below.

Business strategy If our strategy follows the wrong direction or
is not efficiently communicated then the business may suffer.

We need to understand and properly manage strategic riskin
order to deliver long-term growth for the benefit of all our
stakeholders. Our strategy is based on a four-part strategy:

to grow the core UK business, be as strong in non-food as

in food, develop retailing services and become a successful
international retailer. Pursuit of this four-part strategy has
allowed the business to diversify. At a strategic level,
diversification and pursuit of growth in emerging markets has
the effect of reducing overall risk by avoiding reliance on a
small number of business areas. However, by its very nature,
diversification also introduces new risks to be managed in
areas of the business that are less mature and fully understood.

To ensure the Group continues to pursue the right strategy,

we dedicate two full days a year to reviewing strategy as well as
discussing it at every Board meeting. The Executive Committee
also holds specific sessions on a regular basis. We have
structured programmes for engaging with all our stakeholders
including customers, employees, investors, suppliers,
government, media and non-governmental organisations.

We also invest significant resources in ensuring our strategy

is communicated well and understood by the parties who are
key to delivering it. The business operates a ‘Steering Wheel’ —
a balanced scorecard process —in all countries and significant
business units such as Dotcom to help manage performance
and deliver business strategy.

Financial strategy and Group Treasury Risk The main
financial risks of the Group relate to the availability of funds to
meet business needs, the risk of default by counter-parties to
financial transactions, and fluctuations in interest and foreign
exchange rates.

The Treasury function is mandated by the Board to manage
the financial risks that arise in relation to underlying business
needs. The function has clear policies and operating
parameters, and its activities are routinely reviewed and
audited. The function does not operate as a profit centre and
the undertaking of speculative transactions is not permitted.

A description of the role of the Finance Committee and
Internal and External Audit is set out in the Corporate
Governance section, page 25 of the Annual Report.

Operational threats and performance risk in the business
There is a risk that our business may not deliver the stated
strategy in full particularly since, like all retailers, the business is
susceptible to economic downturn that could affect consumer
spending. The continuing acquisition and development of
property sites also forms an intrinsic part of our strategy and
this carries inherent risks.

We try to deliver what customers want better than our
competitors by understanding and responding to their
behaviour. All of our business units have stretching targets
based on the Steering Wheel and the performance of all
business units is monitored continually and reported monthly
to the Board. We manage the acquisition and development of
our property assets carefully. We consider and assess in detail
every site at each stage of acquisition and development and
ensure that relevant action is taken to minimise any risks.

Our aim is to have broad appeal to all customers in our
different markets, minimising the impact of changes to the
economic climate.

Competition and consolidation The retail industry is highly
competitive. The Group competes with a wide variety of
retailers of varying sizes and faces increased competition from
UK retailers as well as international operators here and overseas.
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Failure to compete with competitors on areas including price,
product range, quality and service could have an adverse effect
on the Group’s financial results.

We aim to have a broad appeal in price, range and store format
in a way that allows us to compete in different markets. We
track performance against a range of measures that customers
tell us are critical to their shopping trip experience. We
constantly monitor customer perceptions of ourselves and our
competitors to ensure we can respond quickly if we need to.

People capabilities Our greatest asset is our employees. It is
critical to our success to attract, retain, develop and motivate
the best people with the right capabilities at all levels of
operations. We consider our people policies regularly and are
committed to investing in training and development and
incentives for our people such as profit sharing. Our ‘Talent
Planning’ process helps individuals achieve their full potential.
We also carry out succession planning to ensure that the needs
of the business going forward are considered and provided for.
There are clear processes for understanding and responding

to employees’ needs through our People Management Group,
staff surveys, regular performance reviews, involvement of
trade unions and regular communication of business
developments.

Reputational risk As the largest retailer in the UK,
expectations of the Group are high. Failure to protect the
Group’s reputation and brand could lead to a loss of trust
and confidence. This could result in a decline in the customer
base and affect the ability to recruit and retain good people.

Like other companies we must consider potential threats to
our reputation and the consequences of reputational damage.
Emotional loyalty to the Tesco brand has helped us diversify
into new areas like retail services and non-food and we
recognise the commercial imperative to do the right thing

for all our stakeholders and avoid the loss of such loyalty.

The Tesco Values are embedded in the way we do business

at every level and our Code of Ethics guides our behaviour

in our dealings with customers, employees and suppliers.

We engage with stakeholders in every sphere to take into
account theirviews and we try to ensure our strategy reflects
them. The launch of the Community Plan has demonstrated
our commitment to tackling a wide range of societal and
environmental issues. We have high level committees including
the Corporate Responsibility Committee and Compliance
Committee to help guide and monitor our policies.

Environmental risks Our key environmental risks are related
to minimising energy usage in stores and transportation, waste
management and our ability to respond to consumer concerns
in this area. We develop environmental policy through
engaging with key stakeholders and experts in this field to
achieve sustainable growth and minimise our environmental
impacts and the Group’s approach is brought togetherin a
consistent manner by the Corporate Responsibility Committee.
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Policy is reviewed regularly by the Compliance Committee

and Corporate Responsibility Committee. We recognise the
opportunities for competitive advantage through energy
efficiency and look for continuous improvement through
innovations and better ways to help customers act responsibly
towards the environment.

Product safety The safety and quality of our products is of
paramount importance to Tesco as well as being essential
for maintaining customer trust and confidence. A breach in
confidence could affect the size of our customer base and
hence financial results.

Tesco has detailed and established procedures for ensuring
product integrity at all times especially for our own-label
products. There are strict product safety processes and regular
management reports. We work in partnership with suppliers
to ensure mutual understanding of the standards required.
The business also monitors developments in areas such as
health, safety and nutrition in order to respond appropriately
to changing customer trends and new legislation. We have
clear processes for crisis management, pulling together expert
teams should we need to respond quickly on issues.

Ethical risks in the supply chain We do business with a large
number of own-brand suppliers in over 90 countries and the
supply chain is made of complex relationships — from individual
farmers and growers through to processors, manufacturers and
distributors. There is a risk that any part of the supply chain
might not adhere with the Group’s high ethical standards
(which are set out on our website).

To minimise this risk we have a partnership approach to
working with suppliers providing a certain and growing
market for their products, regular payments and payments
on time, and our commitment to sharing our understanding
of customers and changing consumer behaviour. We also
have a programme of regular risk assessments and audits
of suppliers on ethical issues to complement our compliance
work on product safety, quality and capability.

Fraud and compliance As the business grows in size and
geographical spread, the risk of occurrence of fraudulent
behaviour by its employees increases. While the vast majority
of our staff are completely honest, there remains the potential
for fraud and other dishonest activity at all levels of the
business from shop floor to senior management. The Group
takes extensive steps to reduce this risk. Relevant accounting
and other procedures and controls at all levels are clearly set
out and audited across the business to reduce the risk of fraud.
The Group gives clear guidance on behaviour to employees
through the Values and the Code of Ethics. The Audit
department undertakes detailed investigations into all areas
of the business and highlights to the Audit Committee its
findings. The Compliance Committee formulates and monitors
the implementation of, and compliance with appropriate
policies on key areas of ethical behaviour, including fraud.
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Operating and financial review continued

IT systems and infrastructure The business is dependent on
efficient Information Technology (IT) systems. Any significant
failure in the IT processes of our retail operations (e.g. barcode
scanning or supply chain logistics) would impact our ability to
trade. We recognise the essential role that IT plays across the
Group in allowing us to trade efficiently and that we can also
achieve commercial advantage through implementing IT
innovations that improve the shopping trip for customers and
make life easier for employees. We have extensive controls

in place to maintain the integrity and efficiency of our IT
infrastructure and we share world-class systems from across
our international operations to ensure consistency of delivery.

Regulatory and political environment We are subject to

a wide variety of regulations in the different countries in which
we operate because of the diverse nature of our business.
Tesco may be impacted by regulatory changes in key areas
such as planning laws, trading hours, and tax rules as well

as by scrutiny by the competition authorities. We may also

be impacted by political developments in the countries in
which we operate. We consider these uncertainties in the
external environment when developing strategy and reviewing
performance. We remain vigilant to future changes in the UK
and abroad. As part of our day-to-day operations we engage
with governmental and non-governmental organisations

to ensure the views of our customers and employees are
represented and try to anticipate and contribute to important
changes in public policy.

Activism and terrorism A major incident or terrorist event
incapacitating management, systems or stores could impact
on the Group’s ability to trade. In addition to contingency
plans, we have security systems and processes that reflect
best practice.

Pension risks The Group’s pension arrangements are an
important part of our employees’ overall benefits package
especially in the UK. We see them as a strong contributor
to our ability to attract and retain good people, our Group’s
greatest asset.

Management of the assets is delegated to a number of
independent fund managers who have discretion to invest
in Tesco PLC providing they do not exceed the proportion
of the share in the total market.

Since the implementation of IAS 19 there is a risk that the
accounting valuation deficit could increase if returns on
corporate bonds are higher than the investment return on
the pension scheme’s assets.

The Company has considered its pension risks and has taken
action by increasing contributions from April 2006 and by
reducing risk in its investment strategy. The increase in
contributions recognises the higher cost of providing pensions
including an improvement in life expectancy.

Joint venture governance and partnerships As we continue
to enter into new partnerships and joint ventures as well as
developing existing arrangements, there remains an inherent
riskin managing these partnerships and joint ventures. It is
more difficult to guarantee the achievement of joint goals and
we rely on partners to help achieve such goals. We may also be
impacted by reputational issues which affect our partners.

We choose partners with good reputations and set out joint
goals and clear contractual arrangements from the outset.

\We monitor performance and governance of our joint ventures
and partnerships.

Financial review

The main financial risks faced by the Group relate to the
availability of funds to meet business needs, the risk of default
by counter-parties to financial transactions, and fluctuations in
interest and foreign exchange rates. These risks are managed
as described below. The Balance Sheet position at 24 February
2007 is representative of the position throughout the year.

Funding and liquidity The Group finances its operations

by a combination of retained profits, long and medium-term
debt, capital market issues, commercial paper, bank borrowings
and leases. The objective is to ensure continuity of funding.
The policy is to smooth the debt maturity profile, to arrange
funding ahead of requirements and to maintain sufficient
undrawn committed bank facilities, and a strong credit rating
so that maturing debt may be refinanced as it falls due.

The Group’s long-term credit rating remained stable during the
year. Tesco Group is rated A1 by Moody’s and A+ by Standard
and Poor’s. New funding of £1.8bn was arranged during the
year, including a net £0.5bn from property joint ventures and
£1.2bn from medium-term notes (MTNs). At the year end,

net debt was £5.0bn (last year £4.5bn) and the average debt
maturity was nine years (last year six years).
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Interest rate risk management The objective is to limit
our exposure to increases in interest rates while retaining the
opportunity to benefit from interest rate reductions. Forward
rate agreements, interest rate swaps, caps and collars are
used to achieve the desired mix of fixed and floating rate debt.
The policy is to fix or cap a minimum of 40% of actual and
projected debt interest costs. At the year end, £2.3bn of debt
was in fixed rate form (last year £1.5bn) with a further £1.0bn
of debt capped or collared, therefore 86% (2006 — 53%)

of net debt is fixed, capped or collared. Fixed rate debt
includes £693m of funding linked to the Retail Price Index
(2006 — £472m).

This debt reduces interest risk by diversifying our funding
portfolio. The remaining balance of our debt is in floating
rate form.

The average rate of interest paid on a historic cost basis
excluding joint ventures and associates this year was 4.8%
(last year 5.2%).

Foreign currency risk management Our principal objective

is to reduce the effect of exchange rate volatility on short-term
profits. Transactional currency exposures that could significantly
impact the Income Statement are hedged, typically using
forward purchases or sales of foreign currencies and currency
options. At the year end, forward foreign currency transactions,
designated as cash flow hedges, equivalent to £764m were
outstanding (2006 — £548m) as detailed in note 20.

We hedge the majority of our investments in our international
subsidiaries via foreign exchange transactions in matching
currencies. Our objective is to maintain a low cost of borrowing
and hedge against material movements in our Balance Sheet
value. During the year, currency movements decreased the

net value of the Group’s overseas assets by £77m (last year
increase of £27m). We translate overseas profits at average
exchange rates which we do not currently seek to hedge.

Credit risk The objective is to reduce the risk of loss arising
from default by parties to financial transactions across an
approved list of counterparties of high credit quality. The
Group’s positions with these counterparties and their credit
ratings are routinely monitored.

Tesco Personal Finance (TPF) TPF lending is predominantly
to individuals through its credit card and unsecured personal
loan products. TPF has also developed a significant insurance
business, with motor insurance a major component. TPF risk
is managed by observing and adopting industry best practices
and drawing upon the expertise and systems of the Royal
Bank of Scotland Group, including its subsidiary Direct Line.
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All policies pertaining to risk within TPF are subject to the
governance procedures of the Royal Bank of Scotland Group
and ratified by the TPF Board, which has representation from
both Tesco and the Royal Bank of Scotland Group. This has
delivered a portfolio of products with strong asset quality. This
asset quality is maintained through proactive risk management,
both at the time of acquisition and ongoing account
maintenance.

The Tesco Group would support its 50% share of any further

funding TPF might require to sustain liquidity ratios. However,
we believe that provisions for bad debts and insurance losses
(supported by re-insurance of significant risks) are at

prudent levels.

Insurance We purchased Assets, Earnings and Combined
Liability protection from the open insurance market at
‘catastrophe’ level only. The risk not transferred to the insurance
market is retained within the business by using our captive
insurance companies, Tesco Insurance Limited in Guernsey and
Valiant Insurance Company Limited in the Republic of Ireland.
Tesco Insurance Limited covers Assets and Earnings, while
Valiant Insurance Company Limited covers Combined Liability.

Statement of compliance

This review has been prepared in accordance with the
Directors’ Report Business Review Requirements in section
23477B of the Companies Act 1985. It also incorporates much
of the guidance set out in the Accounting Standards Board’s
Reporting Statement on the Operating and Financial Review.

The OFR’s intent is to provide information to shareholders
and should not be relied on by any other party or for any
other purpose.

Where this review contains forward-looking statements,

these are made by the Directors in good faith based on the
information available to them at the time of their approval of
this report. These statements should be treated with caution
due to the inherent uncertainties underlying any such forward-
looking information.

Other information

Additional financial and non-financial information, including
press releases and year end presentations, can be accessed
on our website, www.tesco.com/corporate and also in our
Corporate Responsibility Review 2007.
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Directors’ report

The Directors present their annual report to shareholders
on the affairs of the Group and Company, together with the
audited financial statements of the Group and the audited
financial statements of the Company for the year ended

24 February 2007.

Principal activity, business review and future
developments

The principal activity of the Group is retailing and associated
activities in the UK, the Republic of Ireland, Hungary, Poland,
the Czech Republic, Slovakia, Turkey, Thailand, South Korea,

Malaysia, Japan and China.

For a review of the business of the Group including: a
description of the key activities, future developments (including
our plans to open stores in the United States) and an analysis
of the key risks and uncertainties (including financial risk
management strategy), see the Operating and Financial
Review on pages 3 to 19 of this document.

Group results

Group revenue rose by £3.2bn to £42.6bn, representing
an increase of 8.1%.

Group profit before tax increased by £418m, to £2,653m. Profit
for the yearwas £1,899m, of which £1,892m was attributable to
equity holders of the parent.

Dividends

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of
6.83 pence per ordinary share, to be paid on 6 July 2007 to
members on the Register at the close of business on 27 April
2007. Together with the interim dividend of 2.81 pence per
ordinary share paid in December 2006, the total dividend for
the year will be 9.64 pence compared with 8.63 pence for the
previous year, an increase of 11.7%.

Fixed assets

Capital expenditure (excluding business combinations)
amounted to £3.0bn compared with £2.8bn the previous year.
In the Directors’ opinion, the properties of the Group have

a market value in excess of the carrying value of £14,598m
included in these financial statements. In the year we received
net proceeds of £454m from our new property joint venture
with the British Airways Pension Fund.

Share capital

The authorised and called up share capital of the Company,
together with details of the shares allotted and bought back
during the year, are shown in note 24 of the financial
statements. Details of treasury shares held by Tesco PLC

are shown in note 25 of the financial statements.

Company’s shareholders

The Company has been notified that as at the date of this
report, the following shareholders own more than 3% of the
issued share capital of the Company:

Fidelity International/FMR Corporation 5.85%
Legal & General Assurance

(Pensions Management Limited) 3.96%
Barclays PLC 4.81%

Except for the above, the Company is not aware of any ordinary
shareholders with interests of 3% or more in the issued share
capital of the Company.

Directors and their interests

The Directors who served during the year were:

e MrD E Reid; e MrD T Potts;

e MrRF Chase; e Mr CLAllen;

e SirTerry Leahy; e Mrs KR Cook;

* MrR Brasher; e MrE M Davies;

e MrPA Clarke; e DrH Einsmann;

e MrAT Higginson; e MrKJ Hydon; and
e MrTJR Mason; e Ms C McCall.

e Miss L Neville-Rolfe;

The biographical details of the present Directors are set out
in the separately published Annual Review and Summary
Financial Statement 2007.

Mr E M Davies, Dr H Einsmann, Mr KJ Hydon, Mr D T Potts
and Mr D E Reid retire from the Board by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election. Miss L Neville-Rolfe
joined the Board in December 2006 and as required by the
Articles of Association, will offer herself for election.

The interests of Directors and their immediate families in the
shares of Tesco PLC, along with details of Directors’ share
options, are contained in the Directors’ remuneration report
set out on pages 27 to 40.

At no time during the year did any of the Directors have a
material interest in any significant contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries.

A qualifying third party indemnity provision as defined in
Section 309B(1) of the Companies Act 1985 (as amended)

is in force for the benefit of each of the Directors and

the Company Secretary (who is also a Director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company) in respect of liabilities incurred
as a result of their office, to the extent permitted by law. In
respect of those liabilities for which Directors may not be
indemnified, the Company maintained a directors’ and officers’
liability insurance policy throughout the financial year.
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Employment policies

The Group depends on the skills and commitment of its
employees in order to achieve its objectives. Staff at every level
are encouraged to make their fullest possible contribution to
the success of Tesco.

A key business priority is to deliver an ‘Every little helps’
shopping experience for customers. Ongoing training
programmes seek to ensure that employees understand the
Group’s customer service objectives and strive to achieve them.

The Group’s selection, training, development and promotion
policies ensure equal opportunities for all employees regardless
of factors such as gender, marital status, race, age, sexual
preference and orientation, colour, creed, ethnic origin, religion
or belief, or disability. All decisions are based on merit.

Internal communications are designed to ensure that
employees are well informed about the business of the Group.
These include a UK staff magazine called ‘One Team’ and the
equivalents in our overseas businesses, videos and staff
briefing sessions.

Staff opinions are frequently researched through surveys and
store visits. We work to deliver ‘Every little helps’ for all our
people across the Group.

Employees are encouraged to become involved in the financial
performance of the Group through a variety of schemes,
principally the Tesco employee profit-sharing scheme (Shares
in Success), the savings-related share option scheme (Save As
You Earn) and the partnership share plan (Buy As You Earn).

Political and charitable donations

Cash donations to charities amounted to £17,698,393
(2006 — £15,047,768). Contributions to community projects
including gifts-in-kind, staff time and management costs,
amounted to £43,412,965 (2006 — £41,768,741).

There were no political donations (2006 — £nil). During the year,
the Group made contributions of £41,608 (2006 — £54,219)

in the form of sponsorship for political events: Labour Party
£11,000; Liberal Democrat Party £5,350; Conservative Party
£4,218; Progressive Democrat Party £2,213; Fine Gael £1,476;
Fianna Fail £1,408; the Republic of Ireland Labour Party £234;
Trade Unions £15,709.

Supplier payment policy

Tesco PLC is a signatory to the CBI Code of Prompt Payment.
Copies of the Code may be obtained from the CBI, Centre
Point, 103 New Oxford Street, London WC1A 1DU. Payment
terms and conditions are agreed with suppliers in advance.

Tesco PLC has no trade creditors on its Balance Sheet. The
Group pays its creditors on a pay on time basis which varies
according to the type of product and territory in which the
suppliers operate.

Going concern

The Directors consider that the Group and the Company have
adequate resources to remain in operation for the foreseeable
future and have therefore continued to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the financial statements. As with all
business forecasts, the Directors’ statement cannot guarantee
that the going concern basis will remain appropriate given the
inherent uncertainty about future events.

Events after the balance sheet date

On 20 March 2007, the Group formed a property joint venture
with The British Land Company PLC. The limited partnership
contains 21 superstores which have been sold from and leased
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back to Tesco. The Group sold assets with a fair value of
approximately £650m to the joint venture which had a net book
value of approximately £350m; 50% of the resulting profit will
be recognised within profit arising on property-related items
with the remaining percentage deferred on the balance sheet
in accordance with IAS 31 ‘Interests in Joint Ventures'.
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In March 2007, the Group issued two bonds: £500m paying
interest at 5.2%, maturing in 2057 and €600m paying interest
at 5.125%, maturing in 2047.

Auditors

A resolution to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
as auditors of the Company and the Group will be proposed
at the Annual General Meeting.

Having made the requisite enquiries, as far as each of the
Directors is aware, there is no relevant audit information
(as defined by Section 234ZA of the Companies Act 1985)
of which the Group’s auditors are unaware, and each of the
Directors has taken all the steps he should have taken as a
Director to make himself aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the Group’s auditors are
aware of that information.

Annual General Meeting

A separate circular accompanying the Annual Review and
Summary Financial Statement 2007 explains the special
business to be considered at the Annual General Meeting
(AGM) on 29 June 2007.

By Order of the Board
Mr Jonathan Lloyd
Company Secretary
16 April 2007

Tesco PLC

Registered Number: 445790

Registered in England and Wales

Registered Office: Tesco House, Delamare Road, Cheshunt,
Hertfordshire EN8 9SL

VAT Registration Number: GB 220 4302 3
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Corporate governance

Directors’ report on corporate governance

Tesco PLC is committed to the highest standards of corporate
governance. We recognise that good governance helps the
business to deliver strategy, generate shareholder value and
safeguard shareholders’ long-term interests. We believe that
the Combined Code is a useful guide from which to review
corporate governance within the Group. This statement
describes the Board’ s approach to corporate governance.

Board composition and independence

As at 24 February 2007, the Board of Tesco PLC comprised
seven Executive Directors, seven independent Non-executive
Directors and Mr D E Reid, Non-executive Chairman.

Mr R F Chase is Deputy Chairman and Senior Independent
Non-executive Director. Miss Lucy Neville-Rolfe joined the
Board in December 2006 and will submit herself for election
by shareholders at the AGM in June 2007.

Both Mr C LAllen and Dr H Einsmann have served on the
Board for more than two three-year terms. The Chairman
conducted a thorough review with each Director to assess
theirindependence and contributions to the Board and
confirmed that they both continue to be effective independent
Non-executive Directors. Mr C LAllen brings large corporate
operational experience and knowledge of the media industry
and provides leadership for the Remuneration Committee.
Through his wealth of business experience Dr H Einsmann
contributes a different dimension to the Board in terms of
international marketing, brand building and human resource
development.

The Chairman has primary responsibility for running the
Board. The Chief Executive, Sir Terry Leahy, has executive
responsibilities for the operations, results and strategic
development of the Group. Clear divisions of accountability
and responsibility exist and operate effectively for these
positions.

The Board requires all Non-executive Directors to be

independent in their judgement. The structure of the Board
and integrity of the individual Directors ensures that no one
individual or group dominates the decision-making process.

Biographies for the Board Directors can be found on pages
46 and 47 of the Annual Review and Summary Financial
Statement 2007.

Board responsibilities

The Board normally meets eight times a year and annually
devotes two days to a Board conference, including senior
executives, which discusses current performance and longer-
term planning, including evaluating the opportunities and
risks of future strategy. The Board has set out a clear Schedule
of Matters Reserved for Board Decision in order to ensure its
overall control of the Group’s affairs. These include the
approval of financial statements, major acquisitions and
disposals, authority levels for expenditure, treasury policies,
risk management, Group governance policies and succession
planning for senior executives.

All Directors have access to the services of the Company
Secretary and may take independent professional advice
at the Company’s expense in conducting their duties. The
Company provides insurance cover and indemnities for its
Directors and officers.

For all new Directors, a personalised induction programme is
designed to develop their knowledge and understanding of the
Group’s culture and operations. On appointment, the Director
will liaise with the Chairman and the Company Secretary to
ensure the programme is appropriately tailored to their
experience, background and particular areas of focus. It usually
includes an overview of the business model, Board processes,
one-to-one meetings with the Executive team and briefings
with senior managers, an induction to Board Committees that
the new appointee will serve on, a briefing on social, ethical
and environmental issues for the business and site visits at
home and abroad.

The need for Director training is regularly assessed by the
Board and up-skilling sessions for the whole Board take place
at least once a year. This year Board training included sessions
on the operations and governance of our property activities.
In the coming year the Board proposes to hold training
sessions focusing on the Tesco Operating Model as well as

on the implications of climate change for the business. To
better facilitate the Directors’ understanding of the Group’s
international operations, the Board usually holds at least

one meeting overseas each year.

Board processes

The Board governs through clearly identified Board
Committees to which it delegates certain powers. The Board
itself is serviced by the Company Secretary, who reports to the
Chairman in respect of his core duties to the Board. The Board
Committees are the Executive Committee, Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nominations Committee. They
are properly authorised under the constitution of the Company
to take decisions and act on behalf of the Board within the
parameters laid down by the Board. The Board is kept fully
informed of the work of these Committees. Any issues requiring
resolution will be referred to the full Board. A summary of

the operations of these Committees is set out below. The
effectiveness of the Audit, Remuneration and Nominations
Committees is underpinned by their Non-executive Director
membership which provides independent insight on
governance matters. Copies of each of the Committee’s

Terms of Reference are available on the website
www.tesco.com/corporate or at the AGM.

Executive Committee The Board delegates responsibility
for formulating and implementing the strategic plan and for
management of the Group to the Executive Committee. This
Committee meets formally every week and its decisions are
communicated throughout the Group on a regular basis. The
Executive Committee comprises the seven Executive Directors
and is chaired by the Chief Executive. A number of senior
executives also attend the Committee and theirvaluable
operational experience helps broaden the debate. Their
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attendance also facilitates the communication of the
Committee’s decisions to the rest of the Group.

The Committee has authority for decision-making in all areas
except those set out in the Schedule of Matters Reserved for
Board Decision. The Executive Committee is responsible for
implementing Group strategy and policy, for monitoring the
performance of the business and reporting on these matters
in full to the Board.

The Executive Committee has also set up further operational
groups or boards aimed at implementing the key elements

of the Group’s strategic plan and managing its UK and
international operations, joint ventures, property acquisitions,
finance, funding and people matters. These groups are heavily
populated with Executive Directors and senior management
from relevant functions.

Nominations Committee The Nominations Committee leads
the process for Board appointments, re-election and succession
of Directors and the Chairman. The Committee is chaired by
Mr D E Reid and its members during the year were Mr C L Allen,
Mr R F Chase, Mrs KR Cook, Mr E M Davies, Dr H Einsmann,
Mr K J Hydon, Ms C McCall and Sir Terry Leahy. The Company
Secretary also attends in his capacity as Secretary of the
Committee. Where matters discussed relate to the Chairman,
the Senior Independent Non-executive Director chairs the
meeting. The Nominations Committee met once in the year
ended 24 February 2007 to discuss the ongoing shape and
capability of the Board. They fully consider succession plans for
Executive Directors and the senior executive level below the
Main Board. The Committee discussed in detail Miss L Neville-
Rolfe’s proposed appointment to the Board. The Committee
unanimously agreed that she should be appointed to the
Board as Director of Corporate and Legal Affairs and she will
submit herself for election at the next AGM. All Directors have
to submit themselves for re-election at least every three years if
they wish to continue serving and are considered by the Board
to be eligible. New Directors are submitted for election by
shareholders in their first year.

Remuneration Committee The Remuneration Committee’s
role is to determine and recommend to the Board the
remuneration of the Executive Directors. It monitors the levels
and structure of remuneration for senior management and
seeks to ensure that they are designed to attract, retain and
motivate the Executive Directors needed to run the Company
successfully. Mr C LAllen chairs the Committee, which is
composed entirely of independent Non-executive Directors.
Committee members for the year ended 24 February 2007
were Mr R F Chase, Mrs KR Cook, Mr E M Davies and

Dr H Einsmann. At the invitation of the Committee the
Chairman of the Board normally attends meetings. The
Company Secretary also attends in his capacity as Secretary
of the Committee. The responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee and an explanation of how it applies the Directors’
remuneration principles of the Combined Code, are set out
in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 27 to 40.

Audit Committee The Audit Committee’s primary
responsibilities are to review the financial statements, to review
the Group’s internal control and risk management systems,
to consider the appointment of the external auditors, their
independence and reports to the Committee, as well as to
review the programme of Internal Audit. The Committee’s
annual schedule includes a review of the effectiveness of
external and internal audit and a review of Protector Line, the
Company’s ‘whistle-blowing’ procedure. The Committee met
four times this year. Each year it conducts a review of the
Committee’s own effectiveness and its Terms of Reference.

Mr K J Hydon, who has recent and relevant financial
experience, is the Chairman of the Committee. The other
Committee members for the year ended 24 February 2007
were Mr R F Chase, Mr E M Davies and Ms C McCall. At the
invitation of the Committee, the Chairman of the Board, the
Finance Director and his representatives, the Internal Audit
Director, the Corporate and Legal Affairs Director, other relevant
Executive Directors and representatives of the external auditors
regularly attend meetings. The Company Secretary also attends
in his capacity as Secretary of the Committee. The Committee
has regular private meetings with the external auditors during
the year. The need for training is kept under review and the
annual agenda ensures time is dedicated to up-skilling
sessions which may be provided by external experts. This year
training was provided for the whole Committee on pensions
and asset impairment under IFRS. Training is also provided to
meet specific individual needs of committee members.
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Board performance evaluation The Board regularly reviews
its own performance. During the year ended 24 February 2007,
the Board agreed that it would be appropriate to conduct an
in-house review. The Chairman met with each of the Directors
individually and reported to the Board on the findings of the
review. The Board found this to be an open, constructive and
useful process and the review concluded that the Board is
highly effective. The main areas of focus in the past year were:
meeting the continuing challenges of improving our capability
in terms of talent development, leadership skills and building
the process, systems and organisation for a fast-growing
international business.

The Chief Executive reviews the performance of each Executive
Director. The Chairman reviews the performance of the Chief
Executive and each Non-executive Director. During the year,
the Chairman met with the Non-executive Directors, without
the Executive Directors present, to discuss Board issues and
how to build the best possible team. The Senior Independent
Non-executive Director met with the Non-executive Directors
in the absence of Chairman, to assess the Chairman’s
effectiveness.

The Board scheduled eight meetings in the year ended

24 February 2007 and ad hoc meetings were also convened
to deal with urgent matters. The following table shows the
attendance of Directors at regular Board meetings and at
meetings of the Audit, Nominations and Remuneration
Committees during the year.
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Corporate governance continued

Board Nominations ~ Remuneration Audit
Members attendance during the year ended 24 February 2007 meetings Committee Committee Committee
Number of meetings held 8 1 7 4
Non-executive Directors
Mr D E Reid (Chairman) 8 1 N/A N/A
Mr C LAllen 8 1 6 N/A
Mr R F Chase (Senior Independent) 8 1 7 4
Mrs KR Cook 7 1 6 N/A
Mr E M Davies 7 1 5 2
Dr H Einsmann 7 1 7 N/A
Mr K J Hydon 8 1 N/A 4
Ms C McCall 8 1 N/A 3
Executive Directors
Sir Terry Leahy 8 1 N/A N/A
Mr R Brasher 8 N/A N/A N/A
Mr P A Clarke 8 N/A N/A N/A
Mr AT Higginson 8 N/A N/A N/A
MrT J R Mason 8 N/A N/A N/A
Miss L Neville-Rolfe! 1 N/A N/A N/A
Mr D T Potts 8 N/A N/A N/A
Notes:

‘N/A" indicates the Director is not a member of the Committee. Directors leave the meeting where matters relating to them are being discussed. It is expected that all Directors
attend Board and Committee meetings unless they are prevented from doing so by prior commitments and all Directors attend the AGM.

1 Miss L Neville-Rolfe was appointed on 14 December 2006 and has attended the one meeting that took place since that date.

Risk management and internal controls

Accountabilities Accepting that risk is an inherent part of
doing business, our risk management systems are designed
both to encourage entrepreneurial spirit and also provide
assurance that risk is fully understood and managed. The Board
has overall responsibility for risk management and internal
control within the context of achieving the Group’s objectives.
Executive management is responsible for implementing and
maintaining the necessary control systems. The role of Internal
Audit is to monitor the overall systems and report on their
effectiveness to Executive management, as well as to the Audit
Committee, in order to facilitate its review of the systems.

Background The Group has a five-year rolling business plan
to support the delivery of its strategy of long-term growth and
returns for shareholders.

Every business unit and support function derives its objectives
from the five-year plan and these are cascaded to managers
and staff by way of personal objectives. Key to delivering
effective risk management is ensuring our people have a
good understanding of the Group’s strategy and our policies,
procedures, values and expected performance. We have a
structured internal communications programme that provides
employees with a clear definition of the Group’s purpose and
goals, accountabilities and the scope of permitted activities for
each business unit, as well as individual line managers and
other employees. This ensures that all our people understand
what is expected of them and that decision-making takes
place at the appropriate level.

We recognise that our people may face ethical dilemmas in the
normal course of business so we provide clear guidance based
on the Tesco Values. The Values set out the standards that we
wish to uphold in how we treat people. These are supported

by the Group Code of Ethics which offers guidance on

relationships between the Group and its employees, suppliers
and contractors. The Company is a signatory to the DTI Code
of Conduct and met its obligations for implementing the Code
for the financial year ended 24 February 2007.

We operate a balanced scorecard approach that is known
within the Group as our Steering Wheel. This unites the
Group’s resources around our customers, people, operations,
communities and finance. The scorecard operates at every level
within the Group, from ground level business units, through

to country level operations, up to the Group Steering Wheel.

It enables the business to be operated and monitored on

a balanced basis with due regard for all stakeholders.

Risk Management The Group maintains a Key Risk Register.
The Register contains the key risks faced by the Group,
including theirimpact and likelihood as well as the controls
and procedures implemented to mitigate these risks. The
content of the Register is determined through regular
discussions with Executive management and review by the full
Board. A balanced approach allows the degree of controllability
to be taken into account when we consider the effectiveness
of mitigation, recognising that some necessary activities carry
inherent risk which may be outside the Group’s control. Our
risk management process recognises there are opportunities
to improve the business to be built into our future plans.

Our key risks are summarised on pages 16 to 19 of the
Operating and Financial Review.

The risk management process is cascaded through the Group
with every international CEO and local Boards maintaining
their own risk registers and assessing their control systems.
The same process also applies functionally in those parts of
the Group requiring greater overview. For example, the Audit
Committee’s Terms of Reference require it to oversee the
Finance Risk Register. A further example is that of the
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Corporate Responsibility Risk Register which specifically
considers social, ethical and environmental (SEE) risks.
Oversight of these risks is the responsibility of the Corporate
Responsibility Committee. The Board incorporates SEE risks
on the Key Risk Register where they are considered material
or appropriate.

With reference to the ABI guidelines on social responsibility,
we confirm that the Board takes regular account of the
significance of SEE matters to the business of the Group.

We recognise that some investors and other stakeholders take
a keen interest in how companies manage SEE matters and
so we report more detail on our policies and KPIs in our
Annual Corporate Responsibility Review and on our website
(www.tesco.com/corporate). To provide further assurance, the
Group’s Corporate Responsibility KPIs are audited on a regular
basis by Internal Audit.

Internal controls Accountability for managing risk at an
operational level sits with management. We have a Group-wide
process for clearly establishing the risks and responsibilities
assigned to each level of management and the controls which
are required to be operated and monitored.

The CEOs of subsidiary businesses are required to certify

by way of annual statements of assurance that the Board’s
governance policies have been adopted both in practice and
in spirit. For certain joint ventures, the Board places reliance
upon the internal control systems operating within our
partners’ infrastructure and the obligations upon partners’
Boards relating to the effectiveness of their own systems.

Monitoring The Board oversees the monitoring system and
has set specific responsibilities for itself and Board or Executive
committees as set out below. The minutes of the Audit,
Finance, Compliance and Corporate Responsibility
Committees are distributed to the Board and a report is
submitted for formal discussion at least once a year. These all
provide assurance that the Group is operating legally, ethically
and in accordance with approved financial and operational
policies. We noted the updates to the Turnbull Guidance and
keep under review how the Turnbull Guidance has been
applied. In addition, both Internal Audit and our external
auditors play key roles in the monitoring process.

¢ Audit Committee Annually, the Audit Committee reports
to the Board on its review of the effectiveness of the
internal control systems for the accounting year and the
period to the date of approval of the financial statements.
Throughout the year the Committee receives regular
reports from its external auditors covering topics such as

quality of earnings and technical accounting developments.

The Committee also receives updates from Internal Audit
and has dialogue with senior managers on their control
responsibilities.

It should be understood that such systems are designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

e Internal Audit The Internal Audit department is fully
independent of business operations and has a Group-wide
mandate. It operates a risk-based methodology, ensuring
that the Group’s key risks receive appropriate regular
examination. Its responsibilities include maintaining
the Key Risk Register, reviewing and reporting on the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control
to the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee and
ultimately to the Board. Internal Audit facilitates oversight
of risk and control systems across the Group through a
number of Audit and Compliance Committees established
on either a geographic or business basis. The Head of
Internal Audit also attends all Audit Committee meetings.

¢ External Audit PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the
Company’s external auditors, contribute a further
independent perspective on certain aspects of our internal
financial control systems arising from their work, and report
to both the Board and the Audit Committee.
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The engagement and independence of external auditors
is considered annually by the Audit Committee before they
recommend their selection to the Board. The Committee
has satisfied itself that PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP are
independent and there are adequate controls in place

to safeguard their objectivity. One such measure is the
requirement to rotate audit partners every five years. This
year, the audit engagement partner, having served five years
on the Tesco audit, will be rotated. We have a non-audit
services policy that sets out criteria for employing external
auditors and identifies areas where it is inappropriate for
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP to work. Non-audit services
work carried out by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is
predominantly the review of subsidiary undertakings’
statutory accounts, transaction work and corporate tax
services. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP also follow their
own ethical guidelines and continually review their audit
team to ensure their independence is not compromised.

¢ Finance Committee Membership of the Finance
Committee includes Non-executive Directors with relevant
financial expertise, Executive Directors and members of
senior management. The Committee usually meets twice
ayear and its role is to review and agree the Finance Plan
on an annual basis to review reports of the Treasury and
Tax functions, and to review and approve Treasury limits
and delegations.

e Compliance Committee Membership of the Compliance
Committee includes three Executive Directors and
members of senior management. The Company Secretary
attends meetings of the Committee in his capacity as its
Secretary. The Committee normally meets six times a year
and its remit is to ensure that the Group complies with
all necessary laws and regulations in all of its operations
world-wide. The Committee has established a schedule
for the regular review of operational activities and legal
exposure. Every international business in the Group is also
required to have a local Compliance Committee designed
to ensure compliance with local laws and regulations as
well as Group Compliance policies.
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¢ Corporate Responsibility Committee The Committee is
chaired by an Executive Director and membership is made
up of senior executives from across the business. It meets
at least four times a year to support, develop and monitor
policies on SEE issues, reviewing threats and opportunities
for the Group. KPIs are monitored under the ‘Community’
segment on our Steering Wheel. The Board formally
discussed the progress in implementing our Community
Plan and other work of the Committee twice in the last
year and the Chair of the Committee reports regularly
to the Executive Committee on SEE matters.

Specialist functions such as the Corporate and Legal
Affairs department and the Trading Law and Technical
department provide assurance and advice on legal
compliance, health and safety, and SEE matters. These
functions report on their work on a regular basis and
escalate matters as appropriate.

e Management In our fast moving business, trading is
tracked on a daily and weekly basis, financial performance
is reviewed weekly and monthly, and the Steering Wheel
is reviewed quarterly. All key business units in the Group
operate a Steering Wheel and report against target KPIs
on a quarterly basis enabling management to measure
performance.

All major initiatives require business cases normally
covering a minimum period of five years. Post-investment
appraisals, carried out by management, determine the
reasons for any significant variance from expected
performance.

Relations with stakeholders

We are committed to having a constructive dialogue with

all stakeholders to ensure we understand what is important

to them and allow ourselves the opportunity to present

our position. Engagement helps us identify new risks and
opportunities to ensure that our long-term strategy is
sustainable. In some instances we find that working with
stakeholders in partnership can help deliver shared goals. We
might not be able to satisfy all stakeholder concerns all the
time but through engagement we can do our best to balance
competing demands. We know that customers need to be able
to trust our business and they will only trust us if we do the
right thing by all our stakeholders. Our programme of engaging
with stakeholders including customers, staff, suppliers,
investors, non-governmental organisations and others, is set
out in more detail in the Corporate Responsibility Review and
on our website. The launch of the Community Plan has helped
to demonstrate our commitment to tackling a wide range of
social and environmental issues and we carry out external
research to help us understand how well we are addressing
stakeholder concerns.

We are committed to maintaining a good dialogue with
shareholders through proactively organising meetings and
presentations as well as responding to a wide range of
enquiries. We seek shareholder views on a range of issues
from strategy to corporate governance and SEE issues. We
recognise the importance of communicating appropriately
any significant Company developments. This shareholder
communication is mainly co-ordinated by the Investor Relations
department. During the year, the Group met with 97 of our
leading shareholders representing over 53% of the issued
shares of the Company. To complement this programme, the
Chairman meets with major shareholders independently from
the Executive team. Shareholders also have the opportunity
to meet with the Senior Independent Non-executive Director.
The Board is kept updated on the views of stake-holders.

It is normal that institutional shareholders may be in more
regular contact with the Group than others, but care is
exercised to ensure that any price-sensitive information is
released to all shareholders, institutions and private, at the
same time in accordance with applicable legal and
regulatory requirements.

The AGM is an excellent opportunity to communicate directly
with all shareholders. The whole Board attends the meeting
and are available to answer questions from the shareholders
present. To encourage shareholder participation, we offer
electronic proxy voting and voting through the CREST electronic
proxy appointment service. At our last AGM in July 2006, all
resolutions were voted by way of electronic poll. This follows
best practice guidelines and allows the Company to count all
votes, not just those of shareholders attending the meeting.

Every shareholder may choose to receive a full Annual Report
and Financial Statements or the Annual Review and Summary
Financial Statement. At the half-year, all shareholders receive
an Interim Report. These reports, together with publicly-made
trading statements, are available on the Group’s website,
www.tesco.com/corporate.

Compliance

The Board considers that Tesco PLC complied in all respects
with the Combined Code Principles of Good Governance and
Code of Best Practice for the year ended 24 February 2007.
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Directors’ remuneration report for the year ending 24 February 2007

This is the report of the Remuneration Committee on behalf
of the Board.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee (the Committee) is governed
by formal Terms of Reference. They are reviewed annually and
are available from the Company Secretary or can be viewed at
www.tesco.com

Composition of the Committee

The Committee consists entirely of independent Non-executive
Directors. The members of the Committee are Mr C L Allen
(Chairman of the Committee), Mr R F Chase, Mrs K Cook,

Mr E M Davies and Dr H Einsmann. No member of the
Remuneration Committee has any personal financial interest
in the matters being decided, other than as a shareholder, nor
any day-to-day involvement in running the business of Tesco.
Mr J M Lloyd is Secretary to the Committee. Mr D E Reid,
Non-executive Chairman and Sir Terry Leahy, Chief Executive
of the Group, both attend meetings at the invitation of the
Committee except when their own remuneration is being
discussed. The Committee is supported by the Group Personnel
function and has continued to use the services of Deloitte

& Touche LLP as an external, independent advisor. Deloitte

& Touche LLP also provided advisory services in respect of
corporate tax planning, share schemes and international
taxation to the Group during the year. Members’ attendance

at Committee meetings is listed in the Directors’ Corporate
Governance report on page 24.

The role of the Committee
The Committee’s purpose is to:

¢ determine and recommend to the Board the remuneration
policy for the Chairman and Executive Directors;

e ensure the level and structure of remuneration is designed
to attract, retain, and motivate the Executive Directors
needed to run the Company; and

¢ monitor the level and structure of remuneration for
senior management.

The Committee also ensures that the remuneration
relationship between the Executive Directors and senior
executives of the Company below this level is appropriate.
In particular, any exceptional remuneration arrangements
for senior executives are advised to the Committee.

Activities of the Committee

The Committee normally meets at least four times a year and
circulates minutes of its meetings to the Board. During the
financial year, the Committee met seven times. The rolling
schedule for the Committee includes: a review of overall
remuneration arrangements; an overview of best practice;
Executive salary and total remuneration benchmarking;
Chairman’s remuneration; consideration of the relationship

of reward between Executive Directors and senior managers;
determining the level of awards and grants to be made under
the Group incentive plans; agreeing targets for the forthcoming
year; considering feedback from shareholders; and an annual
review of its own effectiveness.

Executive Directors’ remuneration policy

Tesco has a long-standing policy of rewarding talent and
experience. We also seek to provide incentives for delivering
high growth and high returns for shareholders. The Committee
believes that a significant proportion of total remuneration
should be performance-related and delivered largely in shares
to closely align the interests of shareholders and Executive
Directors. In determining the balance between the fixed and
variable elements of the Executive Directors’ remuneration
packages, the Committee has regard to policy and also

market practice.

The remuneration strategy for Executive Directors and other
key executives is tailored to emphasise the delivery of strong
year-on-year earnings growth as well as sustained performance
in the longer term. Long-term performance is rewarded
through delivery of shares and short-term performance
through a combination of cash and an element of compulsory
deferred shares. This ensures continued emphasis on strong
annual performance combined with long-term executive share
ownership, providing a strong link between the incentives
received and shareholder value delivered. A diagram illustrating
the balance between fixed and variable reward is shown later
in this report.
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Tesco operates in a highly competitive and rapidly changing
retail environment. Business success depends on the talents

of the key team, but outstanding business performance

comes from teamwork. Tesco has a stable and successful
management team and building and retaining that team at
senior levels within Tesco is important to our continued success.

We believe our incentives should support the continued
progress within the existing business, the strengthening

of our returns in the international business and the creation
of significant new businesses, e.g. the US. The Committee has
reviewed the current remuneration arrangements in light of
these requirements and concluded that a rebalancing of
incentives is required.

In order to introduce these changes we intend (i) to establish

a Group New Business Incentive Plan which focuses on long-
term business development (four to seven years into the future);
(i) to introduce an additional element into our current three-
year Performance Share Plan which targets the performance of
our existing international business; and (jii) to create a new plan
for our US executive team to ensure that we can attract great
talent to build our US business. Participation in the various
elements will be governed by the Remuneration Committee
and individual executives will be awarded incentives under the
elements which are most relevant to their sphere of responsibility.

The Group CEQ, Sir Terry Leahy, has responsibility for delivering
continued success of our core business, developing our
international business and also laying the foundations of major
new businesses. He will therefore be eligible to receive an
award under the Performance Share Plan which will be focused
on improving international ROCE.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

He will also be eligible to participate in the new business
arrangements comprising (i) a New Business short-term

bonus for the next three years of 50% of salary based on
achievement of milestones for new business development; and
(i) subject to shareholder approval, a one-off award under the
New Business Incentive Plan. The one-off award under the
New Business Incentive Plan will only be paid out in full if both
stretching new business performance targets over the period
2011 to 2014 are met and Group and international ROCE
targets are also met over the periods 2007/08 to 2011/12.

The US venture is currently the most developed new business
initiative with significant opportunity to generate shareholder
value. The concept and format of the new US business were
both created by Sir Terry Leahy, and his continued leadership
and drive are critical to the success of this start-up business.
Payment of his award under the New Business Incentive Plan
will therefore be initially focussed on the new US business;
however, the Remuneration Committee will have flexibility

to consider and include other new business development
opportunities within the proposed structure.

MrT J R Mason, the US CEO, is responsible for delivering

the successful roll-out of the US business. He will therefore
be eligible to participate in a US short-term bonus plan and,
subject to shareholder approval, receive a one-off award
under the proposed US Long-Term Incentive Plan. Payouts
under the short-term annual bonus in the start-up phase will
be subject to performance against strategic and financial
milestone targets. Payouts under the US Long-Term Incentive
Plan will be based on the delivery of a strong profitable US
business for Tesco shareholders and that success will be
measured by a combination of EBIT and ROCE targets. Awards
will be earned over the fouryears 2011 to 2014 and will be

in the form of Tesco PLC shares. Members of the US senior
management team will also participate in the US incentive
arrangements.

The remaining Executive Directors have responsibility both

for delivering continued success of our core business and
developing the operating model for our international business.
They will therefore be eligible to receive an award under the
Performance Share Plan which will be focused on both
improving Group and international ROCE.

Fixed element

Base salary

Short-term performance

Further details on the proposed New Business Incentive Plan
and the proposed US Long-Term Incentive Plan are provided
in the Shareholders’ Circular. The proposed changes to the
Performance Share Plan and the Annual Bonus arrangements
are described in more detail later in this report.

Total remuneration

The total remuneration levels of Executive Directors are
reviewed annually by the Committee. The Committee considers
external independent remuneration surveys to ensure it has
proper regard to competitive market practice. We are conscious
of the problems involved in paying unjustified amounts

and therefore monitor carefully the basic salary and total
remuneration that each Director receives. The Executive
Directors’ total remuneration package comprises, in varying
degrees, the following elements (excluding the proposed new
incentive plans which are subject to shareholder approval):

* base salaries determined by the responsibilities, skills
and experience of the individual against a benchmark
determined by reference to other large retailers, major FTSE
100 companies and international comparator companies;

e annual bonuses paid part in cash and part in shares with
a compulsory deferral of the share element for three years;

e Performance Share Plan based on stretching ROCE targets;

¢ performance-related share option awards via the
Discretionary Share Option Plan open to all senior
managers;

* benefits (which comprise car benefits, life assurance,
disability and health insurance and staff discount); and

® pensions.

Executive Directors are also eligible to participate in the
Company’s all-employee savings related share option scheme
(SAYE), Shares in Success and Buy As You Earn scheme on
the same terms as all other UK employees.

The diagram below shows the targeted balance of fixed
and performance-related elements for different levels of
performance (excluding the proposed new long-term
incentive plans which are subject to shareholder approval).

Performance-related elements

Long-term performance

v

Cash bonus

¢.15%-33% depending on individual
incentive arrangements and performance

Deferred
share bonus

v v v

Performance )
Share options
share plan

¢.67%-85% depending on individual
incentive arrangements and performance
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Basic pay

Basic pay is designed to attract and retain talented individuals.
It needs to reflect individual capability, and any changes in
responsibilities as the Company faces new opportunities and
challenges. As the Company continues to diversify into new
product areas and services as well as expanding internationally
it seeks to reflect this in the benchmarks that are used. We
aim to reflect salary levels at the top performing retailers,

the leading FTSE companies and ensure consideration is given
to international competitors in order to attract the best people
and maintain excellent performance. We also take into account
pay conditions throughout the Company in deciding annual
salary increases.

Annual cash bonus and deferred annual bonus

The Company operates an annual bonus scheme which is
delivered part in cash and part in shares. The Remuneration
Committee has typically made awards of up to 100% of salary
paid in cash at the end of the year and up to 100% of salary
paid in shares with compulsory deferral for three years. The
share element is based on achievement of stretching earnings
per share (EPS) targets, an assessment of shareholder returns
(TSR) and specific corporate objectives. The cash element is
earned through achievement of EPS growth targets and
progress on specific corporate objectives. The Committee sets
performance targets annually and confirms achievement of
performance and awards to be made.

We cannot disclose future targets for reasons of commercial
sensitivity. By way of illustration of the approach to target-
setting, the corporate objectives are based on our balanced
scorecard, the Steering Wheel, described in more detail on
page 8. Corporate objectives for the awards made in the
financial year 2006/07 included increasing sales from new
space; specific profit targets for international businesses

and for retailing services; like-for-like sales growth and the
development of the non-food business; focus on developing
trading models internationally and in non-food; enhancing
talent management and capability; and embedding the new
Community Plan and implementing international community-
related strategies.

The Committee considers TSR performance against the FTSE
100 and a comparator group of international retailers that
includes Ahold, Carrefour, J Sainsbury, Metro, Morrisons,
Safeway Inc, Target and Walmart.

Following the Remuneration Committee’s consideration of
the various performance measures in respect of the 2006/07
award, the Executive Directors have been awarded 100% of
the annual cash bonus and 100% of the deferred shares
element of the annual bonus.

As mentioned above, in order to motivate short-term
performance and delivery of success in the start-up phase of
the US business, the Remuneration Committee has agreed to
increase the potential short-term bonus opportunity for the US
CEO, MrT J R Mason, from 100% to 150% of salary in cash
and by an equal amount in deferred shares. MrT J R Mason’s
total short-term opportunity will be subject to a combination of
Group and US-specific performance conditions.

In order to reward early stage success against financial and
strategic milestones for new business ventures, the potential
opportunity under the share element of the short-term bonus
will also increase from 100% to 150% of salary for the Group
CEQ, Sir Terry Leahy (with his potential cash bonus opportunity
remaining at 100%). The share awards will continue to be
deferred for three years before release. Awards will be subject
to performance conditions which measure the successful
progress of the US business including leadership and delivery
of financial and strategic objectives, and factors such as site
acquisitions, store openings, agreed capital expenditure,
infrastructure, early turnover and financial milestones for
returns from the first two years of store openings.

Performance Share Plan

The Performance Share Plan (PSP) provides the opportunity
to earn rewards for achieving superior long-term performance.
By ensuring a focus on longer-term business success and
encouraging the Executive Directors to build up a shareholding
in the Company the Plan further aligns the interests of
shareholders and Executive Directors.
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The rules of the PSP allow awards to be made over shares up
to 150% of salary. In the year ended 24 February 2007, awards
were made over Tesco PLC shares equal to 100% of salary.
These awards will vest (together with reinvested dividends)
subject to the achievement of ROCE targets. The first 75%
of the award will vest on a straight-line basis at the end of the
three-year performance period, with 25% vesting for baseline
performance and the full 75% vesting for maximum
performance against target. The target in respect of the first
75% of the 2006/07 PSP award is achievement of 13.4%
ROCE (based on profit before interest less tax) at the end

of the three-year performance period in 2008/09.

The remaining 25% of the award will vest for superior Return
on Capital performance. The Committee agreed that it was
appropriate to exercise judgement on whether vesting should
occur to encourage Executives to make investment decisions
in the long-term interests of the business without being
unduly influenced by the impact on the ROCE target. When
determining whether some, or all, of the remaining 25% of
the award will vest, the Committee will take into account a
number of factors including:

¢ the level of ROCE achieved;

* the expected ROCE for additional and existing capital
investment;

* whether capital spend is in line with strategic objectives
and balances short and long-term investment needs;

¢ sales growth and underlying profit growth; and

e whether this reflects other developments in the marketplace.

If the Committee exercises its judgement to allow some,

or all, of the remaining 25% of these PSP awards to vest,

we will describe in the Directors’ Remuneration Report those
factors taken into account in determining the level of the
award which would vest.
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To incentivise and reward delivery of higher returns from
invested capital outside the UK (but excluding the USA), the
Committee has decided that, going forward, it will make PSP
awards within the Plan limits of a further 50% of salary to each
of the Executive Directors, except the US CEO, MrT J R Mason.
These incremental awards will vest subject to the achievement
of specific targets based on international ROCE, sales growth
and underlying profit growth.

The PSP rules currently require any vested shares to be retained
for a further 12 months. The Committee has concluded that it
would be appropriate to discontinue this requirement going
forward as it believes that the structure of the package which
delivers a significant proportion of the package in shares,
coupled with the shareholding requirement and actual levels
of shareholding, ensures appropriate levels of ongoing
executive shareholding. The Committee will be seeking
shareholder approval to remove this requirement for 2007/08
and future awards.

Share options

Options over shares with a value of 200% of salary are granted
to the Executive Directors. Options are granted with an exercise
price equal to the market value at the date of grant and any
gain is therefore dependent on increasing the share price
between the date of grant and exercise. Vesting of the options
is dependent on the achievement of performance conditions,
with the first 100% subject to the achievement of EPS growth
of at least RPI plus 9% over three years and the balance
vesting for achieving EPS growth of at least RPI plus 15%.
There is no retesting of performance.

Share options are an important part of the incentive framework
for hundreds of senior managers within Tesco. The Committee
recognises that some companies are moving away from share
options as a result of accounting changes and has again
considered the appropriateness of retaining this scheme.

Part of remuneration Performance measure

The Committee remains highly confident that the share option
plans remain in the best interests of shareholders as they
provide a clear, simple incentive arrangement for a large group
of senior management, including Executive Directors, and they
reward increases in absolute shareholdervalue.

Share ownership guideline

Executive Directors are normally expected to build and
maintain a shareholding with a value at least equal to their
basic salary. New appointees will typically be allowed around
three years to establish this shareholding. Full participation
in the PSP is conditional upon this.

Summary of remuneration elements

All awards made to Executive Directors under the Annual
Bonus, PSP and all options granted under the Discretionary
Share Option Plan are subject to the satisfaction of
performance conditions. If performance is lower than the
maximum targets, the short-term bonus and long-term
incentives will reduce accordingly. In recommending the
proposed changes this year the Committee took into account
the Group’s growing global leadership, its position as one of
the rising companies at the top of the FTSE 100 and increasing
competition from private equity in the sector. It has also
reviewed the performance conditions for each of the incentive
arrangements against the Group’s business strategy and
concluded that they provide a set of comprehensive and robust
measures of management’s effort and success in creating
shareholdervalue. A summary of the elements of the package
is set out in the table below. The proposed New Business
Incentive Plan (for the Group CEO) and the proposed US Long-
Term Incentive Plan for the US CEO have not been included

as they are subject to shareholder approval.

Purpose

Base salary

Annual cash bonus Earnings per share and specified

Individual contribution to the business success

To attract and retain talented people

Motivates year-on-year earnings growth

(up to 100% of salary)
(Additional potential of up to 50%
of salary for US CEO)

Annual deferred share element
(up to 100% of salary)

(Additional potential of up to 50%
of salary for Group CEO and US CEO)

Performance Share Plan

(up to 150% of salary:

100% for Group performance; and

50% for international performance*)

* US CEO not eligible for the 50%
relating to international performance

Share options

corporate objectives

Objectives relating to early-stage progress
in establishing the US operations

Total shareholder return, EPS and specified
corporate objectives

Objectives relating to early-stage progress in
establishing new business ventures for the Group
CEO and relating to the successful start-up of
the US operations for the US CEO

Group performance: Group ROCE

International performance: International ROCE

The Committee will also take account of sales
growth and underlying profit growth in determining
levels of vesting

EPS relative to retail price index

and delivery of business priorities

Incentivises entrepreneurial spirit and early stage
progress of US business

Generates focus on medium-term targets and
by incentivising share price and dividend growth,
ensures alignment with shareholder interests

Incentivises entrepreneurial spirit and early stage
progress of US business

Assures a focus on long-term business success

and shareholder returns

Incentivises earnings growth and Executive
Director shareholding
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Other elements

¢ Shares In Success The Group operates a profit sharing
scheme (Shares in Success) for the benefit of UK
employees including Executive Directors. The scheme
is available to employees with at least one year’s service
at the Group’s year end and is recognised as a powerful
incentive and retention tool for all employees. Shares in
the Company are allocated to participants in the scheme
on a pro-rata basis to base salary earned up to HMRC
approved limits (currently £3,000 per annum). The amount
of profit allocated to the scheme is determined by the
Board, taking account of Company performance.

¢ Save as You Earn Since 1981, the Group has operated
a HMRC approved savings-related share option scheme
(SAYE) for the benefit of employees including Executive
Directors. Under this scheme, employees save up to a limit
of £250 on a four-weekly basis via a bank/building society
with an option to buy shares in Tesco PLC at the end of
a three or five-year period at a discount of up to 20% of
the market value. There are no performance conditions
attached to SAYE options.

¢ BuyAs You Earn Since January 2002, the Group has
operated the partnership shares element of a HMRC
approved share investment plan for the benefit of
employees including Executive Directors. Under this
scheme, employees save up to a limit of £110 on a four-
weekly basis to buy shares at market value in Tesco PLC.

Pensions
The retention of key management is critical to the future

success of the business and to the growth of shareholder value.

Pension provision is central to our ability to foster loyalty and
retain experience which is why Tesco wants to ensure that the
Tesco Plc Pension Scheme is a highly valued benefit.

All Executive Directors are members of the Tesco PLC Pension
Scheme which provides a pension of up to two-thirds of

base salary on retirement, normally at age 60, dependent on
service. The Final Salary Scheme is now closed to new entrants
but has been replaced by a different defined benefit pension
scheme which accumulates each year and is based on career
average earnings.

Since April 2006, following implementation of the regulations
contained within the Finance Act 2004, Executive Directors
will be eligible to receive the maximum pension that can be
provided from the registered pension scheme. The balance of
any pension entitlement is delivered through an unapproved
retirement benefits scheme (URBS). The URBS (SURBS) is
‘secured’ by using a fixed charge over a cash deposit in a
designated account. This provides no greater security than
under the registered scheme. In particular, in the unlikely
event that the registered scheme were to be wound up with

a deficit, members would be no better off under the SURBS
arrangements than those paid out of the registered scheme.
Under these circumstances, to ensure parity, members of the
SURBS would receive the same proportion of their total
entitlement as those in the registered scheme.

Over the last few years, pension contributions by our Executive
Directors have been increasing progressively. In 2006/07, the
level of contribution was 5% of salary and this will increase in
July 2007 to 7% which will bring Executive Directors in line
with senior management’s contribution levels.

Further details of the pension benefits earned by the Directors
can be found on page 34.

Performance graph

The graph below highlights the Group’s total shareholder return
performance over the last five financial years, relative to the
FTSE 100 index of companies. This index has been selected to
provide an established and broad-based comparator group of
retail and non-retail companies of similar scale to Tesco.
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Service agreements

The Executive Directors all have rolling service agreements
with no fixed expiry date. These contracts are terminated on
notice of 12 months by the Company and six months’ notice
by the Executive.

If an Executive Director’s employment is terminated (other than
pursuant to the notice provisions in the service agreement or
by reason of resignation or unacceptable performance or
conduct) the Company will pay, by way of liquidated damages,
a sum calculated on the basis of basic salary and the average
annual bonus paid for the last two years. No account will be
taken of pension or any other benefit or emolument.

Termination payments will be subject to mitigation. This means
that liquidated damages amounts will be paid in instalments to
permit mitigation and earlier payment will be made based on
long service in line with Tesco policy which respects and rewards
loyalty. If the termination occurs within one year of retirement,
the termination payment will be reduced accordingly.

To reflect his length of service with Tesco and the early age of
his appointment as CEO, Sir Terry Leahy’s service agreement
provides for his full pension entitlement to become available
on retirement on or after his 57th birthday.
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The Committee has agreed that new appointments of
Executive Directors will normally be on a notice period of 12
months. The Committee reserves the right to vary this period
to 24 months for the initial period of appointment and for
the notice period to then revert to 12 months. The service
agreements are available to shareholders to view on request
from the Company Secretary.

Outside appointments

Tesco recognises that its Executive Directors may be invited

to become Non-executive Directors of other companies. Such
Non-executive duties can broaden experience and knowledge
which can benefit Tesco. Subject to approval by the Board,
Executive Directors are allowed to accept Non-executive
appointments and retain the fees received, provided that these
appointments are not likely to lead to conflicts of interest.
Executive Directors’ biographies can be found in the Annual
Review on page 47 and fees retained for any Non-executive
Directorships are set out below.

Company in which
Non-executive

Fee retained by
the Director in

Director Directorship held 2006/07 (£000)
Mr P A Clarke Whitbread Group PLC 45
Mr AT Higginson BSkyB 53

Note: As stated in the Annual Report and Financial Statements 2006, Mr T J R Mason
resigned from G Cap Media PLC on 14 March 2006.

Non-executive Directors

Non-executive Directors have letters of appointment setting
out their duties and the time commitment expected. The
letters are available to shareholders to view from the Company
Secretary. The Chairman meets with each Non-executive
Director separately to review individual performance. All Non-
executive Directors are subject to re-election by shareholders
every three years at the Annual General Meeting and their
appointment can be terminated by either party without notice.

The remuneration of the Non-executive Directors is determined
by the Chairman and the Executive Committee after
considering external market research and individual
contribution. Non-executive Directors receive a basic fee of
£55,000. To reflect the increased workload and responsibilities
of chairing the Audit and Remuneration Committees, the
fees received by the Chairs of each of these committees have
increased to £15,000 (in addition to their basic Non-executive
fee) from 1 March 2007. The fees received by Non-executive
Directors for membership of the Audit and Remuneration
Committees have increased to £8,000 for each committee,
also from 1 March 2007. The fee received by the Senior
Independent Non-executive Director, Mr R F Chase, who is
also the Deputy Chairman, has increased to £118,000 from

1 March 2007.

The Remuneration Committee determines the Chairman’s
remuneration, having regard to time commitment and
packages awarded to Chairmen of other companies of a similar
size and complexity. Mr D E Reid, Non-executive Chairman,
received an annual fee of £540,000 this year and has the
benefit of a company car.

Compliance

In carrying out its duties, the Committee gives full
consideration to best practice. The Committee is constituted
and operated throughout the period in accordance with the
principles outlined in the Listing Rules of the Financial Services
Authority derived from Schedule A and B of the Combined
Code. The auditors’ report, set out on page 43, covers the
disclosures referred to in this report that are specified for audit
by the Financial Services Authority. This report also complies
with disclosures required by the Director Remuneration Report
Regulations 2002. Details of Directors’ emoluments and
interests, including executive and savings-related share
options, are set out on pages 33 to 40.

Mr C LAllen
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
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Tables 1 to 8 are audited information.

Table 1 Directors’ emoluments

Fixed emoluments Performance-related emoluments
Share Short-term
Incentive Deferred Total Total
Salary Allowances Benefits (b) Plan Short-term Shares  Long-term (c) 2006/07 2005/06
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Executive Directors
Sir Terry Leahy 1,202 - 99 3 1,240 1,240 834 4,618 3,979
Mr R Brasher 622 - 59 3 660 660 - 2,004 1,622 o
Mr P A Clarke 686 - 92 3 708 708 434 2,631 2,219 ) %
Mr AT Higginson 686 - 88 3 708 708 468 2,661 2,300 m w
MrT J R Mason (a) 686 542 354 3 1,005 708 467 3,765 2,256 8 g
Miss L Neville-Rolfe (d) 90 - 15 - 67 67 - 239 - é 6
Mr D T Potts 686 - 33 3 708 708 436 2,574 2,219 'g JZ>
Non-Executive Directors = 3
Mr C LAllen 69 - - - - - - 69 58 e
Mr R F Chase 109 - - - - - - 109 100 =
Mrs K Cook 62 - - - - - - 62 55
Mr E M Davies 70 - - - - - - 70 60
DrH Einsmann 62 - - - - - - 62 55
Mr K J Hydon 69 - - - - - - 69 58
Ms C McCall 62 - - - - - - 62 53
Mr D E Reid (Chairman) 536 - 76 - - - - 612 586
Total 5,697 542 816 18 5,096 4,799 2,639 19,607 15,620

(a) MrTJR Mason relocated to the US during the year. Benefits and allowances were paid to MrT J R Mason in line with the Tesco approach to expatriate transfers including
one-off payments for relocation, and travel and localisation costs including schooling. For future years this will be reduced to a non-pensionable salary supplement and a
more focussed package of benefits which recognises ongoing expatriate costs including travel, medical and tax-related costs and services. Mr T J R Mason’s short-term cash
bonus includes cash compensation payments in respect of accumulated share rights from existing plans paid in cash as a result of his move to the US.

(b) With the exception of MrT J R Mason, benefits are made up of car benefits, chauffeurs, disability and health insurance, staff discount and gym/leisure club membership.

(c) The long-term bonus figures shown in table 1 relate to the additional 12.5% enhancements allocated in May 2006 on short-term and long-term awards under the old
bonus scheme. The long-term bonuses awarded on 20 July 2006 under the Performance Share Plan were awarded in the form of nil cost options with the exception of
Mr T J R Mason who received an unfunded promise to deliver shares. Details of this award are shown in table 6.

(d) Miss L Neville-Rolfe was appointed on 14 December 2006. The figures in table 1 are calculated from the date of her appointment.
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Table 2 Pension details of the Directors

Transfer Transfer

value value Transfer

Increase Transfer of total of total value
Age at Total Increase in accrued value accrued accrued of total Increase
24 February accrued in accrued pension of previous pension at pension at accrued in transfer
2007/ pension at pension during the column at 25 February 25 February pension at value less
Years of 24 February during the year (net of 24 February 2006 (old 2006 (new 24 February Directors’
Company 2007 (a, b) year inflation) 2007 basis (c)) basis (c)) 2007  contributions
service £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Sir Terry Leahy (d) 50/28 627 81 62 1,136 6,715 7,531 9,350 1,816

Mr R Brasher 45/20 241 58 51 542 1,554 1,806 2,559 752

Mr P A Clarke 46/32 295 36 27 309 2,365 2,735 3,364 627

Mr AT Higginson 49/9 212 39 33 419 1,806 2,065 2,711 644

MrT J R Mason 49/25 322 39 29 374 2,942 3,365 4132 765

Miss L Neville-Rolfe (e) 54/9 125 47 46 690 n/a 1,192 1,885 693

Mr D T Potts 49/34 326 40 30 387 3,051 3,487 4,281 792

(a) The accrued pension is that which would be paid annually on retirement at 60, based on service to 24 February 2007.

(b) Some of the Executive Directors’ benefits are payable from an unapproved pension arrangement. This is secured by a fixed and floating charge on a cash deposit.

(c) The method used for calculating transfer values was revised during the year. Changes in financial conditions and improving mortality rates have meant that the previous
basis for calculating transfer values, used since 2004, is not considered to produce suitable values. Transfer values at 25 February 2006 have been restated using the new
method for comparative purposes.

(d) SirTerry Leahy is entitled to retire at any age from 57, with an immediate pension of two-thirds of base salary.

(e) Miss L Neville-Rolfe was promoted to the Board on 14 December 2006. The increase in accrued pension shown is based on the increase since her date of promotion.

Similarly, the transfer value as at 25 February 2006 is based on the value of her pension as at the date of promotion.

All transfer values have been calculated in accordance with Actuarial Guidance Note GN11.

Table 3 Gains made on share options

Value Value
Number of shares at exercise price (pence) z(r)%egjgib(lz) 26%65|;ZaGb(|:)
164.0 179.42 184.0 209.5 247.0 259.0 197.5 Total £000 £000
Date exercisable 30/09/01 24/05/02 09/11/02 20/04/03 26/04/04 15/04/05 14/04/06
Sir Terry Leahy - - - - - - - - - 496
Mr R Brasher 14,088¢i) 120,220¢ii)  22,039ii) 189,546 (i) - - - 345,893 465 -
Mr P A Clarke - - - - - 328,185i) 501,266 829,451 1,026 339
Mr AT Higginson - - - — 348,178(vii) 358,301 (vii) 523,544(i) 1,230,023 2,266 -
MrTJ R Mason - - - — 348,178 (iv) — 523,544 871,722 1,023 -
Miss L Neville-Rolfe (b) - - - - - - - - - -
Mr D T Potts - - - - - - 501,266(v) 501,266 820 383
0] (ii) (iii) (iv) (v) (vi) (vii) (viii)
Date of exercise 25/04/06 28/04/06 29/06/06 10/07/06 03/08/06 22/08/06 10/10/06 19/02/07
Market price at
exercise (pence) 326.35 320.10 330.00 347.00 361.13 370.00 384.50 446.00

(a) The value realisable from shares acquired on exercise is the difference between the market value at exercise and the exercise price of the option, although the shares may
have been retained. The share price at 24 February 2007 was 446.0 pence. The share price during the 52 weeks to 24 February 2007 ranged from 316.25 pence to

446.75 pence.

(b) Miss L Neville-Rolfe was appointed on 14 December 2006. The figures above are from the date of her appointment.
(c) Gains made on Save As You Earn share options are not included above. These are detailed in table 5.
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Table 4 Share options held by Directors and not exercised at 24 February 2007
Executive share option schemes (1994) and (1996) and discretionary share option plan (2004)

Options as Options Options Options as Date
at 25 Feb granted exercised at 24 Feb Exercise price from which
Date of grant 2006 in year (a) inyear 2007 (pence) exercisable Expiry date
Sir Terry Leahy 30.09.1998 126,832 - - 126,832 164.0  30.09.2001 30.09.2008
30.11.1999 228,901 - - 228,901 173.0  30.11.2002 30.11.2009
20.04.2000 17,673 - - 17,673 209.5 20.04.2003 20.04.2010
26.06.2000 780,487 - - 780,487 205.0  26.06.2003 26.06.2010
26.04.2001 647,773 - - 647,773 247.0  26.04.2004  26.04.2011 o
15.04.2002 642,471 - - 642,471 259.0 15.04.2005 15.04.2012 o %
14.04.2003 939,747 - - 939,747 197.5 14.04.2006 14.04.2013 (E 8
30.04.2004 766,041 - - 766,041 253.25 30.04.2007  30.04.2014 g ;
22.04.2005 658,673 - - 658,673 312.75 22.04.2008  22.04.2015 wo
08.05.2006 - 709,353 - 709,353 318.60  08.05.2009  08.05.2016 |°—_° %
Total 4,808,598 709,353 - 5,517,951 44
Mr R Brasher 30.09.1998 14,088 - 14,088 = 164.0  30.09.2001 30.09.2008 3 E
24.05.1999 120,220 - 120,220 = 179.42 24.05.2002 24.05.2009 =)
09.11.1999 22,039 - 22,039 = 184.0  09.11.2002 09.11.2009
20.04.2000 189,546 - 189,546 = 209.5 20.04.2003 20.04.2010
26.06.2000 106,613 - - 106,613 205.0  26.06.2003 26.06.2010
26.04.2001 101,215 - - 101,215 247.0  26.04.2004  26.04.2011
15.04.2002 100,386 - - 100,386 259.0 15.04.2005 15.04.2012
14.04.2003 151,900 - - 151,900 197.5 14.04.2006 14.04.2013
30.04.2004 296,150 - - 296,150 253.25 30.04.2007  30.04.2014
22.04.2005 255,795 - - 255,795 312.75 22.04.2008  22.04.2015
08.05.2006 - 345,261 - 345,261 318.60  08.05.2009  08.05.2016
Total 1,357,952 345,261 345,893 1,357,320
Mr P A Clarke 15.04.2002 328,185 - 328,185 = 259.0 15.04.2005 15.04.2012
14.04.2003 501,266 - 501,266 = 197.5 14.04.2006 14.04.2013
30.04.2004 434,353 - - 434,353 253.25 30.04.2007  30.04.2014
22.04.2005 379,856 - - 379,856 312.75 22.04.2008  22.04.2015
08.05.2006 - 404,896 - 404,896 318.60  08.05.2009  08.05.2016
Total 1,643,660 404,896 829,451 1,219,105
Mr AT Higginson 26.04.2001 348,178 - 348,178 = 247.0  26.04.2004  26.04.2011
15.04.2002 358,301 - 358,301 = 259.0 15.04.2005 15.04.2012
14.04.2003 523,544 - 523,544 = 197.5 14.04.2006 14.04.2013
30.04.2004 434,353 - - 434,353 253.25 30.04.2007  30.04.2014
22.04.2005 379,856 - - 379,856 312.75 22.04.2008  22.04.2015
08.05.2006 - 404,896 - 404,896 318.60  08.05.2009  08.05.2016
Total 2,044,232 404,896 1,230,023 1,219,105
MrT J R Mason 26.04.2001 348,178 - 348,178 = 247.0  26.04.2004  26.04.2011
15.04.2002 358,301 - - 358,301 259.0 15.04.2005 15.04.2012
14.04.2003 523,544 - 523,544 = 197.5 14.04.2006 14.04.2013
30.04.2004 434,353 - - 434,353 253.25 30.04.2007  30.04.2014
22.04.2005 379,856 - - 379,856 312.75 22.04.2008  22.04.2015
08.05.2006 - 404,896 - 404,896 318.60  08.05.2009  08.05.2016

Total 2,044,232 404,896 871,722 1,577,406
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Table 4 Share options held by Directors and not exercised at 24 February 2007 continued
Executive share option schemes (1994) and (1996) and discretionary share option plan (2004)

Options as Options Options Options as Date
at 25 Feb granted exercised at 24 Feb Exercise price from which
Date of grant 2006 in year (a) inyear 2007 (pence) exercisable Expiry date
Miss L Neville-Rolfe (b) 30.04.2004 128,350 - - 128,350 253.25 30.04.2007 30.04.2014
22.04.2005 108,050 - - 108,050 312.75 22.04.2008 22.04.2015
08.05.2006 116,133 - - 116,133 318.60 08.05.2009 08.05.2016
352,533 - - 352,533
Mr D T Potts 14.04.2003 501,266 - 501,266 - 197.5 14.04.2006 14.04.2013
30.04.2004 434,353 - - 434,353 253.25 30.04.2007 30.04.2014
22.04.2005 379,856 - - 379,856 312.75 22.04.2008 22.04.2015
08.05.2006 - 404,896 - 404,896 318.60 08.05.2009 08.05.2016
1,315,475 404,896 501,266 1,219,105

(a) Executive share options are subject to performance conditions measured over three years as set out on page 30. No options lapsed in the year. The market price at exercise
is shown in Table 3.

(b) Miss L Neville-Rolfe was appointed on 14 December 2006. No options have been granted or exercised from the date of her appointment.

Table 5 Share options held by Directors and not exercised at 24 February 2007

Savings-related share option scheme (1981)

Value Value

As at Options Options As at realisable realisable

25 Feb granted exercised 24 Feb Exercise price 2006/07 2005/06

Date of grant 2006 inyear inyear' 2007 (pence) £000 £000

Sir Terry Leahy 08.11.2001 1,671 - 1,671 = 198.0 4 -
08.11.2002 2,066 - - 2,066 159.0 - -

06.11.2003 1,625 - - 1,625 195.0 - -

04.11.2004 1,424 - - 1,424 232.0 - -

02.11.2005 1,298 - - 1,298 248.0 - -

08.11.2006 - 1,066 - 1,066 307.0 - -

8,084 1,066 1,671 7,479 4 2

Mr R Brasher 08.11.2001 1,671 - 1,671 = 198.0 4 -
08.11.2002 2,066 - - 2,066 159.0 - -

06.11.2003 1,625 - - 1,625 195.0 - -

04.11.2004 1,424 - - 1,424 232.0 - -

02.11.2005 1,298 - - 1,298 248.0 - -

08.11.2006 - 1,066 - 1,066 307.0 - -

8,084 1,066 1,671 7,479 4 2

Mr P A Clarke 08.11.2001 1,671 - 1,671 = 198.0 4 -
08.11.2002 2,066 - - 2,066 159.0 - -

06.11.2003 1,625 - - 1,625 195.0 - -

04.11.2004 1,424 - - 1,424 232.0 - -

02.11.2005 1,298 - - 1,298 248.0 - -

08.11.2006 - 1,066 - 1,066 307.0 - -

8,084 1,066 1,671 7,479 4 2

Mr AT Higginson 08.11.2001 1,671 - 1,671 = 198.0 4 -
08.11.2002 2,066 - - 2,066 159.0 - -

06.11.2003 1,625 - - 1,625 195.0 - -

04.11.2004 1,424 - - 1,424 232.0 - -

02.11.2005 1,298 - - 1,298 248.0 - -

08.11.2006 - 1,066 - 1,066 307.0 - -

8,084 1,066 1,671 7,479 4 2
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Table 5 Share options held by Directors and not exercised at 24 February 2007 continued

Savings-related share option scheme (1981)

Value Value
As at Options Options As at realisable realisable
25 Feb granted exercised 24 Feb  Exercise price 2006/07 2005/06
Date of grant 2006 in year inyear (a) 2007 (pence) £000 £000
MrT J R Mason 08.11.2001 1,003 - 1,003 - 198.0 2 -
08.11.2002 2,066 - - 2,066 159.0 - -
06.11.2003 1,625 - - 1,625 195.0 - -
04.11.2004 1,424 - - 1,424 232.0 - -
02.11.2005 1,298 - - 1,298 248.0 - - ;
08.11.2006 - 1,066 - 1,066 307.0 - - E g
7,416 1,066 1,003 7,479 2 2 =
Miss L Neville-Rolfe (b) 08.11.2002 2,066 - - 2,066 159.0 - - 3 6
06.11.2003 1,625 - - 1,625 195.0 - - E JZ>
04.11.2004 1,424 - - 1,424 232.0 - - 5 3
02.11.2005 1,298 - - 1,298 248.0 - - m r:'I_:l
08.11.2006 1,066 - - 1,066 307.0 - - b
7,479 - - 7,479 - -
Mr D T Potts 08.11.2001 1,671 - 1,671 - 198.0 4 -
08.11.2002 2,066 - - 2,066 159.0 - -
06.11.2003 1,625 - - 1,625 195.0 - -
04.11.2004 1,424 - - 1,424 232.0 - -
02.11.2005 1,298 - - 1,298 248.0 - -
08.11.2006 - 1,066 - 1,066 307.0 - -
8,084 1,066 1,671 7,479 4 2

(a) Save As You Earn is an all employee share scheme. Options are not subject to performance conditions. All options are exercisable from 1 February in the year which
is six years from the year of grant. All options expire six months from their exercise date (i.e. on 1 August of the relevant year). Mr R Brasher exercised his options on
14 February 2007 when the market price was 437.0 pence. All other Directors exercised options on 1 February 2007 when the market price was 419.5 pence.
No options lapsed in the year.

(b) Miss L Neville-Rolfe was appointed on 14 December 2006. No options have been granted or exercised from the date of her appointment.

Table 6 Long-term Performance Share Plan

Date of
Share price Shares release/
on award As at awarded/ As at date from
Date of date 25 Feb options 24 Feb which
award/grant (pence) 2006 granted 2007 exercisable Expiry date
Sir Terry Leahy 28.07.2004 253.45 304,794 - 304,794 28.07.2008  28.07.2014
12.10.2005 302.75 373,245 11,059 384,304 12.07.2009 12.10.2015
20.07.2006 346.25 - 361,093 361,093 20.07.2010  20.07.2016
678,039 372,152 1,050,191
Mr R Brasher 28.07.2004 253.45 118,367 - 118,367 28.07.2008  28.07.2014
12.10.2005 302.75 181,668 5,382 187,050 12.07.2009 12.10.2015
20.07.2006 346.25 - 192,168 192,168 20.07.2010  20.07.2016
300,035 197,550 497,585
Mr P A Clarke 28.07.2004 253.45 175,774 - 175,774 28.07.2008 28.07.2014
12.10.2005 302.75 213,047 6,312 219,359 12.07.2009 12.10.2015
20.07.2006 346.25 - 206,111 206,111 20.07.2010  20.07.2016
388,821 212,423 601,244
Mr AT Higginson 28.07.2004 253.45 175,774 - 175,774 28.07.2008  28.07.2014
12.10.2005 302.75 213,047 6,312 219,359 12.07.2009 12.10.2015
20.07.2006 346.25 - 206,111 206,111 20.07.2010  20.07.2016

388,821 212,423 601,244
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Table 6 Long-term Performance Share Plan continued

Date of
Share price Shares release/
on award As at awarded/ As at date from
Date of date 25 Feb options 24 Feb which
award/grant (pence) 2006 granted 2007 exercisable Expiry date
Mr T J R Mason (a) 28.07.2004 253.45 175,774 - 175,774 28.07.2008 28.07.2014
12.10.2005 302.75 213,047 6,312 219,359 12.07.2009 12.10.2015
25.08.2006 346.25 - 206,111 206,111 20.07.2010 -
388,821 212,423 601,244
Miss L Neville-Rolfe (b) 18.01.2006 312.25 29,623 - 29,623 18.07.2008 -
20.07.2006 346.25 57,039 - 57,039 20.07.2009 -
86,662 - 86,662
Mr D T Potts 28.07.2004 253.45 175,774 - 175,774 28.07.2008 28.07.2014
12.10.2005 302.75 213,047 6,312 219,359 12.07.2009 12.10.2015
20.07.2006 346.25 - 206,111 206,111 20.07.2010 20.07.2016
388,821 212,423 601,244

(@) MrTJR Mason’s 2006 award was made in the form of an unfunded promise.
(b) Miss L Neville-Rolfe was appointed on 14 December 2006. No shares have been awarded or options granted since the date of her appointment. Those awards detailed
were made in the form of restricted shares under the senior management Performance Share Plan.

The Long-term Performance Share Plan replaced the Long-term Executive Incentive Scheme. The first award under the new plan was made in 2004. All awards except
those described in notes (a) and (b) above have been made in the form of nil cost options.

(c

o

(d) The awards are subject to performance conditions based on Return on Capital Employed targets.
(e) The awards are increased to reflect dividends equivalents as each dividend is paid with the exception of the 2004 award on which no dividends accrue.

(f

No options were exercised or lapsed and no shares were released in the year under this Plan.

Table 7 Executive Incentive Plan

Date of
Share price Shares Shares release/
on award As at awarded/ released/ As at date from
Date of date 25 Feb options options 24 Feb which Expiry
award/grant (pence) 2006 granted exercised 2007 exercisable date
Sir Terry Leahy 20.05.2005 311.0 250,626 7,399 - 258,025 20.05.2008 20.05.2015
26.05.2006 318.5 - 346,950 - 346,950 22.05.2009 22.05.2016
250,626 354,349 - 604,975
Mr R Brasher 20.05.2005 311.0 97,330 2,873 - 100,203 20.05.2008 20.05.2015
26.05.2006 318.5 - 168,869 - 168,869 22.05.2009 22.05.2016
97,330 171,742 - 269,072
Mr P A Clarke 20.05.2005 311.0 144,536 4,266 - 148,802 20.05.2008 20.05.2015
26.05.2006 318.5 - 198,037 - 198,037 22.05.2009 22.05.2016
144,536 202,303 - 346,839
Mr AT Higginson 20.05.2005 311.0 144,536 4,266 - 148,802 20.05.2008 20.05.2015
26.05.2006 318.5 - 198,037 - 198,037 22.05.2009 22.05.2016
144,536 202,303 - 346,839
MrT J R Mason 20.05.2005 311.0 144,536 4,266 - 148,802 20.05.2008 20.05.2015
26.05.2006 318.5 - 198,037 198,037 = 16.02.2007 -
144,536 202,303 198,037 148,802
Mr D T Potts 20.05.2005 311.0 144,536 4,266 - 148,802 20.05.2008 20.05.2015
26.05.2006 318.5 - 198,037 - 198,037 22.05.2009 22.05.2016
144,536 202,303 - 346,839
(a) The Executive Incentive Plan replaced the Short-term Executive Incentive Scheme. The first award under the new plan was made in 2005.
(b) The awards are subject to performance conditions based on TSR, earnings per share and corporate objectives.
() MrTJR Mason’s 2006 award was made in the form of conditional shares which were released on 16 February 2007 at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee at a
market price of 444.0 pence. All other awards have been made in the form of nil cost options.
(d) The awards are increased to reflect dividends equivalents as each dividend is paid.
(e) No options lapsed in the year under the Executive Incentive Plan.
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Table 8 Directors’ interests in the long-term incentive plan

Value of

shares Market price

Year of Award As at 25 Feb Shares Shares As at 24 Feb released Release on release

Name release date 2006 awarded released 2007 £000 date (pence)
Sir Terry Leahy 2007 08.05.00 121,771 18,811 140,582 - 624 16.02.07 444.0
2007 10.04.02 462,777 71,491 534,268 - 2,372 16.02.07 444.0

2007 09.04.03 347,308 9,103 - 356,411 - 09.04.07 -

2008 11.04.01 176,993 27,342 - 204,335 - 11.04.08 -

2008 09.04.03 619,413 95,690 - 715,103 - 09.04.08 -

2008 04.05.04 302,186 7,919 - 310,105 - 04.05.08 -

2009 10.04.02 242,859 37,518 - 280,377 - 10.04.09 -

2009 04.05.04 453,279 70,025 - 523,304 - 04.05.09 -

Mr R Brasher (a) 2007 14.05.03 33,464 876 34,340 - 152 16.02.07 444.0
2008 27.05.04 38,702 1,014 - 39,716 - 14.05.08 -

Mr P A Clarke 2007 08.05.00 50,051 7,731 57,782 - 257 16.02.07 444.0
2007 10.04.02 236,389 36,516 272,905 - 1,212 16.02.07 444.0

2007 09.04.03 185,254 4,854 - 190,108 - 09.04.07 -

2008 11.04.01 81,857 12,645 - 94,502 - 11.04.08 -

2008 09.04.03 330,395 51,041 - 381,436 - 09.04.08 -

2008 04.05.04 171,342 4,490 - 175,832 - 04.05.08 -

2009 10.04.02 124,054 19,164 - 143,218 - 10.04.09 -

2009 04.05.04 257,012 39,703 - 296,715 - 04.05.09 -

Mr AT Higginson 2007 08.05.00 70,800 10,937 81,737 - 363 16.02.07 444.0
2007 10.04.02 258,084 39,870 297,954 - 1,323 16.02.07 444.0

2007 09.04.03 193,489 5,070 - 198,559 - 09.04.07 -

2008 11.04.01 95,133 14,697 - 109,830 - 11.04.08 -

2008 09.04.03 345,080 53,309 - 398,389 - 09.04.08 -

2008 04.05.04 171,342 4,490 - 175,832 - 04.05.08 -

2009 10.04.02 135,439 20,923 - 156,362 - 10.04.09 -

2009 04.05.04 257,012 39,703 - 296,715 - 04.05.09 -

MrT J R Mason 2007 08.05.00 70,800 10,937 81,737 - 363 16.02.07 444.0
2007 10.04.02 258,084 39,870 297,954 - 1,323 16.02.07 444.0

2007 09.04.03 193,489 5,070 - 198,559 - 09.04.07 -

2008 11.04.01 95,133 14,697 - 109,830 - 11.04.08 -

2008 09.04.03 345,080 53,309 - 398,389 - 09.04.08 -

2008 04.05.04 171,342 4,490 - 175,832 - 04.05.08 -

2009 10.04.02 135,439 20,923 - 156,362 - 10.04.09 -

2009 04.05.04 257,012 39,703 - 296,715 - 04.05.09 -
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Table 8 Directors’ interests in the long-term incentive plan continued

Value of

shares Market price

Year of Award As at 25 Feb Shares Shares As at 24 Feb released Release on release

Name release date 2006 awarded released 2007 £000 date (pence)
Miss L Neville-Rolfe (a) 2007 14.05.03 28,488 - 28,488 - 126 16.02.07 444.0
2008 27.05.04 33,016 - - 33,016 - 27.05.08 -

2008 12.05.05 54,538 - - 54,538 - 12.05.08 -

2009 24.05.06 56,631 - - 56,631 - 24.05.09 -

Mr D T Potts 2007 08.05.00 54,600 8,434 63,034 - 280 16.02.07 444.0
2007 10.04.02 236,389 36,516 272,905 - 1,212 16.02.07 444.0

2007 09.04.03 185,254 4,854 - 190,108 - 09.04.07 -

2008 11.04.01 81,857 12,645 - 94,502 - 11.04.08 -

2008 09.04.03 330,395 51,041 - 381,436 - 09.04.08 -

2008 04.05.04 171,342 4,490 - 175,832 - 04.05.08 -

2009 10.04.02 124,054 19,164 - 143,218 - 10.04.09 -

2009 04.05.04 257,012 39,703 - 296,715 - 04.05.09 -

(a) Bonus shares shown for Mr R Brasher and Miss L Neville-Rolfe were awarded under the senior management bonus scheme before they joined the Board. These shares can
not be retained for an additional three-year period and enhanced. Miss L Neville-Rolfe was appointed on 14 December 2006. The figures above show those shares released since
the date of her appointment.

(b) This Plan has been replaced by the Performance Share Plan and Executive Incentive Plan. The last awards under this Plan were made in May 2004.

(c) Long-term awards from 2002 are classed as four-year cycles and Short-term awards from 2004 are classed as two-year cycles as no election for enhancement is possible
yet. Long-term awards can be enhanced from the 4th year, extending the cycle to seven years. Short-term awards can be enhanced from the 2nd year, extending the cycle
to five years.

Date of award 16.0499 08.05.00 11.04.01  08.05.01 10.04.02  07.05.02 09.04.03 14.05.03 04.05.04 27.05.04 12.05.05 24.05.06
Award price (pence) 168.83 174.00 259.25 247.50 248.00 261.50 197.25 202.88 248.75 249.88 309.88 316.88
Table 9 is unaudited information
Table 9 Disclosable interests of the Directors, including family interests
24 Feb 2007 25 Feb 2006
(or on appointment if later)
Options to Options to
acquire acquire
Ordinary ordinary Ordinary ordinary
shares (a) shares (b) shares (a) shares (b)
Executive Directors
Sir Terry Leahy 6,161,039 7,180,596 6,073,840 5,745,347
Mr R Brasher 195,483 2,131,456 226,814 1,763,401
Mr P A Clarke 1,491,104 2,174,667 1,447,286 2,185,101
Mr AT Higginson 1,674,052 2,174,667 1,649,690 2,585,673
MrT J R Mason 1,963,153 2,128,820 1,627,031 2,585,005
Miss L Neville-Rolfe (c) 255,883 360,012 265,651 360,012
Mr D T Potts 1,843,088 2,174,667 1,791,777 1,856,916
Non-executive Directors
Mr C LAllen - - - -
Mr R F Chase 52,653 - 51,662 -
Mrs K Cook - - - -
Mr E M Davies 2,400 - 2,400 -
Dr H Einsmann 209,353 - 158,673 -
Mr K J Hydon 30,093 - 30,093 -
Ms C McCall 6,408 - 6,365 -
Mr D E Reid (Chairman) 193,347 - 193,264 -

(a

Ordinary shares shown in this table include shares held as part of incentive plans shown in table 8 and shares awarded to Mr T J R Mason under the Performance Share Plan

in the form of a promise to deliver shares shown in table 6. Between 25 February 2007 and 16 April 2007, 343 shares were purchased by Executive Directors as part of the

Buy As You Earn scheme.
(b

Options to acquire ordinary shares shown above comprise options held under the Executive Share Option schemes, Discretionary Share Option Plan, Save As You Earn

scheme, and nil cost options under the Performance Share Plan and Executive Incentive Plan.

c

Miss L Neville-Rolfe was appointed to the Board on 14 December 2006. The balance for last year for Miss L Neville-Rolfe is shown as at the date of her appointment.
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are required by the Companies Act 1985 to
prepare financial statements for each financial year which give
a true and fairview of the state of affairs of the Company and
the Group as at the end of the financial year and of the profit
or loss of the Group for the financial year. Under that law

the Directors are required to prepare the Group financial
statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the
European Union (EU) and have elected to prepare the
Company financial statements in accordance with UK
Accounting Standards.

In preparing the Group and Company financial statements,
the Directors are required to:

e select suitable accounting policies and apply them
consistently;

¢ make reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates;

¢ for the Group financial statements, state whether they have
been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted
by the EU;

¢ for the Company financial statements state whether
applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed,;

e prepare the financial statements on the going concern
basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group
and the Company will continue in business.

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above
requirements in preparing the financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time,
the financial position of the Company and Group, and which
enable them to ensure that the financial statements and the
Directors’ remuneration report comply with the Companies
Act 1985, and as regards the Group financial statements,
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity
of the Annual Review and Summary Financial Statement and
Annual Report and Financial Statements published on the
Group’s corporate website. Legislation in the UK concerning

the preparation and dissemination of financial statements

may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

The Directors have general responsibility for taking such steps
as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the
Group and of the Company and to prevent and detect fraud
and other irregularities.
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Tesco PLC

We have audited the Group financial statements of Tesco PLC
for the year ended 24 February 2007 which comprise the Group
Income Statement, the Group Balance Sheet, the Group Cash
Flow Statement, the Group Statement of Recognised Income
and Expense and the related notes. These Group financial
statements have been prepared under the accounting policies
set out therein.

We have reported separately on the Parent Company financial
statements of Tesco PLC for the year ended 24 February 2007

and on the information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report
that is described as having been audited.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors

The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report
and the Group financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the Group financial statements

in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This
report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only
for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with
Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other
purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come
save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Group financial
statements give a true and fair view and whether the Group
financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation. We also report to you whether in our opinion
the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with
the Group financial statements. The information given in the
Directors’ Report includes that specific information presented
in the Operating and Financial Review that is cross referred
from the Business Review section of the Directors’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, we have not
received all the information and explanations we require for
our audit, or if information specified by law regarding Directors’
remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement
reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions

of the Combined Code (2003) specified for our review by the
Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report
if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the
Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and
controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and
control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report
and consider whether it is consistent with the audited Group
financial statements. The other information comprises only
the Directors’ Report, the Operating and Financial Review

and the Corporate Governance Statement. We consider the
implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the Group
financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to

any other information.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis,
of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the
Group financial statements. It also includes an assessment of
the significant estimates and judgements made by the Directors
in the preparation of the Group financial statements, and of
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give
reasonable assurance that the Group financial statements
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we
also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of
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information in the Group financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion:

¢ the Group financial statements give a true and fairview, in
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union,
of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 24 February 2007
and of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended;

¢ the Group financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985
and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and

e the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent
with the financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London 16 April 2007



44 Tesco PLC Annual report and financial statements 2007 Find out more at www.tesco.com/corporate

GrOUp income statement Year ended 24 February 2007

2007 2006*
notes £m £m
Continuing operations
Revenue (sales excluding VAT) 2 42,641 39,454
Cost of sales (39,401) (36,426)
Pensions adjustment — Finance Act 2006 23 258 -
Impairment of the Gerrards Cross site (35) -
Gross profit 3,463 3,028
Administrative expenses (907) (825)
Profit arising on property-related items 213 92 77
Operating profit 2 2,648 2,280
Share of post-tax profits of joint ventures and associates
(including £47m of property-related items (2005/06 — £nil)) 13 106 82
Profit on sale of investments in associates 13 25 -
Finance income 5 90 114
Finance costs 5 (216) (241)
Profit before tax 3 2,653 2,235
Taxation 6 (772) (649)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 1,881 1,586
Discontinued operation
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued operation 7 18 (10)
Profit for the year 1,899 1,576
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 1,892 1,570
Minority interests 7 6
1,899 1,576
Earnings per share from continuing and discontinued operations
Basic 9 23.84p 20.07p
Diluted 9 23.54p 19.79p
Earnings per share from continuing operations
Basic 9 23.61p 20.20p
Diluted 9 23.31p 19.92p
Non-GAAP measure: underlying profit before tax
2007 2006*
notes £m £m
Profit before tax (excluding discontinued operation) 2,653 2,235
Adjustments for:
IAS 32 and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ — Fair value remeasurements 5 4 9
Total IAS 19 Income Statement charge for pensions 23 432 303
‘Normal’ cash contributions for pensions 23 (321) (270)
Exceptional items:
Pensions adjustment — Finance Act 2006 23 (258) -
Impairment of the Gerrards Cross site 35 -
Underlying profit before tax 1 2,545 2,277

* Results for the year ended 25 February 2006 include 52 weeks for the UK and the Republic of Ireland and 14 months for the majority of the remaining International businesses.

The notes on pages 48 to 97 form part of these financial statements.
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Group statement of recognised income and eXPense Yearended 24 February 2007

2007 2006*
notes £m £m
(Loss)/gain on revaluation of available-for-sale investments 14 M 2
Foreign currency translation differences (65) 33
Total gain/(loss) on defined benefit pension schemes 23 114 (443)
(Losses)/gains on cash flow hedges:
— net fairvalue (losses)/gains (26) 44
— reclassified and reported in the Income Statement 12) 5)
Tax on items taken directly to equity 6 12 133
Net income/(expense) recognised directly in equity 22 (236)
Profit for the year 1,899 1,576
Total recognised income and expense for the year 1,921 1,340
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 1,920 1,327
Minority interests 1 13
1,921 1,340

* Results for the year ended 25 February 2006 include 52 weeks for the UK and the Republic of Ireland and 14 months for the majority of the remaining International businesses.
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Group balance sheet 24 february 2007

2007 2006
notes £m £m
Non-current assets
Goodwill and other intangible assets 10 2,045 1,525
Property, plant and equipment 1" 16,976 15,882
Investment property 12 856 745
Investments in joint ventures and associates 13 314 476
Other investments 14 8 4
Deferred tax assets 6 32 12
20,231 18,644
Current assets
Inventories 15 1,931 1,464
Trade and other receivables 16 1,079 892
Derivative financial instruments 20 108 70
Current tax assets 8 -
Cash and cash equivalents 17 1,042 1,325
4,168 3,751
Non-current assets classified as held for sale and assets of the disposal group 7 408 168
4,576 3,919
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 (6,046) (5,083)
Financial liabilities
— Borrowings 19 (1,554) (1,646)
— Derivative financial instruments and other liabilities 20 (87) (239)
Current tax liabilities (461) (462)
Provisions 21 4) )
(8,152) (7,432)
Liabilities directly associated with the disposal group 7 - (86)
(8,152) (7,518)
Net current liabilities (3,576) (3,599)
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities
— Borrowings 19 (4,146) (3,742)
— Derivative financial instruments and other liabilities 20 (399) (294)
Post-employment benefit obligations 23 (950) (1,211)
Other non-current liabilities 18 29) 29)
Deferred tax liabilities 6 (535) (320)
Provisions 21 (25) 5)
(6,084) (5,601)
Net assets 10,571 9,444
Equity
Share capital 24125 397 395
Share premium account 25 4,376 3,988
Other reserves 25 40 40
Retained earnings 25 5,693 4,957
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 10,506 9,380
Minority interests 25 65 64
Total equity 10,571 9,444

Sir Terry Leahy

Andrew Higginson

Directors

The financial statements on pages 44 to 97 were authorised for issue by the Directors on 16 April 2007 and are subject to the
approval of the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 29 June 2007.
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GrOUp cash flow statement Yearended 24 February 2007

2007 2006*
notes £m £m

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 28 3,532 3,412

Interest paid (376) (364)
Corporation tax paid (545) (429)
Net cash from operating activities 2,611 2,619

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (325) (54)
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary, net of cash disposed 22 -
Proceeds from sale of joint ventures and associates 41 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and investment property (2,852) (2,561)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 809 664

Purchase of intangible assets (174) (139)
Net increase in loans to joint ventures 21 (16)
Invested in joint ventures and associates (49) (34)
Dividends received 124 82

Interest received 82 96

Net cash used in investing activities (2,343) (1,962)
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital 156 123

Net increase in/(repayments of) borrowings 184 (109)
New finance leases 99 -
Repayment of obligations under finance leases 15) (6)
Dividends paid (467) (441)
Own shares purchased (490) (59)
Net cash used in financing activities (533) (492)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (265) 165

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,325 1,146

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (18) 16

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 1,042 1,327

Less cash held in disposal group - (@)
Cash and cash equivalents not held in disposal group 17 1,042 1,325

* Results for the year ended 25 February 2006 include 52 weeks for the UK and the Republic of Ireland and 14 months for the majority of the remaining International businesses.

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt note

2007 2006

notes £m £m

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (265) 165
Net cash (inflow)/outflow from debt and lease financing (268) 115
Net debt included within the disposal group - 55
Other non-cash movements 18 (357)
Increase in net debt in the year (515) (22)
Opening net debt 29 (4,509) (4,487)
Closing net debt 29 (5,024) (4,509)

NB. The reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt note is not a primary statement and does not form part of the cash flow statement.

o)
no
Sc
=]
z>
m g
z
Z
—
w0
>
>




48 Tesco PLC Annual report and financial statements 2007

Find out more at www.tesco.com/corporate

Notes to the Group financial statements

Note 1 Accounting policies

General information

Tesco PLC is a public limited company incorporated in the
United Kingdom under the Companies Act 1985 (Registration
number 445790). The address of the registered office is

Tesco House, Delamare Road, Cheshunt, Hertfordshire,

EN8 9SL, UK.

As described in the Directors’ Report, the main activity of the
Group is that of retailing and associated activities.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) and International Financial Reporting Interpretation
Committee (IFRIC) interpretations as endorsed by the
European Union, and those parts of the Companies Act 1985
applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling,
rounded to the nearest million. They are prepared on the
historical cost basis modified for the revaluation of certain
financial instruments.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied
consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated
financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements consist of the financial
statements of the ultimate Parent Company (Tesco PLQC), all
entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) and the
Group’s share of its interests in joint ventures and associates.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates to
bring the accounting policies used into line with those of
the Group.

Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity whose operating and financing policies
are controlled, directly or indirectly, by Tesco PLC.

The accounts of the Parent Company’s subsidiary undertakings
are prepared to dates around the Group year end apart from
Hymall, which for this reporting period have been prepared

to 31 December 2006. Hymall has a different year end to the
Group, as it is yet to be aligned with the Group year end
following its acquisition in December 2006.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases.

Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and losses or
income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Joint ventures and associates

A joint venture is an entity in which the Group holds an interest
on a long-term basis and which is jointly controlled by the Group
and one or more otherventurers under a contractual agreement.

An associate is an undertaking, not being a subsidiary or joint
venture, over which the Group has significant influence and
can participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the entity.

The Group’s share of the results of joint ventures and
associates is included in the Group Income Statement using the
equity method of accounting. Investments in joint ventures and
associates are carried in the Group Balance Sheet at cost plus
post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets
of the entity, less any impairment in value. The carrying values
of investments in joint ventures and associates include acquired
goodwill.

If the Group’s share of losses in a joint venture or associate
equals or exceeds its investment in the joint venture or
associate, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it
has incurred obligations to do so or made payments on behalf
of the joint venture or associate.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with joint ventures
and associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the entity.

Use of assumptions and estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates

and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Critical estimates and assumptions are made in particular with
regard to establishing uniform depreciation and amortisation
periods for the Group, impairment testing, assumptions for
measuring pension provisions, determination of the fairvalue
of obligations to purchase minority interests, classification of
leases as operating leases versus finance leases (including on
sale and leasebacks), the likelihood that tax assets can be
realised and the classification of certain operations as held
for sale.
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Revenue
Revenue consists of sales through retail outlets.

Revenue is recorded net of returns, relevant vouchers/offers and
value-added taxes, when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred to the buyer. Relevant vouchers/
offers include: money-off coupons, conditional spend vouchers
and offers such as buy one get one free (BOGOF) and 3 for 2.

Commission income is recorded based on the terms of the
contracts.

Clubcard and loyalty initiatives

The cost of Clubcard is treated as a cost of sale, with an accrual
equal to the estimated fair value of the points issued recognised
when the original transaction occurs. On redemption, the cost
of redemption is offset against the accrual.

The fairvalue of the points awarded is determined with
reference to the cost of redemption and considers factors such
as redemption via Clubcard deals versus money-off in store and
redemption rate.

Computers for Schools and Sport for Schools and Clubs
vouchers are issued by Tesco for redemption by participating
schools/clubs and are part of our overall Community Plan. The
cost of the redemption (i.e. meeting the obligation attached
to the vouchers) is treated as a cost rather than as a deduction
from sales.

Other income

Finance income is recognised in the period to which it relates
on an accruals basis. Dividends are recognised when a legal
entitlement to payment arises.

Operating profit

Operating profit is stated after profit arising on property-related
items but before the share of results of joint ventures and
associates, finance income and finance costs.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business that represents a separate line of business or
geographical area of operation. Classification as a
discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or earlier,

if the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held
for sale, under IFRS 5 ‘Non-current assets held for sale’.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment assets are carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment
invalue.

Property, plant and equipment assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis to their residual value over their anticipated
useful economic lives.

The following depreciation rates are applied for the Group:

* Freehold and leasehold buildings with greater than
40 years unexpired — at 2.5% of cost

e Leasehold properties with less than 40 years unexpired
are depreciated by equal annual instalments over the
unexpired period of the lease

e Plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings and motor vehicles —
at rates varying from 9% to 33%.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their
expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or,
when shorter, over the term of the relevant lease.

All tangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment in
accordance with IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’ when there are
indications that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition or
construction of qualifying assets are capitalised. Qualifying
assets are those that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to prepare for their intended use. All other borrowing costs
are recognised in the Income Statement in the period in which
they occur.

Investment property

Investment property is property held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation rather than for the purpose
of Group operating activities. Investment property assets
are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
recognised impairment in value. The depreciation policies for
investment property are consistent with those described for
owner-occupied property.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as a lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded
as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment
in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting
periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on
the Group’s net investment in the lease.
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Rental income from operating leases is recognised on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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The Group as a lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of
the Group at their fairvalue or, if lower, at the present value
of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the
inception of the lease. The corresponding liability is included
in the Balance Sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease
payments are apportioned between finance charges and
reduction of the lease obligations so as to achieve a constant
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Finance charges are charged to the Income Statement.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the
Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease.

Sale and leaseback

A sale and leaseback transaction is one where a vendor sells
an asset and immediately reacquires the use of that asset by
entering into a lease with the buyer. The accounting treatment
of the sale and leaseback depends upon the substance of the
transaction (by applying the lease classification principles
described above) and whether or not the sale was made at
the asset’s fairvalue.

For sale and finance leasebacks, any apparent profit or loss
from the sale is deferred and amortised over the lease term.
For sale and operating leasebacks, generally the assets are sold
at fairvalue, and accordingly the profit or loss from the sale is
recognised immediately.

Following initial recognition, the lease treatment is consistent
with those principles described above.

Business combinations and goodwill
All business combinations are accounted for by applying the
purchase method.

On acquisition, the assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities
of an acquired entity are measured at their fairvalue. The interest
of minority shareholders is stated at the minority’s proportion
of the fairvalues of the assets and liabilities recognised.

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the
cost of an acquisition over the fairvalue of the Group’s share
of the net assets of the acquired subsidiary, joint venture or
associate at the date of acquisition. If the cost of acquisition is
less than the fairvalue of the Group’s share of the net assets
of the acquired entity (i.e. a discount on acquisition) then the
difference is credited to the Income Statement in the period
of acquisition.

At the acquisition date of a subsidiary, goodwill acquired is
recognised as an asset and is allocated to each of the cash-
generating units expected to benefit from the business
combination’s synergies and to the lowest level at which
management monitors the goodwill. Goodwill arising on the
acquisition of joint ventures and associates is included within
the carrying value of the investment.

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least annually by
assessing the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit
to which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised.

Any impairment is recognised immediately in the Income
Statement and is not subsequently reversed.

On disposal of a subsidiary, joint venture or associate, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination
of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before 29 February 2004
(the date of transition to IFRS) was retained at the previous UK
GAAP amounts subject to being tested for impairment at that
date. Goodwill written off to reserves under UK GAAP prior to
1998 has not been restated and will not be included in
determining any subsequent profit or loss on disposal.

Intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets, such as software or pharmacy
licences, are measured initially at cost and are amortised
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Internally-generated intangible assets — Research and
development expenditure
Research costs are expensed as incurred.

Development expenditure incurred on an individual project
is carried forward only if all the criteria set out in IAS 38
‘Intangible Assets’ are met, namely:

e an asset is created that can be identified (such as software
Or NEW processes);

* itis probable that the asset created will generate future
economic benefits; and

¢ the development cost of the asset can be measured
reliably.

Following the initial recognition of development expenditure,
the cost is amortised over the project’s estimated useful life,
usually at 14%-25% of cost per annum.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
excluding goodwill

At each Balance Sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does
not generate cash flows that are independent from other
assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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The recoverable amount is the higher of fairvalue less costs to
sell, and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated

future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of the recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined if no impairment
loss had been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating
unit) in prioryears. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.

Inventories

Inventories comprise goods held for resale and properties held
for, orin the course of, development and are valued at the
lower of cost and fair value less costs to sell using the weighted
average cost basis.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the Balance Sheet consist of cash
at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an original
maturity of three months or less.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through sale
rather than continuing use. This condition is regarded as met
only when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal
group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition.
Management must be committed to the sale and it should be
expected to be completed within one year from the date of
classification.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for
sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell.

Pensions and similar obligations

The Group accounts for pensions and other post-employment
benefits (principally private healthcare) under IAS 19 ‘Employee
Benefits’.

In respect of defined benefit plans, obligations are measured
at discounted present value (using the projected unit credit
method) whilst plan assets are recorded at fairvalue. The
operating and financing costs of such plans are recognised
separately in the Income Statement; service costs are spread
systematically over the expected service lives of employees and
financing costs are recognised in the periods in which they
arise. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately

in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense.

Payments to defined contribution schemes are recognised
as an expense as they fall due.

Share-based payments

Employees of the Group receive part of their remuneration
in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby
employees render services in exchange for shares or rights
over shares (equity-settled transactions).

The fairvalue of employee share option plans is calculated at
the grant date using the Black-Scholes model. In accordance
with IFRS 2 ‘Share-based payment’, the resulting cost is
charged to the Income Statement over the vesting period.
The value of the charge is adjusted to reflect expected and
actual levels of vesting.

Taxation
The tax expense included in the Income Statement consists
of current and deferred tax.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by
the Balance Sheet date.

Tax is recognised in the Income Statement except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which
case it is recognised in equity.

Deferred tax is provided using the Balance Sheet liability
method, providing for temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

==
Z0
>3
Zm
own
>
O
(7]
43
> m
m o
K
m
Ec
U'I-U




52 Tesco PLC Annual report and financial statements 2007

Find out more at www.tesco.com/corporate

Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 1 Accounting policies continued

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the Balance Sheet date. Deferred
tax is charged or credited in the Income Statement, except
when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity,

in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in equity.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
Balance Sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset against each other
when there is a legally enforceable right to set-off current
taxation assets against current taxation liabilities and it is the
intention to settle these on a net basis.

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rate on the date of the transaction. At each Balance
Sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the Balance Sheet date. All differences are taken to the Income
Statement for the period.

The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated
into Pounds Sterling according to the functional currency
concept of IAS 21 ‘The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange
Rates’. Since the majority of consolidated companies operate as
independent entities within their local economic environment,
their respective local currency is the functional currency.
Therefore, assets and liabilities of overseas subsidiaries
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at exchange
rates prevailing at the date of the Group Balance Sheet; profits
and losses are translated into Pounds Sterling at average
exchange rates for the relevant accounting periods. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are classified as equity and
transferred to the Group’s translation reserve. Such translation
differences are recognised as income or expenses in the period
in which the operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fairvalue adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
Group’s Balance Sheet when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are non interest-bearing and are recognised
initially at fair value, and subsequently at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method, reduced by appropriate
allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts.

Investments

Investments are recognised at trade date. Investments are
classified as either held for trading or available-for-sale, and
are recognised at fairvalue.

For held for trading investments, gains and losses arising from
changes in fairvalue are recognised in the Income Statement.

For available-for-sale investments, gains and losses arising
from changes in fairvalue are recognised directly in equity, until
the security is disposed of or is determined to be impaired,

at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised
in equity is included in the net result for the period. Interest
calculated using the effective interest rate method is
recognised in the Income Statement. Dividends on an
available-for-sale equity instrument are recognised in the
Income Statement when the entity’s right to receive payment
is established.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that gives
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially recorded
at fairvalue, net of attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost with any difference between cost and
redemption value being recognised in the Income Statement
over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

Trade payables
Trade payables are non interest-bearing and are stated at
amortised cost.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its
exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks arising
from operating, financing and investment activities. The
Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments
for trading purposes, however if derivatives do not qualify
for hedge accounting they are accounted for as such.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised and stated at
fairvalue. The fairvalue of derivative financial instruments is
determined by reference to market values for similar financial
instruments, by discounted cash flows, or by the use of option
valuation models. Where derivatives do not qualify for hedge
accounting, any gains or losses on remeasurement are
immediately recognised in the Income Statement. Where
derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, recognition of any
resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the hedge
relationship and the item being hedged.

In order to qualify for hedge accounting, the Group is required
to document from inception the relationship between the
item being hedged and the hedging instrument. The Group

is also required to document and demonstrate an assessment
of the relationship between the hedged item and the hedging
instrument, which shows that the hedge will be highly
effective on an ongoing basis. This effectiveness testing is
performed at each period end to ensure that the hedge
remains highly effective.

Financial instruments with maturity dates of more than one
year from the Balance Sheet date are disclosed as non-current.

Fair value hedging

Derivative financial instruments are classified as fairvalue
hedges when they hedge the Group’s exposure to changes

in the fairvalue of a recognised asset or liability. Changes in the
fairvalue of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair
value hedges are recorded in the Income Statement, together
with any changes in the fairvalue of the hedged item that is
attributable to the hedged risk.

Derivative financial instruments qualifying for fair value hedge
accounting are principally interest rate swaps (including cross
currency swaps).

Cash flow hedging

Derivative financial instruments are classified as cash flow
hedges when they hedge the Group’s exposure to variability
in cash flows that are either attributable to a particular risk
associated with a recognised asset or liability, or a highly
probable forecasted transaction.

The effective element of any gain or loss from remeasuring the
derivative instrument is recognised directly in equity.

The associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity
and recognised in the Income Statement in the same period
or periods during which the hedged transaction affects the
Income Statement. The classification of the effective portion
when recognised in the Income Statement is the same as

the classification of the hedged transaction. Any element of
the remeasurement of the derivative instrument which does
not meet the criteria for an effective hedge is recognised
immediately in the Income Statement within finance costs.

Derivative instruments qualifying for cash flow hedging
are principally forward foreign exchange transactions and
currency options.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging
instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or no
longer qualifies for hedge accounting. At that point in time, any
cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised
in equity is retained in equity until the forecasted transaction
occurs. If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur,
the net cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is
transferred to the Income Statement.

Net investment hedging

Derivative financial instruments are classified as net investment
hedges when they hedge the Group’s net investment in an
overseas operation. The effective element of any foreign
exchange gain or loss from remeasuring the derivative is
recognised directly in equity. Any ineffective element is
recognised immediately in the Income Statement. Gains and
losses accumulated in equity are included in the Income
Statement when the foreign operation is disposed of.

Derivative instruments qualifying for net investment hedging
are principally forward foreign exchange transactions and
currency options.
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Treatment of agreements to acquire minority interests
The Group has entered into a number of agreements to
purchase the remaining shares of subsidiaries with minority
shareholdings.

Under IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’, the net
present value of the expected future payments are shown as
a financial liability. At the end of each period, the valuation of
the liability is reassessed with any changes recognised in the
Income Statement within finance costs for the year. Where the
liability is in a currency other than Pounds Sterling, the liability
has been designated as a net investment hedge. Any change
in the value of the liability resulting from changes in exchange
rates is recognised directly in equity.

Provisions

Provisions for onerous leases are recognised when the Group
believes that the unavoidable costs of meeting the lease
obligations exceed the economic benefits expected to be
received under the lease.

Recent accounting developments
Standards, amendments and interpretations effective for
2006/07 with no significant impact on the Group:

The following standards, amendments and interpretations are
mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after

1 January 2006, however, their implementation has not had

a significant impact on the results or net assets of the Group:

e Amendment to IAS 21 ‘Net investment in foreign
operation’

¢ Amendment to IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement’ and IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’ on
Financial Guarantee Contracts

¢ Amendment to IAS 39 on the fairvalue option

¢ Amendment to IAS 39 on cash flow hedge accounting
of forecast intragroup transactions

e |FRIC 4 ‘Determining whether an arrangement contains
a lease’

e |FRIC 5 ‘Rights to interests arising from decommissioning,
restoration and environmental rehabilitation funds’

Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective
but not expected to have a significant impact on the Group:

¢ |FRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ and
amendments to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial
Statements — Capital Disclosures’ were issued in August
2005 and are effective for accounting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2007. These amendments revise
and enhance previous disclosures required by IAS 32 and
IAS 30 ‘Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks
and Similar Financial Institutions’. The adoption of
IFRS 7 will have no impact on the results or net
assets of the Group.

e |FRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’ was issued in November
2006 and is effective for accounting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2009. This new standard replaces
IAS 14 ‘Segment Reporting’ and requires segmental
information to be presented on the same basis that
management uses to evaluate performance of its reporting
segments in its management reporting. The adoption of
IFRS 8 will have no impact upon the results or net assets
of the Group.

e [FRIC 7 ‘Applying IAS 29 ‘Hyperinflationary accounting’
for the first time’

e |IFRIC 8 ‘Scope of IFRS 2’

* |FRIC 9 ‘Reassessment of embedded derivatives’

e [FRIC 10 ‘Interim financial reporting and impairment’
e |FRIC 12 ‘Service concession arrangements’

Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective
and under review as to their effect on the Group:
e |FRIC 6 ‘Liabilities arising from participating in a specific
market — waste electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE)’
— effective from 1 July 2007 (date from which the WEEE
Directive is applicable in the UK)

e |[FRIC 11 ‘Scope of IFRS 2 — Group and treasury share
transactions’ — effective for periods beginning on or after
1 March 2007

Use of non-GAAP profit measures — underlying profit
before tax

The Directors believe that underlying profit before tax and
underlying diluted earnings per share measures provide
additional useful information for shareholders on underlying
trends and performance. These measures are used for internal
performance analysis. Underlying profit is not defined by IFRS
and therefore may not be directly comparable with other
companies’ adjusted profit measures. It is not intended to be
a substitute for, or superior to IFRS measurements of profit.

The adjustments made to reported profit before tax are:

e |AS 32 and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ — fair value
remeasurements — under IAS 32 and IAS 39, the Group
applies hedge accounting to its various hedge relationships
when allowed under the rules of IAS 39 and when practical
to do so. Sometimes the Group is unable to apply hedge
accounting to the arrangements, but continues to enter
into these arrangements as they provide certainty or active
management of the exchange rates and interest rates
applicable to the Group. The Group believes these
arrangements remain effective and economically and
commercially viable hedges despite the inability to apply
hedge accounting.



55

Note 1 Accounting policies continued

Where hedge accounting is not applied to certain hedging
arrangements, the reported results reflect the movement in
fairvalue of related derivatives due to changes in foreign
exchange and interest rates. In addition, at each period
end, any gain or loss accruing on open contracts is
recognised in the Income Statement for the period,
regardless of the expected outcome of the hedging
contract on termination. This may mean that the Income
Statement charge is highly volatile, whilst the resulting cash
flows may not be as volatile. The underlying profit measure
removes this volatility to help better identify underlying
business performance.

¢ |AS 19 Income Statement charge for pensions — Under
IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’, the cost of providing pension
benefits in the future is discounted to a present value at
the corporate bond yield rates applicable on the last day
of the previous financial year. Corporate bond yield rates
vary over time which in turn creates volatility in the Income
Statement and Balance Sheet. IAS 19 also increases the
charge foryoung pension schemes, such as Tesco’s, by
requiring the use of rates which do not take into account
the future expected returns on the assets held in the
pension scheme which will fund pension liabilities as they
fall due. The sum of these two effects makes the IAS 19
charge disproportionately higher and more volatile than the
cash contributions the Group is required to make in order
to fund all future liabilities.

Therefore, within underlying profit we have included

the ‘normal’ cash contributions for pensions but excluded
the volatile element of IAS 19 to represent what the Group
believes to be a fairer measure of the cost of providing
post-employment benefits.

¢ Exceptional items — due to their significance and special
nature, certain other items which do not reflect the Group’s
underlying performance have been excluded from
underlying profit. These gains or losses can have a
significant impact on both absolute profit and profit trends,
consequently, they are excluded from the underlying profit
of the Group. In 2006/07, exceptional items are as follows:

— Pensions adjustment relating to the Finance Act 2006 —
Following changes introduced by the Finance Act with
effect from April 2006 (Pensions A-Day), Tesco’s UK
approved pension schemes have implemented revised
terms for members exchanging pension at retirement
date, allowing them the option to commute (convert)

a larger amount of their pension to a tax-free lump sum
on retirement. Accordingly, the assumptions made in
calculating the defined benefit pension liability have
been revised, and a gain of £250m has been recognised
in the Income Statement during the year. Changes to

scheme rules in the Republic of Ireland affecting early
retirement have reduced pension liabilities by a further
£8m, which is also recognised in the Income Statement.
Future revisions to the commutation assumption will be
reflected within the Statement of Recognised Income
and Expense.

Impairment of the Gerrards Cross site — As detailed

in the 2006 Annual Report, the Group regards each
individual store as a cash-generating unit, with each
store tested for impairment if there are indications of
impairment at the Balance Sheet date. We are facing
continuing uncertainty in respect of our Gerrards Cross
site as a result of the complex legal situation following
the tunnel collapse. No decision has yet been taken
about the future of this site. However, at year end we
have written off the carrying value of our existing asset
there (an impairment of £35m). We are notyet in a
position to assess any recoveries or liabilities in respect
of ongoing claims.
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Note 2 Segmental reporting

The Board has determined that the primary segmental reporting format is geographical, based on the Group’s management and
internal reporting structure. Secondary information is reported by a single business segment, retail and associated activities.

The Rest of Europe reporting segment includes the Republic of Ireland, Hungary, Poland, the Czech Republic, Slovakia and Turkey.
The Asia reporting segment includes Thailand, South Korea, Malaysia, China and Japan. Following its disposal during the year, the
Taiwanese business (previously included within the Asia segment) was classified as a discontinued operation in both the current and
prior year.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated

on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly interest-bearing borrowings and taxation related assets/liabilities.
Inter-segment turnover between the geographical areas of business is not material.

Geographical segments

Rest of

UK Europe Asia Total
Year ended 24 February 2007 £m £m £m £m
Continuing operations
Revenue
Sales (excluding VAT) to external customers 32,665 5,559 4,417 42,641
Result
Segment operating profit 2,083 324 241 2,648
Share of post-tax profit/(losses) of joint ventures and associates 111 - (5) 106
Profit on sale of investments in associates 25 - - 25
Net finance costs (126)
Profit before tax 2,653
Taxation (772)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 1,881
Discontinued operation
Profit for the year from discontinued operation 18
Profit for the year 1,899

Rest of Other/

UK Europe Asia unallocated Total

£m £m £m £m £m
Assets and liabilities
Segment assets 16,323 4,552 3,397 221 24,493
Investments in joint ventures and associates 307 2 5 - 314
Total assets 16,630 4,554 3,402 221 24,807
Segment liabilities (5,602) (903) (1,031) (6,700) (14,236)
Total net assets 10,571
Other segment information
Capital expenditure (including acquisitions through business combinations):
— Property, plant and equipment 1,765 786 516 - 3,067
— Investment property - 36 22 - 58
— Goodwill and other intangible assets 197 52 420 - 669*
Depreciation:
— Property, plant and equipment 520 155 99 - 774
— Investment property - 7 4 - 11
Amortisation of intangible assets 79 8 6 - 93
Impairment losses recognised in the Income Statement (44) (35) 3) - (82)
Reversal of prior period impairment losses through the Income Statement 17 46 - - 63
Profit/(loss) arising on property-related items 98 - 6) - 92

* Includes £166m of goodwill transferred in from joint ventures, following the acquisition of additional shares in dunnhumby and Hymall.
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Note 2 Segmental reporting continued

Rest of
UK Europe Asia Total
Year ended 25 February 2006 £m £m £m £m
Continuing operations
Revenue
Sales (excluding VAT) to external customers 29,990 5,095 4,369 39,454
Result
Segment operating profit 1,788 263 229 2,280
Share of post-tax profit from joint ventures and associates 78 - 4 82
Net finance costs 127)
Profit before tax 2,235
Taxation (649)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 1,586
Discontinued operation
Loss for the year from discontinued operation 10)
Profit for the year 1,576
Continuing operations
Rest of Other/ Discontinued
UK Europe Asia unallocated Total operation Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Assets and liabilities
Segment assets 14,906 3,888 3,012 167 21,973 114 22,087
Investments in joint ventures and associates 461 2 13 - 476 - 476
Total assets 15,367 3,890 3,025 167 22,449 114 22,563
Segment liabilities (5,025) (708) (692) (6,608) (13,033) (86) (13,119)
Total net assets 9,416 28 9,444
Other segment information
Capital expenditure (including acquisitions through business combinations):
— Property, plant and equipment 1,673 549 440 - 2,662 3 2,665
— Investment property 1 10 10 - 21 - 21
— Goodwill and other intangible assets 126 12 28 - 166 - 166
Depreciation:
— Property, plant and equipment 508 146 95 - 749 4 753
— Investment property - 4 5 - 9 - 9
Amortisation of intangible assets 63 7 6 - 76 - 76
Impairment losses recognised in the
Income Statement (29) (18) - - (47) - 47)
Reversal of prior period impairment losses
through the Income Statement 29 23 - - 52 - 52
Profit/(loss) arising on property-related items 90 (6) (@) - 77 - 77
Business segments
The Group has one business segment, retail and associated activities.
2007 2006
£m £m
Revenue 42,641 39,454
Segment assets 24,493 22,087
Capital expenditure (including acquisitions through business combinations) 3,794 2,852
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 3 Income and expenses

2007 2006
From continuing operations £m £m
Profit before tax is stated after charging/(crediting) the following:
Profit arising on property-related items 92) 77)
Rental income, of which £166m (2006 — £140m) relates to investment properties (210) 175)
Direct operating expenses arising on rental earning investment properties 47 46
Costs of inventories recognised as an expense 31,104 29,640
Stock losses 581 533
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and investment property 785 758
Net impairment/(reversal of impairment) of property, plant and equipment 19 (5)
Amortisation of internally-generated development intangible assets 69 56
Amortisation of other intangibles 24 20
Operating lease expenses (a) 394 360

(a) Operating lease expenses include £89m (2006 — £71m) for hire of plant and machinery.

During the year, the Group (including its overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Group’s auditor
and network firms:

2007 2006
£m £m

Audit services
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Parent Company and consolidated annual accounts 0.6 0.4
Non-audit services
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and network firms for other services:
— the audit of the accounts of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 2.3 2.3
— other services pursuant to such legislation 0.2 0.3
— other services relating to taxation 2.3 2.5
— other services relating to corporate finance transactions 0.2 0.3
Total auditor remuneration 5.6 5.8

In addition to the amounts shown above, the auditors received fees of £0.1m (2006 — £0.1m) for the audit of the main Group
pension scheme.

A description of the work of the Audit Committee is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 22 to 26 and
includes an explanation of how objectivity and independence is safeguarded when non-audit services are provided by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.
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Note 4 Employment costs, including Directors’ remuneration

2007 2006
£m £m
Wages and salaries 3,794 3,473
Social security costs 377 271
Post-employment benefits 215 335
Share-based payments expense — equity settled 209 190
4,595 4,269
The average number of employees by geographical segment during the year was:
Average number Average number of
of employees full-time equivalents
2007 2006 2007 2006
UK 270,417 261,578 184,461 175,459
Rest of Europe 74,017 62,925 67,351 55,160
Asia 68,627 43,710 66,471 42,405
Total 413,061 368,213 318,283 273,024
Note 5 Finance income and costs
2007 2006
£m £m
Finance income
Bank interest receivable and similar income on cash and cash equivalents 56 89
Net pension finance income (note 23) 34 25
Total finance income (on historical cost basis) 90 114
Finance costs
Interest payable on short-term bank loans and overdrafts repayable within five years 34 a7
Finance charges payable under finance leases and hire purchase contracts ) (6)
4% 125m GBP unsecured deep discount loan stock 2006 (a) (5) 12)
6% 150m GBP Medium Term Note (MTN) 2006 (7) 9)
0.7% 50bn JPY MTN 2006 M (2)
7.5% 258m GBP MTN 2007 (22) (24)
6% 125m GBP MTN 2008 an (15)
5.25% 500m EUR MTN 2008 18) 18)
5.125% 192m GBP MTN 2009 13) 18)
6.625% 150m GBP MTN 2010 10) 10)
4.75% 750m EUR MTN 2010 (25) (25)
3.875% 500m EUR MTN 2011 12) - Zz
4% RPI GBP MTN 2016 (b) (16) (15) = %
5.5% 350m GBP MTN 2019 19) 19) ;_: ‘:"
5% 350m GBP MTN 2023 16) - — O
3.322% LPI GBP MTN 2025 (c) (15) a4 E =
6% 200m GBP MTN 2029 12 (12 =
5.5% 200m GBP MTN 2033 an an § 3
2% RPI GBP MTN 2036 (d) 1) - 3 %
5% 300m GBP MTN 2042 14) - “
Other MTNs an (12)
Capitalised interest 78 67
Total finance costs (on historical cost basis) 212) (232)
IAS 32 and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ — Fair value remeasurements 4) 9)
Total finance costs (216) 241)

(a) Interest payable on the 4% GBP unsecured deep discount loan stock 2006 includes £3m (2006 — £7m) of discount amortisation.
(b) Interest payable on the 4% RPI GBP MTN 2016 includes £7m (2006 — £6m) of RPI related amortisation.

(c) Interest payable on the 3.322% LPI GBP MTN 2025 includes £7m (2006 — £7m) of RPI related amortisation.

(d) Interest payable on the 2% RPI GBP MTN 2036 includes £7m (2006 — £nil) of RPI related amortisation.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 6 Taxation

Recognised in the Income Statement

2007 2006
£m £m
Current tax expense
UK corporation tax 505 555
Foreign tax 88 59
Adjustments in respect of prior years 61) 50
532 664
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 147 16)
Benefit of tax losses recognised ) (2)
Benefit of tax losses recognised — adjustments in respect of prior years - 3)
Adjustments in respect of prioryears 95 7
240 14)
Total income tax expense from continuing and discontinued operations 772 650
Income tax on discontinued operation (note 7) = (1)
Total income tax expense from continuing operations 772 649

UK corporation tax is calculated at 30% (2006 — 30%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year. Taxation in other jurisdictions
is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

Reconciliation of effective tax charge for continuing operations

2007 2006
£m £m

Profit before tax 2,653 2,235
Effective tax charge at 30% (796) (670)
Effect of:

— (non-deductible expenses)/non-taxable income 22) 25

— differences in overseas taxation rates 48 26

— adjustments in respect of prioryears (34) (54)

— share of results of joint ventures and associates 32 24
Total income tax charge for the year from continuing operations (772) (649)
Effective tax rate 29.1% 29.0%

In 2007, the UK government announced its intention to propose that Parliament reduce the UK corporate income tax rate from 30%
to 28% with effect from 1 April 2008. As of 24 February 2007, the tax rate change was not substantively enacted. If this change had
been substantively enacted, the deferred tax liability as at 24 February 2007 would have decreased by approximately £31m and the
deferred tax expense by approximately £15m. This would have resulted in a decrease in the effective tax rate from 29.1% to 28.5%.

Tax on items charged to equity

2007 2006
£m £m
Current tax credit/(charge) on:
— foreign exchange movements (20) 2
—IAS 32 and IAS 39 movement - (5)
— share-based payments 19 -
Q) (3)
Deferred tax credit/(charge) on:
—IAS 32 and IAS 39 movement - (6)
— share-based payments 47 (K
— pensions 34) 131
13 136

Total tax on items credited to equity (note 25) 12 133
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Note 6 Taxation continued

Deferred tax
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current
and prioryear:

Accelerated Retirement Short-term
tax benefit Share-based timing IAS 32 and
depreciation obligation payments differences Tax losses IAS 39 Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 26 February 2005 (798) 214 72 27 3 28 (454)
(Charge)/credit to the Income Statement (35) 19 22 3 5 - 14
(Charge)/credit to equity - 131 (O - - (6) 136
Disposal of subsidiary - - - 1 - - 1
Foreign exchange differences 4) - - 1 - - 3)
(837) 364 105 32 8 22 (306)
Discontinued operation 2) - - - - - 2)
At 25 February 2006 (839) 364 105 32 8 22 (308)
(Charge)/credit to the Income Statement (193) (46) 16) 17 (@) m (240)
(Charge)/credit to equity - 34 47 - - - 13
Acquisition of subsidiaries 9 - - 3 17 - 29
Foreign exchange differences 4 - - ) - - 3
At 24 February 2007 (1,019) 284 136 51 24 21 (503)

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset)
for financial reporting purposes:

2007 2006

£m £m

Deferred tax assets 32 12
Deferred tax liabilities (535) (320)
(503) (308)

No deferred tax is recognised on the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries and joint ventures, because the earnings
are continually reinvested by the Group and no tax is expected to be payable on them in the foreseeable future. The temporary
difference unrecognised at the year end amounted to £565m (2006 — £461m).

Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items, because it is not probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the Group can utilise the benefits.

2007 2006

£m £m

Deductible temporary differences 1 3
Tax losses 12 17
13 20

At the Balance Sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses of £131m (2006 — £96m) available for offset against future profits.
A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of £98m (2006 — £27m) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the remaining £33m (2006 — £69m) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of £10m (2006 — £nil) that will expire in 2011 and £22m (2006 — £nil) that will expire in 2027.
Other losses will be carried forward indefinitely.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 7 Discontinued operation and assets classified as held for sale

2007 2006

£m £m

Assets of the disposal group - 114
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 408 54
Total non-current assets classified as held for sale and assets of the disposal group 408 168
Total liabilities directly associated with the disposal group - (86)
Total net assets classified as held for sale 408 82

Discontinued operation
On 31 May 2006, the Group sold its business operation in Taiwan to Carrefour as part of a transaction to acquire Carrefour’s
Czech business.

The net result of the Taiwanese business has been presented as a discontinued operation in the Income Statement for both the
current and prioryears, and the net assets of the business were classified as a disposal group on the Balance Sheet as at 25 February 2006.

The table below shows the results of the Taiwan business that are included in results of the Group for the current and prior periods
included within discontinued operation.

Income Statement

2007 2006
£m £m
Revenue 46 134
Cost of sales (36) 111
Administrative expenses (14) (32)
Net finance costs - ()
Share of profit of discontinued joint venture - 1
Operating loss before tax of discontinued operation “4) )
Profit on disposal of discontinued operation 22 -
Profit/(loss) before tax of discontinued operation 18 )
Tax relating to operating loss - ()
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued operation 18 (10)

The table below shows the amounts relating to the discontinued operation that are included within the Group cash flows for
the year.

Cash Flow Statement

2007 2006

£m £m

Net cash flows from operating activities ) (6)
Net cash flows from investing activities 2) (6)
Net cash flows from financing activities 11 10
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Note 7 Discontinued operation and assets classified as held for sale continued

The table below shows the net assets disposed of and consideration received.

Balance Sheet

31 May
2006
£m
Property, plant and equipment 39
Investment property 17
Investment in subsidiary 4
Investment in joint ventures and associates 10
Deferred tax asset 2
Inventories 7
Trade and other receivables 6
Cash and cash equivalents 4
Bank loans and overdrafts (18)
Trade and other payables 67)
Tax liabilities M
Net identifiable assets and liabilities disposed of 3
Consideration received, satisfied in cash 28
Costs associated with disposal 3)
Profit on disposal 22
Non-current assets classified as held for sale
2007 2006
£m £m
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 408 54

The non-current assets classified as held for sale consist mainly of properties held for sale, including the UK assets disposed of as

part of the post-balance sheet sale and leaseback transaction (see note 32).
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 8 Dividends

2007 2006 2007 2006
pence/share pence/share £m £m

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year:
Final dividend for the prior financial year 6.10 5.27 482 410
Interim dividend for the current financial year 2.81 2.53 224 199
8.91 7.80 706 609
Proposed final dividend for the current financial year 6.83 6.10 542 482

The proposed final dividend was approved by the Board of Directors on 16 April 2007 and is subject to the approval of shareholders
at the Annual General Meeting. The proposed dividend has not been included as a liability as at 24 February 2007, in accordance
with IAS 10 ‘Events after the balance sheet date’. It will be paid on 6 July 2007 to shareholders who are on the register of members
on 27 April 2007.

Note 9 Earnings per share and diluted earnings per share

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the parent by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the parent by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year (adjusted for the effects of potentially dilutive options).

The dilution effect is calculated on the full exercise of all ordinary share options granted by the Group, including performance-based
options which the Group considers to have been earned.

2007 2006
Potentially Potentially
dilutive dilutive
Basic share options Diluted Basic share options Diluted
Profit (Em)
Continuing operations 1,874 - 1,874 1,580 - 1,580
Discontinued operation 18 - 18 (10) - (10)
Total 1,892 - 1,892 1,570 - 1,570
Weighted average number of shares (million) 7,936 102 8,038 7,823 109 7,932
Earnings per share (pence)
Continuing operations 23.61 (0.30) 23.31 20.20 (0.28) 19.92
Discontinued operation 0.23 - 0.23 0.13) - (0.13)
Total 23.84 (0.30) 23.54 20.07 (0.28) 19.79

There have been no transactions involving ordinary shares between the reporting date and the date of approval of these financial
statements which would significantly change the earnings per share calculations shown above.

Reconciliation of non-GAAP underlying diluted earnings per share

2007 2006

£m pence/share £m pence/share
Profit
Earnings from continuing operations 1,874 23.31 1,580 19.92
Adjustments for:
IAS 32 and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ — Fair value remeasurements 4 0.05 9 0.11
Total IAS 19 Income Statement charge for pensions 432 5.37 303 3.82
‘Normal’ cash contributions for pensions (321) (3.99) (270) (3.40)
Pensions adjustment — Finance Act 2006 (258) (3.21) - -
Impairment of the Gerrards Cross site 35 0.44 - -
Tax effect of adjustments at the effective rate of tax (2007 — 29.1%; 2006 — 29.0%) 31 0.39 12) (0.15)

Underlying earnings from continuing operations 1,797 22.36 1,610 20.30
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Note 10 Goodwill and other intangible assets

Internally Pharmacy
generated and Other
development software intangible
costs licences assets Goodwill Total
£m £m £m £m £m

Cost
At 25 February 2006 458 193 43 1,235 1,929
Foreign currency translation @] (2) (3) (44) (€)))
Additions 129 44 1 1 175
Acquisitions through business combinations - - 1 493 494
Reclassification across categories ) 1 ) - @]
Disposals - (3) ) Q) (6)
At 24 February 2007 583 233 39 1,684 2,539
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses
At 25 February 2006 194 109 3 98 404
Foreign currency translation - m - - 1)
Amortisation for the year 69 22 2 - 93
Disposals - ) - - (2)
At 24 February 2007 263 128 5 98 494
Net carrying value
At 24 February 2007 320 105 34 1,586 2,045
At 25 February 2006 264 84 40 1,137 1,525
Cost
At 26 February 2005 393 144 59 1,192 1,788
Foreign currency translation 1 3 4 19 27
Additions 115 21 3 - 139
Acquisitions through business combinations - - - 27 27
Reclassification across categories 1 27 23) ) 3
Disposals (52) () - (1) (55)
At 25 February 2006 458 193 43 1,235 1,929
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses
At 26 February 2005 190 82 10 98 380
Foreign currency translation - 2 - - 2
Amortisation for the year 56 19 1 - 76
Reclassification across categories - 8 (8) - -
Disposals (52) 2) - - (54)
At 25 February 2006 194 109 3 98 404
Net carrying value
At 25 February 2006 264 84 40 1,137 1,525
At 26 February 2005 203 62 49 1,094 1,408

There are no intangible assets, other than goodwill, with indefinite useful lives.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 10 Goodwill and other intangible assets continued

Impairment of goodwill

Goodwill arising on business combinations is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently
if there are indications that goodwill may be impaired. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups of cash-
generating units according to the level at which management monitor that goodwill.

Recoverable amounts for cash-generating units are based on value in use, which is calculated from cash flow projections for five
years using data from the Group’s latest internal forecasts, the results of which are reviewed by the Board. The key assumptions
for the value in use calculations are those regarding discount rates, growth rates and expected changes in margins. Management
estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect the current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the cash-generating units. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past experience and expectations
of future changes in the market.

The forecasts are extrapolated beyond five years based on estimated long-term average growth rates (generally 3%-4%).

The pre-tax discount rates used to calculate value in use range from 10%-17% (2006: 9%-11%). These discount rates are derived
from the Group’s post-tax weighted average cost of capital as adjusted for the specific risks relating to each geographical region.

In February 2007, 2006 and 2005 impairment reviews were performed by comparing the carrying value of goodwill with the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. Management determined that there
has been no impairment.

The components of goodwill are as follows:

2007 2006 2005

£m £m £m

uK 501 466 463
Thailand 113 115 107
South Korea 29 32 10
Japan 115 133 135
China 346 - _
Malaysia 64 _ _
Poland 322 331 323
Czech Republic 34 _ _
Turkey 47 55 49
Other 15 5 7

1,586 1,137 1,094
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Note 11 Property, plant and equipment

Land and
buildings Other (a) Total
£m £m £m

Cost
At 25 February 2006 15,563 4,707 20,270
Foreign currency translation (176) (46) (222)
Additions (b) 1,925 864 2,789
Acquisitions through business combinations 247 31 278
Reclassification across categories (100) 1 (99)
Classified as held for sale (391) (13) (404)
Disposals (528) (155) (683)
At 24 February 2007 16,540 5,389 21,929
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
At 25 February 2006 1,815 2,573 4,388
Foreign currency translation ()] 17) (25)
Charge for the year 240 534 774
Reclassification across categories 2 3) (1)
Classified as held for sale (40) ) (47)
Disposals (86) (69) (155)
Impairment losses 82 - 82
Reversal of impairment losses (63) - (63)
At 24 February 2007 1,942 3,011 4,953
Net carrying value (c)(d)(e)
At 24 February 2007 14,598 2,378 16,976
At 25 February 2006 13,748 2,134 15,882
Capital work in progress included above (f)
At 24 February 2007 872 158 1,030

(a) Other assets consist of plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings and motor vehicles.

(b) Includes £78m (2006 — £67m) in respect of interest capitalised, principally relating to land and building assets. The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount
of finance costs capitalised during the yearwas 5.1% (2006 — 5.1%). Interest capitalised is deducted in determining taxable profit in the year in which it is incurred.

(c) Net carrying value includes:
(i) Capitalised interest at 24 February 2007 of £716m (2006 — £655m).

(ii) Assets held under finance leases which are analysed below:

2007 2006
Land and Land and
buildings Other (a) buildings Other (a) T 2
£m £m £m £m § 9|
Zm
Cost 91 662 102 388 oo
Accumulated depreciation > =
and impairment losses (16) (480) (14) (367) ; 2
Net carrying value 75 182 88 21 ; o5
om
These assets are pledged as security for the finance lease liabilities. 2 [n)
~
(d) The net carrying value of land and buildings comprises: ; o
c
2007 2006 av
£m £m
Freehold 13,267 12,616
Long leasehold — 50 years or more 657 541
Short leasehold — less than 50 years 674 591
Net carrying value 14,598 13,748

(e) Carrying value of land and buildings includes £8m (2006 — £9m) relating to the prepayment of lease premiums.
(f) Capital workin progress does not include land.
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Note 11 Property, plant and equipment continued

Land and
buildings Other (a) Total
£m £m £m

Cost
At 26 February 2005 14,247 4,298 18,545
Foreign currency translation 198 45 243
Additions (b) 1,935 707 2,642
Acquisitions through business combinations 20 3 23
Reclassification across categories (208) M 197)
Classified as held for sale (74) (15) (89)
Disposals (555) (342) (897)
At 25 February 2006 15,563 4,707 20,270
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
At 26 February 2005 1,705 2,319 4,024
Foreign currency translation 9 19 28
Charge for the year 250 503 753
Reclassification across categories M 1 -
Classified as held for sale 5) 6) an
Disposals (139) (262) 401)
Impairment losses 40 7 47
Reversal of impairment losses (44) ®) (52)
At 25 February 2006 1,815 2,573 4,388
Net carrying value (c)(d)(e)
At 25 February 2006 13,748 2,134 15,882
At 26 February 2005 12,542 1,979 14,521
Capital work in progress included above (f)
At 25 February 2006 699 82 781
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Note 11 Property, plant and equipment continued

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The Group has determined that for the purposes of impairment testing, each store is a cash-generating unit. Cash-generating units
are tested for impairment if there are indications of impairment at the Balance Sheet date.

Recoverable amounts for cash-generating units are based on value in use, which is calculated from cash flow projections for five
years using data from the Group’s latest internal forecasts, the results of which are reviewed by the Board. The key assumptions
for the value in use calculations are those regarding discount rates, growth rates and expected changes in margins. Management
estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect the current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the cash-generating units. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past experience and expectations of
future changes in the market.

The forecasts are extrapolated beyond five years based on estimated long-term growth rates (generally 3%-4%).

The pre-tax discount rates used to calculate value in use range from 10%-17% (2006: 9%-11%) depending on the specific
conditions in which each store operates. These discount rates are derived from the Group’s post-tax weighted average cost of capital.

The following amounts have been (charged)/credited to operating costs in the Income Statement during the current and prior year.

2007 2006
£m £m
Impairment losses
UK (44) 29)
Rest of Europe (35) (18)
Asia (3) -
(82) (47)
Reversal of impairment losses
UK 17 29
Rest of Europe 46 23
Asia - -
63 52
Net (impairment)/reversal of impairment losses (19) 5

The impairment losses relate to stores whose recoverable amounts (eithervalue in use or fair value less costs to sell) do not exceed
the asset carrying values. In all cases, impairment losses arose due to stores performing below forecasted trading levels.

The reversal of previous impairment losses arose principally due to improvements in stores’ performances over the last year which
increased the net present value of future cash flows.
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Note 12 Investment property

2007 2006
£m £m

Cost
At beginning of year 785 595
Foreign currency translation (32) 36
Additions 26 21
Acquisitions through business combinations 32 -
Transfers 101 194
Classified as held for sale (4) (58)
Disposals ) 3)
At end of year 906 785
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
At beginning of year 40 30
Foreign currency translation () 2
Charge for the period M 9
Classified as held for sale = (1)
Transfers 1 -
At end of year 50 40
Net carrying value 856 745

The net carrying value at 26 February 2005 was £565m.

The estimated fairvalue of the Group’s investment property is £1,522m (2006 — £1,373m). This value has been determined by
applying an appropriate rental yield to the rentals earned by the investment property. A valuation has not been performed by
an independent valuer.
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Note 13 Group entities

Significant subsidiaries
The Group consolidates its subsidiary undertakings; the principal subsidiaries are:

Share of issued ordinary share Country of

Business activity capital, and voting rights incorporation

Tesco Stores Limited* Retail 100% England
Tesco Distribution Limited* Distribution 100% England
Tesco Property Holdings Limited* Property 100% England
Tesco Insurance Limited* Self-insurance 100% Guernsey
Valiant Insurance Company Limited Self-insurance 100% Republic of Ireland
One Stop Stores Limited Retail 100% England
Tesco Ireland Limited* Retail 100% Republic of Ireland
Tesco Global Aruhazak Rt.* Retail 99% Hungary
Tesco Polska Sp. z 0.0.* Retail 100% Poland
Tesco Stores C R a.s.* Retail 100% Czech Republic
Tesco Stores S R a.s.* Retail 100% Slovakia
Samsung Tesco Co. Limited* Retail 89% South Korea
Ek-Chai Distribution System Co. Limited* Retail 99% Thailand
Tesco Stores Malaysia Sdn Bhd* Retail 70% Malaysia
Tesco Stores Hong Kong Limited* Purchasing 100% Hong Kong
C Two-Network Co. Limited* Retail 100% Japan
Hymall* Retail 90% Republic of China
dunnhumby Limited* Data Analysis 84% England
Tesco Kipa A.S. Retail 93% Turkey

* Held by an intermediate subsidiary.

All principal subsidiary undertakings operate in their country of incorporation.

The accounting period ends of the subsidiary undertakings consolidated in these financial statements are on or around

24 February 2007, with the exception of Hymall which has an accounting period end of 31 December 2006 owing to its
acquisition by the Group at the end of Hymall’s financial year.

A full list of the Group’s subsidiary undertakings will be annexed to the next Annual Return filed at Companies House.

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of subsidiary undertakings to transfer funds to the parent, other than those
imposed by the Companies Act 1985.

Interests in joint ventures and associates
The Group uses the equity method of accounting for joint ventures and associates. The following table shows the aggregate
movement in the Group’s investment in joint ventures and associates:

e

Z0

>3

Joint ventures Associates Total % m

£m £m £m ; =

At 26 February 2005 409 20 429 ; 2

Additions 35 1 36 oz

om

Effect of change in foreign exchange rates 19 1 20 2 g

Share of profit/(loss) of joint ventures and associates 85* ) 83* ; (o]

c

Income received from joint ventures and associates (82) - (82) ;,' o
Transferred to non-current assets held for sale (10) - (10)
At 25 February 2006 456 20 476
Additions 47 3 50
Effect of change in foreign exchange rates 14) - (14)
Share of profit of joint ventures and associates 104 2 106
Income received from joint ventures and associates (123) m (124)
Disposals (a) - (14) 14)
Capital reduction (6) - (6)
Transferred to subsidiary undertakings (b) (160) - (160)
At 24 February 2007 304 10 314

* Includes £1m profit on the discontinued joint venture, Taiwan Charn Yang Developments Limited.
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Note 13 Group entities continued

(a) Disposals of associates

Greenergy
Groceryworks Fuels Limited Total
£m £m £m
Consideration received/value of assets exchanged 35 4 39
Carrying value of investment disposed of 13) M 14)
Profit on sale of investments in associates 22 3 25

The investment in Groceryworks was sold to its parent company, Safeway Inc.

During the year, the Group’s investment in Greenergy Fuels Limited was subject to an exchange transaction, whereby the Group
gave up its investment in Greenergy Fuels Limited and received a 21.3% investment in Greenergy Fuels Limited’s parent company,
Greenergy International Limited.

The transaction has been treated as an exchange of fairvalues and the profit on sale recognised on this transaction represents the
difference between 3.7% of the net assets of Greenergy Fuels Limited given up and 21.3% of the additional net assets of Greenergy
International Limited acquired. Overall, the transaction was cash neutral.

(b) During the year, the Group purchased additional share capital in three of its joint ventures, namely dunnhumby Limited, Tesco
Home Shopping and Hymall, making them subsidiary entities which have been consolidated within the Group results from the
date of acquisition onwards. For further details see note 26.

Joint ventures
The Group’s principal joint ventures are:

Share of issued share
capital, loan capital and

Country of incorporation
and principal country

Business activity debt securities of operation

Shopping Centres Limited Property Investment 50% England
BLT Properties Limited Property Investment 50% England
Tesco BLHoldings Limited Property Investment 50% England
Tesco British Land Property Partnershipt Property Investment 50% England
Tesco Property Limited Partnershipt Property Investment 50% England
Arena (Jersey) Management Limited? Property Investment 50% Jersey

The Tesco Property (No. 2) Limited Partnershipt Property Investment 50% Jersey

Tesco Red Limited Partnershipf Property Investment 50% England
Tesco Personal Finance Group Limited Personal Finance 50% Scotland
Tesco Mobile Limited? Telecommunications 50% England
Nutri Centres Limitedt Complementary Medicines 50% England
Retail Property Company Limited? Property Investment 50% Thailand
Tesco Card Services Limitedt Personal Finance 50% Thailand

T Held by an intermediate subsidiary.

The accounting period ends of the joint ventures consolidated in these financial statements range from 31 December 2006 to
28 February 2007. Accounting period end dates different from those of the Group arise for commercial reasons and depend upon

the requirements of the joint venture partner as well as those of the Group.
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Note 13 Group entities continued

The share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and profit of the joint ventures, which are included in the consolidated financial

statements, are as follows:

2007 2006

£m £m

Non-current assets 1,134 981
Current assets 3,956 4,033
Current liabilities (3,572) (3,667)
Non-current liabilities (1,225) (1,082)
Goodwill 4 185
Cumulative unrecognised losses 7 6
304 456

Revenue 638 586
Expenses (534) (501)
Profit for the year 104 85

The unrecognised share of losses made by joint ventures in the year to 24 February 2007 was £1m (2006 — £3m).

Associates
At the Balance Sheet date, the Group’s principal associate is:

Business activity

Share of issued capital,
loan capital and debt
securities

Country of incorporation

and principal country

of operation

Greenergy International Limited Fuel Supplier

21%

England

Although the Group only holds a 21.3% non-voting shareholding in Greenergy International Limited it is treated as an associate as
the Board of Greenergy International Limited requires the consent of Tesco on certain reserve matters as specified in the company’s

Articles of Association.

The share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and profit of the Group’s associates, which are included in the consolidated financial

statements, are as follows:

2007 2006

£m £m

Assets 93 72
Liabilities (85) (65)
Goodwill 2 13
10 20

Revenue 280 174
Profit/(loss) for the year 2 (@)

The accounting period ends of the associates consolidated in these financial statements range from 31 December 2006
to 31 January 2007. The accounting period end dates of the associates are different from those of the Group as they also depend

upon the requirements of the parent companies of those entities.

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of associated undertakings to transfer funds to the parent, other than

those imposed by the Companies Act 1985.
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Note 14 Other investments

2007 2006
£m £m
Available-for-sale financial assets 8 4

Other investments are available-for-sale financial assets consisting of ordinary shares, and therefore have no fixed maturity date or
coupon rate.

The fairvalue of the unlisted available-for-sale investments has been estimated using a valuation technique based on assumptions
that are not supported by observable market prices or rates. The fairvalue of the listed available-for-sale investments is based on
quoted market prices at the Balance Sheet date.

The following table shows the aggregate movement in the Group’s other investments during the year:

2007 2006
£m £m
At beginning of year 4 -
Additions 5 2
Revaluation through equity m 2
At end of year 8 4
Note 15 Inventories
2007 2006
£m £m
Goods held for resale 1,911 1,457
Development properties 20 7
1,931 1,464
Note 16 Trade and other receivables
2007 2006
£m £m
Prepayments and accrued income 128 86
Finance lease receivables (note 31) 12 17
Other receivables 771 648
Amounts owed by joint ventures and associates 168 141
1,079 892
Included within trade and other receivables are the following amounts receivable after more than one year:
2007 2006
£m £m
Prepayments and accrued income 6 -
Finance lease receivables (note 31) 6 "
Other receivables 136 118
Amounts owed by joint ventures and associates 163 121

311 250
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Note 17 Cash and cash equivalents

2007 2006
£m £m
Cash at bank and in hand 902 964
Short-term deposits 140 361
1,042 1,325
The effective rate of interest on short-term deposits is 4.8% (2006 — 3.9%) and the average maturity term is 4 weeks
(2006 — 2 weeks).
Note 18 Trade and other payables
Current
2007 2006
£m £m
Trade payables 3,317 2,832
Other taxation and social security 203 216
Other payables 1,329 1,257
Amounts payable to joint ventures and associates 128 79
Accruals and deferred income 1,062 693
Dividends 7 6
6,046 5,083
Non-current
2007 2006
£m £m
Other payables 29 29
Note 19 Borrowings
Current
Effective
interest rate
Effective after hedging
interest rate transactions Maturity 2007 2006
Parvalue % % year £m £m
Bank loans and overdrafts 5.4 5.4 2007 1,052 1,004
Loan from joint venture - - 2007 10 9
4% unsecured deep discount loan stock £125m - - 2006 - 122
6% Medium Term Note (MTN) £150m - - 2006 - 158
0.7% MTN ¥50bn - - 2006 - 247
7.5% MTN (a) £258m 7.6 5.8 2007 268 -
Other MTNs 3.4 3.4 - 188 86
Finance leases (note 31) 5.5 55 - 36 20
1,554 1,646

(a) The parvalue has been reduced from £325m in 2006 to £258m in 2007 by a buyback of part of the MTN.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 19 Borrowings continued

Non-current

Effective
interest rate
Effective after hedging

interest rate transactions Maturity 2007 2006

Parvalue % % year £m £m

Finance leases (note 31) - 9.2 9.2 - 147 84
7.5% MTN £325m - - - - 344
6% MTN (b) £125m 6.0 5.9 2008 130 268
5.25% MTN €500m 53 6.0 2008 352 366
5.125% MTN (o) £192m 5.1 5.8 2009 190 355
6.625% MTN £150m 6.7 6.7 2010 153 153
4.75% MTN €750m 4.8 6.2 2010 525 548
3.875% MTN €500m 3.9 5.9 2011 340 -
4% RPI MTN (d) £238m 6.6 6.6 2016 244 236
5.5% MTN £350m 5.6 5.6 2019 349 349
5% MTN £350m 5.1 5.1 2023 361 -
3.322% LPI MTN (e) £241m 5.9 5.9 2025 243 236
6% MTN £200m 6.0 6.0 2029 198 214
5.5% MTN £200m 5.6 5.6 2033 197 213
2% RPI MTN £204m 4.6 4.6 2036 206 -
5% MTN £300m 5.1 5.1 2042 306 -
Other MTNs - 2.2 2.2 - 176 278
Other loans - 4.9 4.9 2008 29 98
4,146 3,742

(b) The parvalue has been reduced from £250m in 2006 to £125m in 2007 by a buyback of part of the MTN.
(c) The parvalue has been reduced from £350m in 2006 to £192m in 2007 by a buyback of part of the MTN.
(d) The 4% RPI MTN is redeemable at par, indexed for increases in the Retail Price Index over the life of the MTN.

(e) The 3.322% LPI MTN is redeemable at par, indexed for increases in the RPI over the life of the MTN. The maximum indexation of the principal in any one year is 5%,
with a minimum of 0%.

Borrowing facilities
The Group has the following undrawn committed facilities available at 24 February 2007, in respect of which all conditions
precedent had been met as at that date:

2007 2006

£m £m

Expiring within one year _ _
Expiring between one and two years - -
Expiring in more than two years 1,750 1,750
1,750 1,750

All facilities incur commitment fees at market rates and would provide funding at floating rates.
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Note 20 Financial instruments

An explanation of the objectives and policies for holding and issuing financial instruments is set out in the Operating and Financial
Review.

Carrying values of derivative financial instruments and other liabilities in the Balance Sheet:

2007 2006
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
£m £m £m £m
Current

Interest rate swaps and similar instruments 12 (8) 1M1 (69)
Forward foreign currency contracts 96 (56) 59 (170)
Future purchases of minority interests - (23) - -
108 87) 70 (239)

Non-current
Interest rate swaps and similar instruments - (116) - (46)
Forward foreign currency contracts - - - )
Future purchases of minority interests - (283) - (246)
= (399) - (294)

Amounts shown as liabilities for the future purchases of minority interests refer to Samsung Tesco — £220m (2006 — £246m);
Hymall — £48m (2006 — £nil) and dunnhumby — £38m (2006 — £nil).

Fair values

Fairvalues of financial assets and liabilities are disclosed below:

2007 2006
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
value value value value
£m £m £m £m
Primary financial instruments held or issued to finance the Group’s operations:
Short-term borrowings (1,518) (1,509) (1,626) (1,641)
Long-term borrowings (3,999) (3,949) (3,658) (3,848)
Finance leases (Group as lessor — note 31) 12 12 17 17
Finance leases (Group as lessee — note 31) (183) (183) (104) (104)
Cash and cash equivalents 1,042 1,042 1,325 1,325
Derivative financial instruments held to manage the interest rate and currency profile:
Interest rate swaps and similar instruments (112) (112) (104) (104)
Forward foreign currency contracts 40 40 (113) (113)
Future purchases of minority interests (306) (306) (246) (246)
(5,024) (4,965) (4,509) (4,714)

The fairvalues of financial instruments and derivatives have been determined by reference to prices available from the markets on
which the instruments are traded. The fair value of all other items have been calculated by discounting expected future cash flows
at prevailing interest rates. The above table excludes trade and other receivables/payables, which have fairvalues equal to their
carrying value.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 20 Financial instruments continued

Analysis of interest rate exposure of financial assets and liabilities
By maturity date, the interest rate exposure of financial assets and liabilities of the Group, after taking into account the effect of
interest rate swaps, was:

Within More than

1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years 5 years Total
As at 24 February 2007 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Fixed rate (fair value interest rate risk)
Finance lease receivables 6 6 - - - - 12
Bank and other loans (210) (42) (85) 161) 19) (1,274) (1,791)
Finance lease payables (12) (10) (4) (3) (3) (54) (86)
Floating rate (cash flow interest rate risk)
Cash and cash equivalents 1,042 - - - - - 1,042
Bank and other loans (1,308) G11) (190) (532) (340) (845) (3,726)
Finance lease payables (24) (VAD) (20) 16) 13) 3) 97)

Within More than

1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years 5 years Total
As at 25 February 2006 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Fixed rate (fair value interest rate risk)
Finance lease receivables 6 6 5 - - - 17
Bank and other loans (147) 161) - (98) (153) (861) (1,420)
Finance lease payables (20) an [€©)] 3) 3) (59) (104)
Floating rate (cash flow interest rate risk)
Cash and cash equivalents 1,325 - - - - - 1,325
Bank and other loans (1,479) (386) (662) (355) (555) (427) (3,864)

Hedging activities

Fair value hedges

The Group uses interest rate swaps and cross-currency swaps to hedge the fairvalue of fixed rate bonds. The total notional amount of
outstanding swaps used for fair value hedging is £2,203m with various maturities out to 2033 (2006 — £2,710m; maturities to 2033).

The fixed rate bonds are hedged against changes to their fair value resulting from changes in interest rates and foreign
exchange rates.

The fairvalue of swaps used for fair value hedging at the Balance Sheet date was a liability of £107m (2006 — £100m liability).

Cash flow hedges

The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts and currency options to hedge the cost of future purchases of goods for resale,
where those purchases are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the purchasing company. The hedging
instruments are primarily used to hedge purchases in Euros and US Dollars. The cash flows hedged will occur within one year of the
Balance Sheet date.

At the Balance Sheet date, the total notional amount of outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts to which the Group has
committed was £764m (2006 — £548m).

The fairvalue of currency derivatives that are designated as effective cash flow hedges was a liability of £24m (2006 — £4m asset).
This amount has been deferred as a component of equity.

Also in place at the Balance Sheet date were interest rate swaps, designated as cash flow hedges, to hedge the interest cost of debt
instruments issued in March 2007 (for details, see note 32). The fairvalue of the interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges
was a liability of £8m (2006 — £nil). This amount has been deferred as a component of equity.

Net investment hedges

The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts, currency denominated borrowings and currency options to hedge the exposure
of a proportion of its non-Sterling denominated assets against changes in value due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The total
notional amount of net investment hedging contracts at the Balance Sheet date was £4,250m (2006 — £3,463m).

The fairvalue of these instruments at the Balance Sheet date was an asset of £56m (2006 — £150m liability).

The Group has a Korean Won denominated liability relating to the future purchase of the minority shareholding of its subsidiary,
Samsung Tesco Co. Limited. This liability has been designated as a net investment hedge of a proportion of the assets of Samsung
Tesco Co. Limited. The carrying value of the liability at the Balance Sheet date was £220m (2006 — £246m).
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Note 20 Financial instruments continued

The Group has a Chinese Yuan denominated liability relating to the future purchase of the minority shareholding of its subsidiary,
Hymall. This liability has been designated as a net investment hedge of a proportion of the assets of Hymall. The carrying value of
the liability at the Balance Sheet date was £48m (2006 — £nil).

Financial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting

The Group has a number of financial instruments which do not meet the criteria for hedge accounting.

These instruments include forward foreign exchange contracts, currency options, caps, collars and interest rate swaps. The fairvalue
of these instruments at the Balance Sheet date was a asset of £11m (2006 — £5m liability).

The Group has a liability relating to the future purchase of the minority shareholding of its subsidiary, dunnhumby Limited. The
carrying value of the liability at the Balance Sheet date was £38m (2006 — £nil).

Note 21 Provisions

Property

provisions

£m

At 25 February 2006 7
Additions -
Acquisitions through business combinations 28
Amount credited in the year (6)
At 24 February 2007 29

Property provisions comprise future rents payable net of rents receivable on onerous and vacant property leases, provisions for
terminal dilapidations and provisions for future rents above market value on unprofitable stores. The majority of the provision is
expected to be utilised over the period to 2020.

The balances are analysed as follows:

2007 2006

£m £m

Current 4 2
Non-current 25 5
29 7
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 22 Share-based payments

The Group has not taken advantage of the transitional provisions of IFRS 2 ‘Share-based payment’ in respect of equity-settled
awards but instead applied IFRS 2 retrospectively to all awards granted, but not vested, as at 28 February 2004.

The total Income Statement charge for the year recognised in respect of share-based payments is £209m (2006 — £190m) which
is made up of share option schemes and share bonus payments.

a) Share option schemes
The Company had eight share option schemes in operation during the year, all of which are equity-settled schemes:

i) The savings-related share option scheme (1981) permits the grant to employees of options in respect of ordinary shares linked
to a building society/bank save-as-you-earn contract for a term of three or five years with contributions from employees of an
amount between £5 and £250 per four-weekly period. Options are capable of being exercised at the end of the three or
five-year period at a subscription price not less than 80% of the average of the middle-market quotations of an ordinary share
over the three dealing days immediately preceding the offer date.

ii) The Irish savings-related share option scheme (2000) permits the grant to Irish employees of options in respect of ordinary
shares linked to a building society/bank save-as-you-earn contract for a term of three or five years with contributions from
employees of an amount between €12 and €320 per four-weekly period. Options are capable of being exercised at the end
of the three or five-year period at a subscription price not less than 80% of the average of the middle-market quotations of
an ordinary share over the three dealing days immediately preceding the offer date.

iii) The approved executive share option scheme (1994) was adopted on 17 October 1994. The exercise of options granted under
this scheme will normally be conditional upon the achievement of a specified performance target related to the growth in
earnings per share over a three-year period. No further options will be granted under this scheme and it has been replaced by
the discretionary share option plan (2004). There were no discounted options granted under this scheme.

iv) The unapproved executive share option scheme (1996) was adopted on 7 June 1996. This scheme was introduced following
legislative changes which limited the number of options which could be granted under the previous scheme. The exercise of
options granted under this scheme will normally be conditional upon the achievement of a specified performance target related
to the growth in earnings per share over a three-year period. No further options will be granted under this scheme and it has
been replaced by the discretionary share option plan (2004). There were no discounted options granted under this scheme.

v) The international executive share option scheme (1994) was adopted on 20 May 1994. This scheme permits the grant to selected
non-UK executives of options to acquire ordinary shares on substantially the same basis as their UK counterparts. The exercise of
options granted under this scheme will normally be conditional on the achievement of a specified performance target related to
the growth in earnings per share over a three-year period. No further options will be granted under this scheme and it has been
replaced by the discretionary share option plan (2004). There were no discounted options granted under this scheme.

vi) The executive incentive plan (2004) was adopted on 4 July 2004. This scheme permits the grant of options in respect of
ordinary shares to selected executives. Options are normally exercisable between three and ten years from the date of grant
for nil consideration.

vii) The performance share plan (2004) was adopted on 4 July 2004. This scheme permits the grant of options in respect of
ordinary shares to selected executives. Options are normally exercisable between four and ten years from the date of grant for nil
consideration. The exercise of options will normally be conditional on the achievement of specified performance targets related
to the return on capital employed over a three-year period.

viii) The discretionary share option plan (2004) was adopted on 4 July 2004. This scheme permits the grant of approved,
unapproved and international options in respect of ordinary shares to selected executives. Options are normally exercisable
between three and ten years from the date of grant at a price not less than the middle-market quotation or average middle-
market quotations of an ordinary share for the dealing day or three dealing days preceding the date of grant. The exercise of
options will normally be conditional on the achievement of a specified performance target related to the annual percentage
growth in earnings per share over a three-year period. There will be no discounted options granted under this scheme.
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Note 22 Share-based payments continued

The following tables reconcile the number of share options outstanding and the weighted average exercise price (WAEP):
For the year ended 24 February 2007

Savings-related Irish savings-related Approved Unapproved International executive Nil cost
share option scheme share option scheme share option scheme share option scheme share option scheme share options
Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP
Outstanding at
25 February
2006 181,166,780 211.42 4,705,023 21796 17,947,537 248.11 95,519,321 242.28 28,097,456 251.69 3,459,458 0.00
Granted 38,895,396 307.00 1,532,291 307.00 5,166,957 316.87 18,751,718 320.22 11,538,336 318.60 2,350,549 0.00
Forfeited (10,898,678) 219.50 (508,283) 215.69 (931,795) 293.25 (3,090,496) 278.00 (1,352,164) 249.71 - -
Exercised (36,060,390) 193.52 (801,622) 190.99 (5,327,666) 220.10 (28,653,628) 216.21 (5,155,523) 221.25 - -
Outstanding at
24 February
2007 173,103,108 236.12 4,927,409 250.27 16,855,033 276.19 82,526,915 267.70 33,128,105 280.68 5,810,007 0.00
Exercisable as at
24 February
2007 5,320,960 196.51 215,648 195.70 5,674,314 226.02 27,295,331 21890 8,386,290 214.42 - -
Exercise price 195.00 to 195.00 to 197.50 to 164.00 to 176.70 to
range (pence) 198.00 198.00 259.00 259.00 259.00 Nil
Weighted average
remaining
contractual
life (years) 0.20 0.20 4.42 4.73 4.39 -
For the year ended 25 February 2006
Savings-related Irish savings-related Approved Unapproved  International executive Nil cost
share option scheme share option scheme share option scheme share option scheme share option scheme share options
Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP
Outstanding at
26 February
2005 186,022,500 194.78 4,895,103 190.80 21,290,693 222.10 97,695,342 227.08 23,025,502 227.10 1,126,257 0.00
Granted 44,347,668 248.00 1,673,357 248.00 4,401,080 312.75 17,483,188 312.75 8,989,071 309.54 2,333,201 0.00
Forfeited (11,451,171) 200.07 (416,444) 192.11  (1,316,210) 233.62 (4,543,756) 239.06 (1,086,847) 240.94 - -
Exercised (37,752,217) 175.82 (1,446,993) 168.25 (6,428,026) 209.19 (15,115,453) 226.56 (2,830,270) 239.54 - -
Outstanding at
25 February
2006 181,166,780 211.42 4,705,023 217.96 17,947,537 248.11 95,519,321 242.28 28,097,456 251.69 3,459,458 0.00
Exercisable as at
25 February
2006 5,904,791 196.90 227,107 169.95 7,721,660 231.70 28,646,347 232.85 7,958,413 224.75 - -
Exercise price 159.00 to 159.00 to 205.00 to 164.00 to 176.70 to
range (pence) 198.00 198.00 259.00 259.00 259.00 Nil
Weighted average
remaining
contractual
life (years) 0.19 0.19 5.02 4.97 4.73 -
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 22 Share-based payments continued

Share options were exercised on a regular basis throughout the year. The average share price during the year to 24 February 2007
was 369.70 pence (2006 — 317.79 pence).

The fairvalue of share options is estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The following table
gives the assumptions applied to the options granted in the respective periods shown. No assumption has been made to
incorporate the effects of expected early exercise.

2007 2006

Savings- Savings-
related Executive Nil cost related Executive Nil cost
share option share option option share option share option option
schemes schemes schemes schemes schemes schemes
Expected dividend yield (%) 2.7% 3.0% 2.7% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Expected volatility (%) 28% 28% 28% 28% 28% 28%
Risk-free interest rate (%) 4.8% 4.7% 4.6% 4.4% 4.2% 4.2%
Expected life of option (years) 3or5 6 6 3or5 6 6
Weighted average fair value of options granted (pence) 122.02 81.63 282.97 93.55 77.24 256.75
Probability of forfeiture (%) 20-25% 10% 0% 20-25% 10% 0%
Share price (pence) 383.80 318.60 332.74 310.0 312.80 307.38
Weighted average exercise price (pence) 307.00 318.60 0.0 248.00 312.75 0.0

Volatility is @ measure of the amount by which a price is expected to fluctuate during a period. The measure of volatility used in Tesco
PLC option pricing models is the annualised standard deviation of the continuously compounded rates of return on the share over a
period of time. In estimating the future volatility of the Company’s share price, the Board consider the historical volatility of the share
price over the most recent period that is generally commensurate with the expected term of the option, taking into account the
remaining contractual life of the option.

b) Share bonus schemes
Eligible UK employees are able to participate in Shares in Success, an all-employee profit sharing scheme. Each year, shares are
awarded as a percentage of earnings up to a statutory maximum of £3,000.

Senior management also participate in performance-related bonus schemes. The amount paid to employees is based on a
percentage of salary and is paid partly in cash and partly in shares. Bonuses are awarded to eligible employees that have completed
a required service period and depend on the achievement of corporate targets. The accrued cash element of the bonus at the
Balance Sheet date is £17m.

The Executive Directors participate in short-term and long-term bonus schemes designed to align their interests with those of
shareholders. Full details of these schemes can be found in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

The fairvalue of shares awarded under these schemes is their market value on the date of award. Expected dividends are not
incorporated into the fairvalue.

The number and weighted average fair value (WAFV) of share bonuses awarded during the period was:

2007 2006

Shares WAFV Shares WAFV

Number Pence Number Pence

Shares in Success 24,062,964 319.65 22,337,747 309.75

Executive incentive scheme 13,559,635 316.88 13,283,243 309.88
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Note 23 Post-employment benefits

Pensions

The Group operates a variety of post-employment benefit arrangements, covering both funded defined contribution and funded
and unfunded defined benefit schemes. The most significant of these are the funded defined benefit schemes for the Group’s
employees in the UK and the Republic of Ireland.

Defined contribution plans
The contributions payable for defined contribution schemes of £7m (2006 — £7m) have been fully expensed against profits in the
current year.

Defined benefit plans

United Kingdom

The principal plan within the Group is the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme, which is a funded defined benefit pension scheme in the UK,
the assets of which are held as a segregated fund and administered by trustees. Watson Wyatt Limited, an independent actuary,
carried out the latest triennial actuarial assessment of the scheme as at 31 March 2005, using the projected unit method.

At the date of the last actuarial valuation the actuarial deficit was £153m. The market value of the schemes’ assets was £2,632m
and these assets represented 95% of the benefits that had accrued to members, after allowing for expected increases in earnings
and pensions in payment.

The One Stop Senior Executive Pension Scheme is a funded defined benefit scheme open to senior executives and certain other
employees at the invitation of the company. An independent actuary, using the projected unit method, carried out the latest
actuarial assessment of the scheme as at 5 April 2004.

Overseas
The most significant overseas scheme is the funded defined benefit scheme which operates in the Republic of Ireland. An independent
actuary, using the projected unit method, carried out the latest actuarial assessment of the scheme as at 1 April 2004.

The valuations used for IAS 19 have been based on the most recent actuarial valuations and updated by Watson Wyatt Limited to
take account of the requirements of IAS 19 in order to assess the liabilities of the schemes as at 24 February 2007. The schemes’
assets are stated at their market values as at 24 February 2007. Buck Consultants (Ireland) Limited have updated the most recent
Republic of Ireland valuation. The liabilities relating to retirement healthcare benefits have also been determined in accordance with
IAS 19, and are incorporated in the following tables.

Principal assumptions

The valuations used have been based on the most recent actuarial valuations and updated by Watson Wyatt Limited to take account
of the requirements of IAS 19 in order to assess the liabilities of the schemes as at 24 February 2007. The major assumptions, on a
weighted average basis, used by the actuaries were as follows:

2007 2006 2005

% % %

Rate of increase in salaries 4.5 4.0 3.9
Rate of increase in pensions in payment 3.0 2.7 2.6
Rate of increase in deferred pensions 3.0 2.7 2.6
Rate of increase in career average benefits 3.0 2.7 2.6
Discount rate 5.2 4.8 5.4
Price inflation 3.0 2.7 2.6

The main financial assumption is the real discount rate i.e. the excess of the discount rate over the rate of price inflation. If this
assumption increased/decreased by 0.1%, the UK defined benefit obligation would decrease/increase by approximately £105m and
the annual UK current service cost would decrease/increase by between £12m and £13m.
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UK mortality assumptions

Following analysis of the mortality trends under the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme in the UK, which was carried out as part of the
formal valuation of the Scheme as at 31 March 2005, it was decided to alter the mortality assumptions used in the formal valuation.
The updated mortality tables as at 31 March 2005 were PMA92C00 for male members and PFA92C00 for female members.
Similar to last year, this change has been carried through into the calculation of the pension liabilities in the Balance Sheet as

at 24 February 2007 for the main UK fund.
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Note 23 Post-employment benefits continued

The following table illustrates the expectation of life of an average member retiring at age 65 at the Balance Sheet date and
a member reaching age 65 at the same date +25 years.

At 24 Feb At 25 Feb
) 2007 ) 2006
in years in years
Retiring at Reporting date at age 65: Male 17.5 17.5
Female 21.9 21.8
Retiring at Reporting date +25 years at age 65: Male 18.4 18.4
Female 23.0 23.0
Rates of return on scheme assets

The assets in the defined benefit pension schemes and the expected rates of return were:
2007 2006 2005
Long term Market Long term Market Long term Market
rate of return value rate of return value rate of return value
% £m % £m % £m
Equities 8.1 2,420 8.1 2,134 8.2 1,908
Bonds 5.2 812 4.8 656 5.4 560
Property 6.7 343 6.4 253 6.8 183
Other (alternative assets) 8.1 384 8.1 282 - -
Cash 4.0 48 3.7 123 3.5 67
Total market value of assets 4,007 3,448 2,718

The expected rate of return on assets is a weighted average based on the actual plan assets held and the respective returns
expected on the separate asset classes. The expected rate of return on equities and cash have both been set with reference to the
expected median return over a ten year period, as calculated by the Company’s independent actuary. The median return over a
longer period than ten years was not expected to be materially different. The expected rate of return on bonds was measured
directly from actual market yields for gilts and corporate bond stocks. The rate above takes into account the actual mixture of UK
gilts, UK corporate bonds and overseas bonds held at the Balance Sheet date.

Movement in pension deficit during the year
Changes in the fairvalue of defined benefit pension plan assets are as follows:

2007 2006

£m £m

Opening fairvalue of plan assets 3,448 2,718
Expected return 255 209
Actuarial gains 82 309
Contributions by employer 321 270
Actual member contributions 7 6
Foreign currency translation differences 2 -
Benefits paid (104) 64)

Closing fairvalue of plan assets 4,007 3,448
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Note 23 Post-employment benefits continued

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations are as follows:

2007 2006

£m £m

Opening defined benefit obligation (4,659) (3,453)
Current service cost (466) (328)
Interest cost (221) (184)
Gain/(loss) on change of assumptions 71 (727)
Experience losses (41) (24)
Foreign currency translation differences 4 (1
Benefits paid 104 64
Actual member contributions (7) (6)
Past service gains 258 -
Closing defined benefit obligation (4,957) (4,659)

The amounts that have been charged to the Income Statement and Statement of Recognised Income and Expense for the year
ended 24 February 2007 are set out below:

2007 2006
£m £m
Analysis of the amount (charged)/credited to operating profit:
Current service cost (466) (328)
Past service gains 258 -
Total charge to operating profit (208) (328)
Analysis of the amount credited/(charged) to finance income:
Expected return on pension schemes’ assets 255 209
Interest on pension schemes’ liabilities 221) (184)
Net pension finance income (note 5) 34 25
Total charge to the Income Statement (174) (303)

In line with changes to the Finance Act 2006, the scheme rules were amended from 6 April 2006 to allow employees to commute
(convert) a larger proportion of their pension for a cash lump sum at retirement. Accordingly, the assumptions made in calculating
the Group’s defined benefit pension liability have been revised, resulting in a gain of £250m being recognised in Group operating
profit. Future revisions to this assumption will be reflected in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense. Changes to
scheme rules in the Republic of Ireland affecting early retirement have reduced pension liabilities by a further £8m, which is also
shown as a past service gain in the Income Statement.

2007 2006 2005 m

£m £m £m = g

Analysis of the amount recognised in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense: :z> ;
Actual return less expected return on pension schemes’ assets 82 309 66 ;—: ‘f,
Experience losses arising on the schemes’ liabilities 41) 24) 14) ; 2
Currency gain/(loss) 2 m - E: rIn
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the schemes’ liabilities 71 (727) (282) 2 g
Total gain/(loss) recognised in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense 114 (443) (230) ; g
; )

The cumulative losses recognised through the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense since the date of transition to IFRS
are £559m (2006 — £673m).




86 Tesco PLC Annual report and financial statements 2007

Find out more at www.tesco.com/corporate

Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 23 Post-employment benefits continued

Summary of movements in deficit during the year

2007 2006 2005

£m £m £m

Deficit in schemes at beginning of the year (1,211) (735) (674)
Current service cost (466) (328) (272)
Past service gains 258 - -
Other finance income 34 25 4
Contributions 321 270 437*
Foreign currency translation differences 2 Q] -
Actuarial gain/(loss) 112 (442) (230)
Deficit in schemes at end of the year (950) (1,211) (735)

* Includes additional contribution of £200m paid in February 2005.

History of movements

The historical movement in defined benefit pension schemes assets and liabilities and history of experience gains and losses are

as follows:
2007 2006 2005 2004
£m £m £m £m
Total market value of assets 4,007 3,448 2,718 1,979
Present value of liabilities relating to unfunded schemes 7) 7 12) 5)
Present value of liabilities relating to partially funded schemes (4,930) (4,642) (3,441) (2,648)
Pension deficit (950) (1,211) (735) (674)
Experience gains on scheme assets 82 309 66 192
Experience losses on plan liabilities 41) 24) 14) (48)

Post-employment benefits other than pensions

The Company operates a scheme offering retirement healthcare benefits. The cost of providing these benefits has been accounted

for on a similar basis to that used for defined benefit pension schemes.

The liability as at 24 February 2007 of £11m (2006 — £10m) was determined in accordance with the advice of independent actuaries.
In 2006/07, £0.5m (2006 — £0.5m) has been charged to the Income Statement and £0.6m (2006 — £0.7m) of benefits were paid.

A change of 1.0% in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the following effect:

2007 2006

£m £m

Effect on the annual service and interest cost 0.1 0.1
Effect on defined benefit obligations 13 1.0

Expected contributions

The Group expects to make contributions of approximately £352m to defined benefit pension schemes in the year ending

23 February 2008.
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Note 24 Called up share capital

2007 2006
Ordinary shares of 5p each Ordinary shares of 5p each
Number £m Number £m
Authorised:

At beginning of year 10,700,000,000 535 10,600,000,000 530
Authorised during the year 158,000,000 8 100,000,000 5
At end of year 10,858,000,000 543 10,700,000,000 535

Allotted, called up and fully paid:
At beginning of year 7,894,476,917 395 7,783,169,542 389
Scrip dividend election 75,205,082 3 53,639,219 3
Share options 75,994,892 4 57,668,156 3
Share buyback (98,327,333) 5) - -
At end of year 7,947,349,558 397 7,894,476,917 395

During the financial year, 151 million (2006 — 111 million) shares of 5p each were issued for aggregate consideration of £395m
(2006 — £290m), which comprised £239m (2006 — £167m) for scrip dividend and £156m (2006 — £123m) for share options.

During the year, the Company purchased and subsequently cancelled 98,327,333 shares of 5p each (representing 1% of the called
up share capital) at an average price of £3.89 per share. The total consideration, including expenses, was £385m. The excess of the
consideration over the nominal value has been charged to retained earnings.

Between 25 February 2007 and 16 April 2007, options over 3,263,739 ordinary shares have been exercised under the terms of the
savings-related share option scheme (1981) and the Irish savings-related share option scheme (2000). Between 25 February 2007
and 16 April 2007, options over 2,242,269 ordinary shares have been exercised under the terms of the executive share option
schemes (1994 and 1996) and the discretionary share option plan (2004).

As at 24 February 2007, the Directors were authorised to purchase up to a maximum in aggregate of 790.5 million (2006 —
778.7 million) ordinary shares.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time-to-time and are entitled to one vote per share
at the meetings of the Company.

Share buyback liability

Insider trading rules prevent the Group from buying backits own shares in the market during specified close periods (including the
period between the year end and the annual results announcement). However, if an irrevocable agreement is signed beween the
Group and a third party, they can continue to buy back shares on behalf of the Group. Two such arrangements were in place at the
year end and in accordance with IAS 32, the Group has recognised a financial liability equal to the estimated value of the shares
purchasable under these agreements. A liability of £90m (2006 — £nil) has been recognised within other creditors for this amount.

Capital redemption reserve
Upon cancellation of the shares purchased as part of the share buyback, a capital redemption reserve is created representing the
nominal value of the shares cancelled. This is a non-distributable reserve.
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Note 25 Statement of changes in equity

Total
Other , ) equity
reserves Retained earnings b table
Issued Capital to equity
share Share Merger redemption ~ Hedging Translation ~ Treasury Retained holders of  Minority
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve shares  earnings the parent  interests Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 25 February 2006 395 3,988 40 - 5 38 (49) 4,963 9,380 64 9,444
Foreign currency translation
differences - - - - - (59) - - (59) (6) (65)
Actuarial gain on defined
benefit schemes - - - - - 2 - 112 114 - 114
Tax on items taken directly to
or transferred from equity - - - - - (20) - 32 12 - 12
Decrease in fair value of
available-for-sale financial assets - - - - - - - () [©) - ()
Losses on cash flow hedges - - - - (38) - - - (38) - (38)
Purchase of treasury shares - - - - - - (105) - (105) - (105)
Share-based payments - - - - - - - 185 185 - 185
Issue of shares 7 388 - - - - - - 395 - 395
Share buyback (5) - - 5 - - - (475) (475) - (475)
Future purchases of minority interests - - - - - - - (88) (88) - (88)
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 1,892 1,892 7 1,899
Equity dividends authorised
in the year - - - - - - - (706) (706) - (706)
At 24 February 2007 397 4,376 40 5 (33) (39) (154) 5914 10,506 65 10,571
Total
equity
Other _  attributable
Issued reserves Retained earnings to equity
share Share Merger  Hedging Translation Treasury  Retained holders of Minority
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve shares  earnings the parent interests Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 26 February 2005 389 3,704 40 34) " 87) 4,266 8,289 51 8,340
Foreign currency translation differences - - - - 26 - - 26 7 33
Actuarial loss on defined
benefit schemes - - - - Q)] - (442) (443) - (443)
Tax on items taken directly to
or transferred from equity - - - - 2 - 131 133 - 133
Increase in fair value of available-for-sale
financial assets - - - - - - 2 2 - 2
Gains on cash flow hedges - - - 39 - - - 39 - 39
Net movement relating to
share-based payments - - - - - 38 45 83 - 83
Issue of shares 6 284 - - - - - 290 - 290
Profit for the year - - - - - - 1,570 1,570 6 1,576
Equity dividends authorised
in the year - - - - - - (609) (609) - (609)
At 25 February 2006 395 3,988 40 5 38 (49) 4,963 9,380 64 9,444
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Note 25 Statement of changes in equity continued

Share premium account
The share premium account is used to record amounts received in excess of the nominal value of shares on issue of new shares.

Translation reserve
The translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
subsidiaries. It is also used to record the movements in net investment hedges.

Treasury shares

During the year, the qualifying employee share ownership trust (QUEST) subscribed for 1.5 million shares from the Company,

a negligible percentage of called-up share capital as at 24 February 2007 (2006 — 10 million, 0.1%). There were no contributions
(2006 — £12m) to the QUEST from subsidiary undertakings.

The employee benefit trusts hold shares in Tesco PLC for the purpose of the various executive share incentive and profit share
schemes. At 24 February 2007, the trusts held 57.0 million shares (2006 — 48.4 million), which cost £184m (2006 — £140m) and
had a market value of £254m (2006 — £163m).

Merger reserve
The merger reserve arose on the acquisition of Hillards PLC in 1987.

Other
The cumulative goodwill written-off against the reserves of the Group as at 24 February 2007 amounted to £718m (2006 — £718m).
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Note 26 Business combinations

The Group has made a number of acquisitions in the year, of which the material acquisitions have been disclosed separately and
the remainder shown in aggregate.

The net assets and results of the acquired business are included in the consolidated accounts of the Group from the date of
acquisition. Acquisition accounting has been applied and the goodwill arising has been capitalised and is subject to annual
impairment testing.

The goodwill acquired in the business combinations listed below has been allocated to the single group of cash-generating units
represented by the acquired businesses, as this is the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored internally.
Goodwill arising on acquisitions in the year is attributable mainly to customer loyalty, the assembled workforce and the synergies
expected to be achieved.

The fairvalues currently established for acquisitions made in the year to 24 February 2007 are provisional. Fair values will be reviewed
based on additional information up to one year from the date of acquisition. The Directors do not believe that any net adjustments
resulting from such a review would have a material effect on the Group.

Had all the combinations listed below taken place at the beginning of the financial year, the operating profit of the Group would
have been £2,626m and revenue from continuing operations would have been £43,306m. The pro forma information is provided for
comparative purposes only and does not necessarily reflect the actual results that would have occurred, nor is it necessarily indicative
of future results of operations of the combined companies.

Carrefour Ceska Republika s.r.o
On 31 May 2006, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Carrefour Ceska Republika s.r.o, a retailer in the Czech Republic,
as part of an asset swap deal for our Taiwanese business (see note 7).

The fairvalue of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Carrefour Ceska Republika s.r.o as at the date of acquisition were:

Pre-acquisition Recognised
carrying Fairvalue values on
amounts adjustments acquisition
£m £m £m
Property, plant and equipment 88 3) 85
Investment property 30 - 30
Deferred tax asset - 18 18
Inventories 17 (@) 10
Trade and other receivables 69 5) 64
Cash and cash equivalents 13 - 13
Trade and other payables (166) 16) (182)
Net assets acquired 51 13) 38
Goodwill arising on acquisition 32
70

Consideration:
Cash consideration 67
Costs associated with the acquisition 3
Total consideration 70

From the date of acquisition, the acquired business has contributed £151m to revenue and £8m of operating losses to the Group.
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Note 26 Business combinations continued

Makro
On 24 January 2007, Tesco Stores Malaysia Sdn Bhd acquired 100% of the share capital of Makro Cash & Carry Distribution (M)
Sdn Bhd, which operates a chain of eight stores in Malaysia.

The fairvalue of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Makro Cash & Carry Distribution (M) Sdn Bhd as at the date of acquisition were:

Pre-acquisition Recognised

carrying Fairvalue values on

amounts adjustments acquisition

£m £m £m

Property, plant and equipment 31 (10) 21
Investment property 2 - 2
Inventories 10 (] 9
Trade and other receivables 5 6 "
Trade and other payables (32) - (32)
Provisions (O] - (@)
Net assets acquired 15 5) 10
Goodwill arising on acquisition 63
73

Consideration:

Cash consideration 72
Costs associated with the acquisition 1
Total consideration 73

From the date of acquisition, the acquired business has contributed £12m to revenue and £nil to the operating profit of the Group.
Hymall

On 12 December 2006, the Group acquired a further 40% of the share capital of its joint venture, Hymall, a retail chain in China,
giving the Group control of the entity, making it a subsidiary entity.

On the same day, the minority shareholders of Hymall entered into an agreement to sell their remaining share of the business to

Tesco by 2009. Under IAS 32, the net present value of the future payments are shown as a financial liability, the value of which was
£48m at 24 February 2007.

The fairvalue of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Hymall as at the date of acquisition were:

Pre-acquisition Recognised

carrying Fairvalue values on

amounts adjustments acquisition

£m £m £m

Property, plant and equipment 95 - 95
Deferred tax asset 4 - 4
Inventories 39 - 39
Trade and other receivables 49 - 49
Cash and cash equivalents 33 - 33
Trade and other payables 219) - (219)
Provisions (23) - 23)
Net liabilities 22) - 22)
Minority interest 2
Transferred from investment in joint ventures (K
Net liabilities acquired )
Goodwill arising on acquisition of additional shares (in addition to previously held goodwill of £156m) 190
181

Consideration:

Cash consideration 180
Costs associated with the acquisition 1
Total consideration 181

As Hymall was acquired towards the end of their financial year, it has continued to be treated as a joint venture in 2006/07. However,
the net liabilities of Hymall have been consolidated as a subsidiary within the Group Balance Sheet as at 24 February 2007. From
the start of 2007/08, Hymall’s net result will be consolidated with that of the Group.

AT
4
>
4
o
>
-
4
>
-
m
<
m
4
—
(%}

=z
o
—
m
(%]
-
o
-]
s
m
(2]
~
o
c
o




92 Tesco PLC Annual report and financial statements 2007 Find out more at www.tesco.com/corporate

Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 26 Business combinations continued

Leader Price
On 30 November 2006, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Leader Price Polska Sp. z.0.0, which operates a chain of
146 stores in Poland.

The fairvalue of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Leader Price Polska Sp. z.0.0 as at the date of acquisition were:

Pre-acquisition Recognised
carrying Fairvalue values on
amounts adjustments acquisition
£m £m £m
Property, plant and equipment 81 14) 67
Intangible assets 1 m -
Deferred tax asset - 8 8
Inventories 10 2) 8
Trade and other receivables 14 m 13
Cash and cash equivalents 4 - 4
Trade and other payables (83) 7 90)
Provisions - 4 4
Net assets acquired 27 21 6
Goodwill arising on acquisition 4
10

Consideration:
Cash consideration 7
Costs associated with the acquisition 3
Total consideration 10

From the date of acquisition, the acquired business has contributed £31m to revenue and £4m of operating losses to the Group.
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Note 26 Business combinations continued

dunnhumby Limited
On 19 April 2006, the Group acquired a further 31% of the share capital of one of its joint ventures, dunnhumby Limited, a data analysis
group incorporated in the United Kingdom, making it a subsidiary entity.

On the same day, the minority shareholders of dunnhumby entered into an agreement to sell their remaining share of the business
to Tesco in two tranches by 2011. The purchase price will reflect the valuation of these shares on the purchase dates. Under IAS 32,
the net present value of the future payments are shown as a financial liability, the value of which was £38m at 24 February 2007.

The fairvalue of the identifiable assets and liabilities of dunnhumby Limited as at the date of acquisition were:

Pre-acquisition Recognised
carrying Fairvalue values on
amounts adjustments acquisition
£m £m £m
Property, plant and equipment 4 - 4
Intangible assets 1 - 1
Investment in joint venture 3 - 3
Deferred income tax asset 1 - 1
Trade and other receivables 16 - 16
Cash and cash equivalents 12 - 12
Trade and other payables 19) - (19)
Net assets 18 - 18
Minority interest (3)
Transferred from investment in joint ventures (10)
Net assets acquired 5
Goodwill arising on acquisition of additional shares (in addition to previously held goodwill of £10m) 25
30
Consideration:
Cash consideration 30
Costs associated with the acquisition -
Total consideration 30

From the date of acquisition, the acquired business has contributed £32m to revenue and £5m of operating profit to the Group.

Other acquisitions

The other acquisitions in the year include the share capital or the trade and assets of Edeka, Hikso Limited, Maintenance One
Limited and Tesco Home Shopping Limited. The companies acquired undertake activities including retailing, software development
and maintenance services.

The book and fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition are disclosed in the table below:

Pre-acquisition Recognised
carrying Fairvalue values on
amounts adjustments acquisition
£m £m £m
Property, plant and equipment 6 - 6
Inventories 2 - 2
Bank loans and overdrafts 3) - 3)
Trade and other payables 2) - )
Net assets 3 - 3
Transferred from investment in joint ventures 2
Net assets acquired 5
Goodwill arising on acquisition 13
18

Consideration:
Cash consideration 18
Costs associated with the acquisition -
Total consideration 18

The post-acquisition contribution of the other acquisitions to the Group was £33m to revenue and £2m of operating losses.
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Note 27 Related party transactions

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are
not disclosed in this note. Transactions between the Group and its joint ventures and associates are disclosed below:

i) Trading transactions

Sales to Purchases from Amounts owed by Amounts owed to

related parties related parties related parties related parties

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Joint ventures 144 95 190 195 5 19 45 -
Associates 3 - 658 502 - - 83 79

Sales to related parties consists of services/management fees and loan interest.

Purchases from related parties include £107m (2006 — £104m) of rentals payable to the Group’s joint ventures, including those joint
ventures formed as part of the sale and leaseback programme.

ii) Non-trading transactions

Sale and Loans to Loans from Injection of

leaseback of assets related parties related parties equity funding

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Joint ventures 527 529 163 122 10 9 47 35
Associates - - - - - - 3 1

Transactions between the Group and the Group’s pension plans are disclosed in note 23.

Tesco Stores Limited is a member of one or more partnerships to whom the provisions of the Partnerships and Unlimited
Companies (Accounts) Regulations 1993 (‘Regulations’) apply. The accounts for those partnerships have been consolidated
into these accounts pursuant to regulation 7 of the Regulations.

On 20 December 2006, the Group formed a property joint venture with British Airways Pension Fund. The limited partnership
contains 16 superstores which have been sold from and leased back to Tesco. The Group sold assets for net proceeds of £454m
(approximating to market value) to the joint venture which had a net bookvalue of £233m. 50% of the resulting profit has

been recognised within profit arising on property-related items with the remaining percentage deferred on the Balance Sheet in
accordance with IAS 31 ‘Interests in Joint Ventures’. Another smaller transaction was completed during the year with Morley where
£73m of assets were transferred.

iii) Transactions with key management personnel

Only members of the Board of Directors of Tesco PLC are deemed to be key management personnel. It is the Board who have
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group. Key management personnel compensation

is disclosed in the audited part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

During the year, there were no other material transactions or balances between the Group and its key management personnel
or members of their close family.
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Note 28 Reconciliation of profit before tax to net cash generated from operations

2007 2006

£m £m

Profit before tax 2,653 2,235
Net finance costs 126 127
Share of post-tax profits of joint ventures and associates (106) (82)
Profit on sale of investments in associates (25) -
Operating profit 2,648 2,280
Operating loss of discontinued operation 4) ©9)
Depreciation and amortisation 878 838
Profit arising on property-related items 92) 77)
Loss on disposal of non-property assets - 4
Net impairment/(reversal of impairment) of property, plant and equipment 19 (5)
Adjustment for non-cash element of pensions charge (113) 58
Share-based payments 185 142
Increase in inventories (420) (146)
Increase in trade and other receivables 81) (38)
Increase in trade and other payables 512 365
Decrease in working capital M 181
Cash generated from operations 3,532 3,412

Note 29 Analysis of changes in net debt
Other

At 25 Feb non-cash At 24 Feb

2006 Cash flow movements 2007

£m £m £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents 1,325 (265) (18) 1,042
Finance lease receivables 17 (5) - 12
Derivative financial instruments 70 61) 99 108
Cash and receivables 1,412 (331) 81 1,162
Bank and other borrowings (1,626) 442 (334) (1,518)
Finance lease payables (20) 7 (23) (36)
Derivative financial instruments and other liabilities (239) 232 (80) 87)
Debt due within one year (1,885) 681 (437) (1,641)
Bank and other borrowings (3,658) (819) 478 (3,999)
Finance lease payables (84) (86) 23 (147)
Derivative financial instruments and other liabilities (294) 22 (127) (399)
Debt due after one year (4,036) (883) 374 (4,545)
(4,509) (533) 18 (5,024)
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 30 Commitments and contingencies

Capital commitments
On 24 February 2007 there were commitments for capital expenditure contracted for, but not provided, of £2,003m (2006 — £1,578m),
principally relating to the store development programme.

Contingent liabilities
The Company has irrevocably guaranteed the liabilities, as defined in section 5(c) of the Republic of Ireland (Amendment Act) 1986,
of various subsidiary undertakings incorporated in the Republic of Ireland.

Tesco Personal Finance, in which the Group owns a 50% joint venture share, has commitments, as described in its own financial
statements as at 31 December 2006, of formal standby facilities, credit lines and other commitments to lend, totalling £5.5bn
(2006 — £6.0bn). The amount is intended to provide an indication of the volume of business transacted and not of the underlying
credit or other risks.

For details of assets held under finance leases, which are pledged as security for the finance lease liabilities, see note 11.

There are a number of contingent liabilities that arise in the normal course of business which if realised are not expected to result
in a material liability to the Group. In connection with the railway tunnel collapse at Gerrards Cross, the Group is currently assessing
a number of potential claims. Due to the nature of those claims it is not currently possible to assess any liabilities or potential
recoveries, therefore no provision has been made. The final outcome is not expected to be material to the Group.

Note 31 Leasing commitments

Finance lease commitments — Group as lessee
The Group has finance leases forvarious items of plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings. There are also a small number of buildings
which are held under finance leases. The fair value of the Group’s lease obligations approximate to their carrying value.

Future minimum lease payments under finance leases and hire purchase contracts, together with the present value of the net
minimum lease payments are as follows:

Present value of

Minimum lease payments minimum lease payments

2007 2006 2007 2006

£m £m £m £m

Within one year 38 23 36 20

Greater than one year but less than five years 109 37 90 27

After five years 130 132 57 57

Total minimum lease payments 277 192 183 104
Less future finance charges 94) (88)
Present value of minimum lease payments 183 104

Analysed as:

Current finance lease payables 36 20
Non-current finance lease payables 147 84
183 104

Finance lease receivables — Group as lessor

In 2006, the Group entered into finance leasing arrangements with UK staff for certain of its electronic equipment as part of the
Computers for Staff scheme. The average term of finance leases entered into was three years. The interest rate inherent in the leases
is fixed at the contract date for all of the lease term. The average effective interest rate contracted approximates to 4.0% (2006 —
4.6%) per annum. The fairvalue of the Group’s finance lease receivables at 24 February 2007 is estimated at £12m (2006 — £17m).
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Note 31 Leasing commitments continued

Future minimum lease receivables under finance leases together with the present value of the net minimum lease receivables

are as follows:

Present value of

Minimum lease receivables minimum lease receivables
2007 2006 2007 2006
£m £m £m £m
Within one year 7 7 6 6
Greater than one year but less than five years 6 12 6 "
Total minimum lease receivables 13 19 12 17
Less unearned finance income 1) 2)
Net lease receivables 12 17
Analysed as:
Current finance lease receivables 6 6
Non-current finance lease receivables 6 "
12 17

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessee
Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2007 2006

£m £m

Within one year 379 315
Greater than one year but less than five years 1,444 1,105
After five years 4,838 3,795
Total minimum lease payments 6,661 5215

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its retail, distribution and office properties and other

assets such as motor vehicles. The leases have varying terms, purchase options, escalation clauses and renewal rights.

Operating lease commitments with joint ventures

Since 1988, the Group has entered into several joint ventures and sold and leased back properties to and from these joint ventures.
The terms of these sale and leasebacks vary, however, common factors include: the sale of the properties to the joint venture at
market value, options at the end of the lease for the Group to repurchase the properties at market value, market rent reviews and
20-25 year lease terms. The Group reviews the substance as well as the form of the arrangements when making the judgement as
to whether these leases are operating or finance leases; the majority of the leases under these arrangements are operating leases.

Operating lease receivables — Group as lessor

The Group both rents out its investment properties and also sub-lets various leased buildings under operating leases. At the Balance

Sheet date, the following future minimum lease payments are contractually receivable from tenants:

2007 2006

£m £m

Within one year 123 84
Greater than one year but less than five years 260 234
After five years 268 283
Total minimum lease payments 651 601

Note 32 Events after the balance sheet date

On 20 March 2007, the Group formed a property joint venture with The British Land Company PLC. The limited partnership contains
21 superstores which have been sold from and leased back to Tesco. The Group sold assets to the joint venture with a fairvalue of
approximately £650m and a net bookvalue of approximately £350m; 50% of the resulting profit will be recognised within profit
arising on property-related items with the remaining percentage deferred on the Balance Sheet in accordance with IAS 31 ‘Interests

in Joint Ventures’.

In March 2007, the Group issued two bonds: £500m paying interest at 5.2%, maturing in 2057 and €600m paying interest at

5.125%, maturing in 2047.
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Five year record

UK GAAP IFRS
2003 2004 2005 2005 2006 2007
53 wks
Financial statistics
Group sales (including VAT) (£m) 28,280 33,557 37,070 36,957 43,137 46,611
Revenue (excluding VAT) (£m)
UK 21,309 24,760 27,146 27,146 29,990 32,665
Rest of Europe 2,664 3,385 3,818 3,818 5,095 5,559
Asia 2,031 2,669 3,010 2,902 4,369 4,417
26,004 30,814 33,974 33,866 39,454 42,641
Operating profit2 (£m)
UK 1,289 1,486 1,666 1,556 1,788 2,083
Rest of Europe 134 171 249 243 263 324
Asia 69 121 149 153 229 241
Total Group 1,492 1,778 2,064 1,952 2,280 2,648
Operating profit margin?
UK 6.0% 6.0% 6.1% 5.7% 6.0% 6.4%
Rest of Europe 5.0% 5.1% 6.5% 6.4% 5.2% 5.8%
Asia 3.4% 4.5% 5.0% 5.3% 5.2% 5.5%
Total Group 5.7% 5.8% 6.1% 5.8% 5.8% 6.2%
Goodwill amortisation (£m) (23) (54) 67) - - -
Share of results of joint ventures and associates3 (£m) 42 59 69 74 82 106
Profit on sale of investment in associates - - - - - 25
Net finance costs3 (Em) (166) (209) (136) (132) (127) (126)
Profit before tax (£m) 1,345 1,574 1,930 1,894 2,235 2,653
Taxation3 (£m) (399) (472) (561) (541) (649) (772)
Minority interests (£m) - ) (3) (3) (6) @]
(Loss)/profit for the period from discontinued operation4 (£m) - - - 6) (10) 18
Profit for the financial year attributable to
equity holders of the parent (£m) 946 1,100 1,366 1,344 1,570 1,892
Underlying profit — UK GAAPS (£m) 1,401 1,708 2,029 N/a N/a N/a
Underlying profit — [FRS5 (£m) N/a N/a N/a 1,925 2,277 2,545

1 Results for the year ended 25 February 2006 include 52 weeks for the UK and ROl and 14 months for the majority of the remaining International businesses.

2 Operating profit includes integration costs and profit/(loss) arising on sale of fixed assets. Operating margin is based upon revenue excluding VAT.

3 Share of results of joint ventures and associates is stated net of the interest and tax of the Group’s joint ventures and associates. The Group’s charges for interest and tax have
been reduced by these amounts.

4 Consists of the net result of the Taiwanese business which was sold during the year.

5 UK GAAP underlying profit excluded net profit/(loss) on disposal of fixed assets, integration costs and goodwill amortisation. IFRS underlying profit excludes IAS 32 and IAS 39
‘Financial Instruments’ — Fair value remeasurements, and the IAS 19 Income Statement charge, which is replaced by the ‘normal’ cash contributions for pensions. For further
details of this measure, see page 54. For the years 2003 to 2005 the above information is presented under UK GAAP as previously published. If IFRS had been applicable for
these years the main adjustments would have been IFRS 2 ‘Share-based payment’, IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ and IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’.
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UK GAAP IFRS
2003 2004 2005 2005 2006 2007
53 wks
Enterprise valueé (£m) 16,896 23,866 27,853 27,910 30,841 40,469
Basic earnings per share? 13.54p 15.05p 17.72p 17.52p 20.20p 23.61p
Diluted earnings per share? 13.42p 14.93p 17.50p 17.30p 19.92p 23.31p
Dividend per share8 6.20p 6.84p 7.56p 7.56p 8.63p 9.64p
Return on shareholders’ funds® 22.3% 21.8% 22.7% 23.2% 24.9% 26.7%
Return on capital employed’0 10.2% 10.4% 11.5% 11.8% 12.7% 13.6%15
Group statistics
Number of stores 2,291 2,318 2,334 2,334 2,672 3,263
Total sales area — 000 sq ft!1 39,944 45,402 49,135 49,135 55,215 68,189
Average employees 270,800 310,411 335,750 335,750 368,213 413,061
Average full-time equivalent employees 188,182 223,335 242,980 242,980 273,024 318,283
UK retail statistics
Number of stores 1,982 1,878 1,780 1,780 1,898 1,988
Total sales area — 000 sq ft!1 21,829 23,291 24,207 24,207 25,919 27,785
Average store size (sales area — sq ft)12 29,455 30,890 31,677 31,677 32,816 34,209
Average full-time equivalent employees 133,051 152,408 163,006 163,006 175,459 184,461
UK retail productivity (£)
Revenue per employee’3 160,157 162,459 166,534 166,534 170,923 177,084
Profit per employee'3 9,688 9,750 10,220 9,564 10,190 11,292
Weekly sales persq ft14 21.86 22.48 23.89 23.89 25.06 25.48

6 Market capitalisation plus net debt.

7 Basic and diluted earnings per share are on a continuing operations basis.

8 Dividend per share relating to the interim and proposed final dividend.

9 Profit before tax divided by average shareholders’ funds.

10 The numerator is profit before interest, less tax. The denominator is the calculated average of net assets plus net debt plus dividend creditor less net assets held for sale.
11 Store sizes exclude lobby and restaurant areas.

12 Average store size excludes Express and One Stop stores.

13 Based on average number of full-time equivalent employees in the UK, revenue exclusive of VAT and operating profit.

14 Based on weighted average sales area and sales excluding property development.

15 Includes one-off gain from ‘Pensions A-Day’, without this one-off gain ROCE was 12.6%.
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Tesco PLC — Parent Company Balance sheet 24 rebruary 2007

2007 2006
notes £m £m
Fixed assets
Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures 5 8,373 7,382
Current assets
Derivative financial instruments 10 108 70
Debtors 6 5,514 4,857
Current asset investments 7 3 90
5,625 5,017
Creditors — amounts falling due within one year
Borrowings 9 (823) (1,008)
Derivative financial instruments 10 (64) (239)
Other creditors 8 (2,510) (1,397)
(3,397) (2,644)
Net current assets 2,228 2,373
Total assets less current liabilities 10,601 9,755
Creditors — amounts falling due after more than one year
Borrowings 9 (3,970) (3,560)
Derivative financial instruments 10 (116) (48)
(4,086) (3,608)
Net assets 6,515 6,147
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 13 397 395
Share premium account 14 4,376 3,988
Profit and loss reserve 14 1,742 1,764
Total equity 6,515 6,147

Accounting policies and notes forming part of these financial statements are on pages 101 to 108.

Sir Terry Leahy
Andrew Higginson

Directors
The Parent Company financial statements on pages 100 to 108 were authorised for issue by the Directors on 16 April 2007 and are
subject to the approval of the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 29 June 2007.
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Notes to the Parent company financial statements

Note 1 Accounting policies

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared under UK
GAAP using the historical cost convention modified for the
revaluation of certain financial instruments and in accordance
with applicable accounting standards and the Companies
Act 1985.

A summary of the Company’s significant accounting policies
are set out below.

Exemptions

The Directors have taken advantage of the exemption available
under section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 and not
presented a Profit and Loss Account for the Company alone.

The Company has also taken advantage of the exemption from
preparing a Cash flow statement under the terms of FRS 1
‘Cash Flow Statement’. The cash flows of the Company are
included in the Tesco PLC Group financial statements.

The Company is also exempt under the terms of FRS 8
‘Related Parties’ from disclosing related party transactions
with entities that are part of the Tesco PLC Group.

Recent accounting developments

FRS 29 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ and amendments
to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements — Capital
Disclosures’ were issued in August 2005 and are effective for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.
These amendments revise and enhance previous disclosures
required by FRS 25 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ and
FRS 13 ‘Derivatives and other financial instruments:
Disclosures’. The adoption of FRS 29 will have no impact upon
the results or net assets of the Company.

Standards, amendments and interpretations effective for
2006/07 with no significant impact on the Company:

The following standards, amendments and interpretations are
mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after

1 January 2006, however, their implementation has not had a
significant impact on the results or net assets of the Company:

¢ Amendment to FRS 23 ‘Net investment in foreign
operation’

e Amendments to FRS 26 ‘Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement’ on Financial Guarantee
Contracts, the fairvalue option and cash flow hedge
accounting of forecast intragroup transactions

Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective
but not expected to have a significant impact on the Company:
e UITF 41 ‘Scope of FRS 20’

e UITF 42 ‘Reassessment of embedded derivatives’

e FRS 5 ‘Application Note F — private finance and
similar contracts’

Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective
and under review as to their effect on the Company:
e UITF 45 ‘Liabilities arising from participating in a specific
market — waste electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE)’
— effective from 1 July 2007 (date from which the WEEE
Directive is applicable in the UK)

e UITF 44 ‘Group and treasury share transactions’ — effective
for periods beginning on or after 1 March 2007

Money market deposits

Money market deposits are stated at cost. All income from
these investments is included in the Profit and Loss Account
as interest receivable and similar income.

Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures
Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures are stated at cost
less, where appropriate, provisions for impairment.

Foreign currencies
Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into
Pounds Sterling at the financial year end exchange rates.

Share-based payments

Employees of the Company receive part of their remuneration
in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby
employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over
shares (equity-settled transactions).

The fairvalue of employee share option plans is calculated at
the grant date using the Black-Scholes model. In accordance
with FRS 20 ‘Share-based payment’ the resulting cost is
charged to the Profit and Loss Account over the vesting period.
The value of the charge is adjusted to reflect expected and
actual levels of vesting.

Where a subsidiary awards options over the shares of the
Company, this is treated as a capital contribution.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
Company’s Balance Sheet when the Company becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Debtors

Debtors are non interest-bearing and are recognised initially at
fairvalue, and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method, reduced by appropriate allowances for
estimated irrecoverable amounts.

Current asset investments

Investments are classified as either held for trading or
available-for-sale, and are measured at subsequent reporting
dates at fairvalue. For held for trading, gains and losses arising
from changes in fairvalue are recognised in the Profit and Loss
Account. Gains and losses arising from changes in fairvalue
for available-for-sale investments are recognised directly in
equity, until the security is disposed of or is determined to be
impaired; at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in equity is included in the net result for the period.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that gives a
residual interest in the assets of the Company after deducting
all of its liabilities.
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Notes to the Parent company financial statements continued

Note 1 Accounting policies continued

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially recorded
at the value of the amount received, net of attributable
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-
bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between cost and redemption value being recognised
in the Profit and Loss Account over the period of the
borrowings on an effective interest basis.

Creditors
Creditors are non interest-bearing and are stated at
amortised cost.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to hedge
its exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks arising
from operating, financing and investment activities. The
Company does not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes, however if derivatives do not
qualify for hedge accounting they are accounted for as such.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised and stated at
fairvalue. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative financial
instruments are stated at fair value. The fair value of derivative
financial instruments is determined by reference to market
values for similar financial instruments, or by discounted

cash flows or by the use of option valuation models. Where
derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or
losses on remeasurement are immediately recognised in the
Profit and Loss Account. Where derivatives qualify for hedge
accounting, recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on

the nature of the hedge relationship and the item being hedged.

In order to qualify for hedge accounting, the Company is
required to document from inception the relationship between
the item being hedged and the hedging instrument. The
Company is also required to document and demonstrate an
assessment of the relationship between the hedged item and
the hedging instrument, which shows that the hedge will be
highly effective on an ongoing basis. This effectiveness testing
is performed at each period end to ensure that the hedge
remains highly effective.

Financial instruments with maturity dates of more than one
year from the Balance Sheet date are disclosed as falling due
after more than one year.

Fair value hedging

Derivative financial instruments are classified as fairvalue
hedges when they hedge the Company’s exposure to changes
in the fairvalue of a recognised asset or liability. Changes in the
fairvalue of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair
value hedges are recorded in the Profit and Loss Account,
together with any changes in the fairvalue of the hedged item
that is attributable to the hedged risk.

Derivative financial instruments qualifying for fairvalue hedge
accounting are principally interest rate swaps (including cross-
currency swaps).

Cash flow hedging

Derivative financial instruments are classified as cash flow
hedges when they hedge the Company’s exposure to variability
in cash flows that are either attributable to a particular risk
associated with a recognised asset or liability, or a highly
probable forecasted transaction.

The effective element of any gain or loss from remeasuring
the derivative instrument is recognised directly in equity.

The associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from
equity and recognised in the Profit and Loss Account in the
same period or periods during which the hedged transaction
affects the Profit and Loss Account. The classification of the
effective portion when recognised in the Profit and Loss
Account is the same as the classification of the hedged
transaction. Any element of the remeasurement of the
derivative instrument which does not meet the criteria for
an effective hedge is recognised immediately in the Profit
and Loss Account.

Derivative instruments qualifying for cash flow hedging
are principally forward foreign exchange transactions and
currency options.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument
expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies
for hedge accounting. At that point in time, any cumulative
gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised in equity

is retained in equity until the forecasted transaction occurs. If

a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net
cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is transferred to
the Profit and Loss Account.

Net investment hedging

Derivative financial instruments are classified as net
investment hedges when they hedge the Company’s net
investment in an overseas operation. The effective element
of any foreign exchange gain or loss from remeasuring the
derivative instrument is recognised directly in equity. Any
ineffective element is recognised immediately in the Profit
and Loss Account. Gains and losses accumulated in equity
are included in the Profit and Loss Account when the foreign
operation is disposed of.

Derivative instruments qualifying for net investment hedging
are principally forward foreign exchange transactions and
currency options.

Pensions

The Company participates in the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme
which is a multi-employer scheme within the Tesco Group and
cannot identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities
of the scheme. Accordingly, as permitted by FRS 17 ‘Retirement
Benefits’, the Company has accounted for the scheme as a
defined contribution scheme, and the charge for the period

is based upon the cash contributions payable.
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Note 1 Accounting policies continued

Taxation

Corporation tax payable is provided on the taxable profit for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the
Balance Sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences
that have originated but not reversed at the Balance Sheet
date and would give rise to an obligation to pay more or less
taxation in the future.

Note 2 Auditor remuneration

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that they are
recoverable. They are regarded as recoverable to the extent that
on the basis of all available evidence, it is regarded as more
likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from
which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences
can be deducted.

Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted basis at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which the
timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws that
have been substantively enacted by the Balance Sheet date.

2007 2006

£m £m

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Parent Company and consolidated annual accounts 0.6 0.4
Note 3 Employment costs

2007 2006

£m £m

Wages and salaries 13 10

Social security costs 10 8

Pension costs 1 2

Share-based payment expense — equity settled 19 15

43 35

The average number of employees (all Directors of the Company) during the yearwas: 15 (2006 — 15).

The Schedule VI requirements for Directors’ Remuneration are included within the Directors’ Remuneration Report

on pages 27 to 40.

Note 4 Dividends

For details of equity dividends see note 8 in the consolidated Group financial statements.

Note 5 Fixed asset investments

Shares in Group Shares in
undertakings  joint ventures Total
£m £m £m
As at 25 February 2006 7,220 162 7,382
Additions 1,032 - 1,032
Disposals 41) - 41
As at 24 February 2007 8,211 162 8,373

For a list of the Company’s principal operating subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures see note 13 in the Group financial

statements.

Note 6 Debtors

2007 2006

£m £m

Amounts owed by Group undertakings 5,337 4,710
Amounts owed by joint ventures and associates (a) 135 97
Other debtors 13 20
Deferred tax asset (b) 29 30
Total 5,514 4,857

(@) The amounts due from joint ventures and associates of £135m (2006 — £97m) are due after more than one year.

=
2
>
=2
o
>
=
(%]
>
3
m
<
m
4
-
(%)

)
>
A
m
2
—
0
o
<
L
>
4
=<




104 Tesco PLC Annual report and financial statements 2007

Find out more at www.tesco.com/corporate

Notes to the Parent company financial statements continued

Note 6 Debtors continued

b) The deferred tax asset recognised by the Company, and the movements thereon, during the year are as follows:

Share-based FRS 25 Other timing
payments and FRS 26 differences Total
£m £m £m £m
At 26 February 2006 2 24 4 30
Charge to profit or loss for the year 1 (2) - M
At 24 February 2007 3 22 4 29
Note 7 Current asset investments
2007 2006
£m £m
Bonds and certificates of deposit 3 90
Note 8 Other creditors
2007 2006
£m £m
Amounts falling due within one year:
Corporation tax 125 122
Other tax and social security 1 -
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 2,163 1,252
Other liabilities 214 2
Accruals and deferred income 7 21
2,510 1,397
Note 9 Borrowings
Effective
interest rate
Effective after hedging
Parvalue interest rate transactions Maturity 2007 2006
% % year £m £m
Bankloans and overdrafts - 5.4 5.4 2007 357 386
Loan from joint venture - - - 2007 10 9
4% unsecured deep discount loan stock £125m - - 2006 - 122
6% Medium Term Notes (MTN) £150m - - 2006 - 158
0.7% MTN ¥50bn - - 2006 - 247
7.5% MTN (a) £258m 7.6 5.8 2007 268 344
6% MTN (b) £125m 6.0 59 2008 130 268
5.25% MTN €500m 53 6.0 2008 352 366
5.125% MTN (¢) £192m 5.1 5.8 2009 190 355
6.625% MTN £150m 6.7 6.7 2010 153 153
4.75% MTN €750m 4.8 6.2 2010 525 548
3.875% MTN €500m 39 59 2011 340 -
4% RPI MTN (d) £238m 6.6 6.6 2016 244 236
5.5% MTN £350m 5.6 5.6 2019 349 349
5% MTN £350m 5.1 5.1 2023 361 -
3.322% LPI MTN (e) £241m 59 59 2025 243 236
6% MTN £200m 6.0 6.0 2029 198 214
5.5% MTN £200m 5.6 5.6 2033 197 213
2% RPI MTN £204m 4.6 4.6 2036 206 -
5% MTN £300m 5.1 5.1 2042 306 -
Other MTNs - 2.8 2.8 - 364 364
4,793 4,568

(@) The parvalue has been reduced from £325m in 2006 to £258m in 2007 by a buyback of part of the MTN.
(b) The parvalue has been reduced from £250m in 2006 to £125m in 2007 by a buyback of part of the MTN.

(c
d
(e

L 2o

one year is 5%, with a minimum of 0%.

The parvalue has been reduced from £350m in 2006 to £192m in 2007 by a buyback of part of the MTN.
The 4% RPI MTN is redeemable at par, indexed for increases in the Retail Price Index over the life of the MTN.
The 3.322% LPI MTN is redeemable at par, indexed for increases in the Retail Price Index over the life of the MTN. The maximum indexation period of the principal in any
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Note 9 Borrowings continued

2007 2006
£m £m

Repayment analysis:
Amounts falling due within one year 823 1,008
Amounts falling due between one and two years 524 477
Amounts falling due between two and five years 1,327 1,795
Amounts falling due after more than five years 2,119 1,288
4,793 4,568

Note 10 Derivative financial instruments

An explanation of the objectives and policies for holding and issuing financial instruments is set out in the Operating and Financial
Review.

Carrying values of derivative financial instruments in the Balance Sheet:

2007 2006
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
£m £m £m £m
Current
Interest rate swaps and similar instruments 12 (8) 11 (69)
Forward foreign currency contracts 96 (56) 59 (170)
108 (64) 70 (239)
Non-current
Interest rate swaps and similar instruments - (116) - (46)
Forward foreign exchange contracts - - - )
- (116) - (48)
Fair values
Fairvalue of financial assets and financial liabilities are disclosed below:
2007 2006
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
value value value value
£m £m £m £m
Primary financial instruments held or issued to finance the Company’s operations:
Short-term borrowings (823) (813) (1,008) (1,003)
Long-term borrowings (3,970) (3,920) (3,560) (3,665)
Derivative financial instruments held to manage the interest rate and currency profile:
Interest rate swaps and similar instruments (112) (112) (104) (104)
Forward foreign currency contracts 40 40 (113) (113)
(4,865) (4,805) (4,785) (4,885)

The fairvalue of financial instruments and derivatives has been determined by reference to prices available from the markets on
which the instruments are traded. The fair value of all other items has been calculated by discounting expected future cash flows
at prevailing interest rates.

Analysis of interest rate exposure of financial assets and liabilities
The interest rate exposure of financial assets and liabilities of the Company as at 24 February 2007, after taking into account the
effect of interest rate swaps, was:

More than
Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years 5 years Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Fixed rate (fair value interest rate risk)
Bank and other loans (210) (42) (85) 161) 19) 1,274) 1,791)
Floating rate (cash flow interest rate risk)
Bank and other loans (613) (482) (190) (532) (340) (845) (3,002)
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Notes to the Parent company financial statements continued

Note 10 Derivative financial instruments continued

Hedging activities

Fairvalue hedges

The Company uses interest rate swaps and cross-currency swaps to hedge the fairvalue of fixed rate bonds. The total notional
amount of outstanding swaps used for fair value hedging is £2,196m with various maturities out to 2033 (2006 — £2,703m;
maturities to 2033).

The fixed rate bonds are hedged against changes to their fair value resulting from changes in interest rates and foreign
exchange rates.

The fairvalue of swaps used for fair value hedging at the Balance Sheet date was a liability of £107m (2006 — £100m liability).

Cash flow hedges

The Company uses forward foreign exchange contracts and currency options to hedge the cost of future purchases of goods for
resale, where those purchases are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the Company. The hedging
instruments are primarily used to hedge purchases in Euros and US Dollars. The cash flows hedged will occur within one year of
the Balance Sheet date.

At the Balance Sheet date, the total notional amount of outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts to which the Group has
committed was £764m (2006 — £548m).

The fairvalue of currency derivatives that are designated as effective cash flow hedges was a liability of £24m (2006 — £4m asset).
This amount has been deferred as a component of equity.

Also in place at the Balance Sheet date were interest rate swaps, designated as cash flow hedges, to hedge the interest cost of debt
instruments issued in March 2007. The fairvalue of the interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges was a liability of £8m
(2006 — £nil). This amount has been deferred as a component of equity.

Net investment hedges

The Company uses forward foreign exchange contracts, currency denominated borrowings and currency options to hedge the
exposure of a proportion of its non-Sterling denominated assets against changes in value due to changes in foreign exchange rates.
The total notional amount of net investment hedging contracts at the Balance Sheet date was £4,250m (2006 — £3,463m).

The fairvalue of these instruments at the Balance Sheet date was an asset of £56m (2006 — £117m liability).

Financial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting

The Company has a number of financial instruments which do not meet the criteria for hedge accounting. These instruments
include forward foreign exchange contracts, currency options, caps, collars and interest rate swaps. The fairvalue of these
instruments at the Balance Sheet date was an asset of £11m (2006 — £5m liability).

Note 11 Share-based payments

Tesco PLC’s equity settled share-based payment schemes comprise various share option schemes designed to reward Executive
Directors. For further information on these schemes, including the valuation models and assumptions used, see note 22 to the
Group financial statements.

The number of options and weighted average exercise price (WAEP) of share option schemes relating to Tesco PLC’s employees are:
For the year ended 24 February 2007

Savings-related Approved Unapproved Nil cost
share option scheme share option scheme share option scheme share options
Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP
Outstanding at
25 February 2006 42,474 203.95 43,965 272.93 12,068,027 245.83 3,459,458 0.00
Granted 7,462 307.00 9,416 318.60 2,664,782 318.60 2,350,549 0.00
Exercised (7,687) 198.00 - 0.00 (3,432,462) 219.84 - -
Outstanding at
24 February 2007 42,249 223.23 53,381 280.99 11,300,347 270.90 5,810,007 0.00
Exercisable as at
24 February 2007 - - 15,189 - 3,726,996 - - -
Exercise price range (pence) - - - 197.50 - 164.00 to - Nil
259.00

Weighted average remaining
contractual life (years) - - - 6.16 - 458 - -
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Note 11 Share-based payments continued

For the year ended 25 February 2006

Savings-related Approved Unapproved Nil cost
share option scheme share option scheme share option scheme share options
Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP
Outstanding at
26 February 2005 43,206 194.83 278,079 114.42 10,667,969 230.95 1,126,257 0.00
Granted 7,788 248.00 28,776 312.75 2,405,116 312.75 2,333,201 0.00
Exercised (8,520) 198.00 (262,890) 109.62 (1,005,058) 248.02 - -
Outstanding at
25 February 2006 42,474 203.95 43,965 272.93 12,068,027 245.83 3,459,458 0.00
Exercisable as at
25 February 2006 - - - - 4,185,280 - - -
Exercise price range (pence) - - - - - 164.00 to - Nil
259.00
Weighted average remaining
contractual life (years) - - - - - 5.36 - -

Note 12 Pensions

The total cost of the Pension scheme to the Group was £167m (2006 — £292m). Further disclosure relating to the Tesco PLC Pension

Scheme can be found in note 23 of the Group financial statements.

Note 13 Called up share capital

2007 2006
Ordinary shares of 5p each Ordinary shares of 5p each
Number £m Number £m
Authorised:
At beginning of year 10,700,000,000 535 10,600,000,000 530
Authorised during the year 158,000,000 8 100,000,000 5
At end of year 10,858,000,000 543 10,700,000,000 535
Allotted, called up and fully paid:
At beginning of year 7,894,476,917 395 7,783,169,542 389
Scrip dividend election 75,205,082 3 53,639,219
Share options 75,994,892 4 57,668,156
Share buyback (98,327,333) (5) - -
At end of year 7,947,349,558 397 7,894,476,917 395

During the financial year, 151 million (2006 — 111 million) shares of 5p each were issued for aggregate consideration of £395m
(2006 — £290m), which comprised £239m (2006 — £167m) for scrip dividend and £156m (2006 — £123m) for share options.

During the year, the Company purchased and subsequently cancelled 98,327,333 shares of 5p each (representing 1% of the
called up share capital) at an average price of £3.89 per share. The total consideration, including expenses, was £385m. The
excess of the consideration over the nominal value has been charged to retained earnings.

Between 25 February 2007 and 16 April 2007, options over 3,263,739 ordinary shares have been exercised under the terms of
the savings-related share option scheme (1981) and the Irish savings-related option scheme (2000). Between 25 February 2007
and 16 April 2007, options over 2,242,269 ordinary shares have been exercised under the terms of the executive share option
schemes (1994 and 1996) and the discretionary share option plan (2004).

As at 24 February 2007, the Directors were authorised to purchase up to a maximum in aggregate of 790.5 million
(2006 — 778.7 million) ordinary shares.
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to received dividends as declared from time-to-time and are entitled to one vote
per share at the meetings of the Company.
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Notes to the Parent company financial statements continued

Note 13 Called up share capital continued

Share buyback liability

Insider trading rules prevent the Group from buying backits own shares in the market during specified close periods (including the
period between the year end and the annual results announcement). However, if an irrevocable agreement is signed beween the
Group and a third party, they can continue to buy back shares on behalf of the Group. Two such arrangements were in place at the
year end and in accordance with FRS 25, the Group has recognised a financial liability equal to the estimated value of the shares
purchasable under these agreements. A liability of £90m (2006 — £nil) has been recognised within other creditors for this amount.

Capital redemption reserve
Upon cancellation of the shares purchased as part of the share buyback, a capital redemption reserve is created representing the
nominal value of the shares cancelled. This is a non-distributable reserve.

Note 14 Reserves

2007 2006
£m £m

Share premium account
At the start of the year 3,988 3,704
Premium on issue of shares less costs 152 120
Scrip dividend election 236 164
At the end of the year 4,376 3,988
Profit and loss reserve
At the start of the year 1,764 1,771
Gain on foreign currency net investments - 17
FRS 20 ‘Share-based payment’ 205 186
Dividend (706) (609)
Decrease in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets M -
Share buyback (475) -
Share buyback — capital redemption 5 -
Losses on cash flow hedges (38) -
Profit after tax for the year 988 399

At the end of the year 1,742 1,764
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Tesco PLC

We have audited the Parent Company financial statements of
Tesco PLC for the year ended 24 February 2007 which comprise
the Balance Sheet and the related notes. These Parent
Company financial statements have been prepared under the
accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the
information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is
described as having been audited.

We have reported separately on the Group financial statements
of Tesco PLC for the year ended 24 February 2007.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors

The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report,
the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the Parent Company
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the Parent Company financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report
to be audited in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland). This report, including the opinion, has been prepared
for and only for the Company’s members as a body in
accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and
for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept
or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it
may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent

in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Parent
Company financial statements give a true and fair view and
whether the Parent Company financial statements and the
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have
been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion the
information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with
the Parent Company financial statements. The information
given in the Directors’ Report includes that specific information
presented in the Operating and Financial Review that is

cross referred from the Business Review section of the
Directors’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has
not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all
the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if
information specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration
and other transactions is not disclosed.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report
and consider whether it is consistent with the audited Parent
Company financial statements. The other information
comprises only the Directors’ Report, the unaudited part of
the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the Operating and
Financial Review. We consider the implications for our report

if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the Parent Company financial statements.
Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis,
of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the
Parent Company financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. It also includes
an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements
made by the Directors in the preparation of the Parent
Company financial statements, and of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give
reasonable assurance that the Parent Company financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report
to be audited are free from material misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our
opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information in the Parent Company financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report
to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

e the Parent Company financial statements give a true and
fairview, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state of the
Company’s affairs as at 24 February 2007.

e the Parent Company financial statements and the part of
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have
been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 1985; and

e the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent
with the Parent Company financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London 16 April 2007
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